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H.R. 2758—THE FREE AND INDEPENDENT
CUBA ASSISTANCE ACT OF 1993

THURSDAY, MARCH 24, 1994

Housp: of Reprksentatives,
Committee on Foreign Affairs,

Subcommittee on the Western Hemisphere,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:15 a.m., in room
2200, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Robert G. Torricelli

(chairman of the subcommittee) presidmg.
Mr. Torricelli. The meeting is called to order. I almost started

reading Mr. Rangel's statement as mine. That would have created
a revolution. I picked up your statement and was going to start

reading it as the opening.
Mr. Rangel. It is not that far apart, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Torricelli. Over the past 3 years, this subcommittee has

held a number of hearings on the question of Cuba. Among other

issues, we have looked at the political and economic situation in

Cuba, and the impact of the economic embargo, the efficacy of ex-

tending the embargo, and the implementation of the Cuban Democ-
racy Act.

Today, we turn our attention to the transition to a post-Castro
government. Our specific focus will be on H.R. 2758, "The Free and
Independent Cuba Assistance Act of 1993," introduced by Bob
Menendez.
This legislation establishes a framework for U.S. assistance pro-

grams once the President determines that a transition government
is in place. It also establishes criteria that the President must use
in defining a transition government, and in defining whether that

government is indeed worthy of U.S. assistance.
With no sign that Castro is willing to reform and change the fun-

damental nature of his regime, some may be wondering why this

discussion this morning concerning a post-Castro Cuba. It is, in

fact, true, however, that the timing could not be better.

The loss of an estimated $3.5 oillion annual Soviet subsidy is

shattering communism in Cuba. Indeed, there is consensus among
top Cuba analysts and scholars that the collapse of communism in

Cuba is imminent.
The signs of impending collapse are multiplying. The list of items

subject to rationing continues to grow. Bicycles are replacing buses
ana cars as the dominant mode of transportation. In the country-
side, tractors stand idle for lack of gasoline and spare parts, their

work now done by oxen. Factories are closing and produce is rot-

ting on Cuba's docks for similar reasons. In Havana and other
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cities, electricity blackouts are expanding, while underemployed
urban bureaucrats are sent to the countryside to plant food.

Castro's Cuba is confronting its worst crisis ever and it cannot

possibly escape unscathed. In the end, Castro will have to change
his thinking or be pushed aside.

The former is unlikely. After 30 years of totalitarian rule, it is

doubtful that he will now be flexible enough to adapt to the reali-

ties of the post-cold war world. Instead, he will be removed from
power involuntarily, either through defeat that is forced upon him
or tragically, if necessary, by violence.

In light of the many complications that have surrounded our ef-

forts to aid newly democratic governments in Eastern Europe and
the former Soviet Union, it is only logical that we begin consider-
ation of a post-Castro Cuba, just 90 miles from our shores, before
the transition occurs.

Mr. Menendez has performed a great service with his authorship
of this legislation. It provides an excellent vehicle for considering
how the United States can best assist a transition government in

Cuba. By beginning this debate now, we can ensure that when the
inevitable change finally comes to Cuba, we will be ready.
We will be hearing this morning from three panels of witnesses,

including Members of Congress, officials from the Clinton adminis-

tration, and a panel of Cuba experts. We look forward to hearing
their thoughts on the Menendez bill and the prospects of a post-
Castro Cuba.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Torricelli appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. Smith, do you have any opening statement you would like

to make?
Mr. Smith. Yes, I do, Mr. Chairman. I thank you for yielding.
Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, I join my col-

leagues in welcoming to our subcommittee the distinguished wit-

nesses, Ambassador Alexander Watson and AID's Assistant Admin-
istrator Mark Schneider, our colleagues from the House of Rep-
resentatives and our private sector witnesses who bring a welcome
contribution of development expertise and long-standing commit-
ment to a democratically elected government in Cuba.
Mr. Chairman, this hearing, which will explore the potential for

political transformation in Cuba, reflects the spirit of the legisla-
tion introduced by subcommittee member Bob Menendez. The
chairman and I, and a good number of members on this sub-

committee, are original cosponsors of the bill. We are very proud
that he introduced it. The legislation is very forward thinking, and

hopefully it will be passed in the not too distant future.

Mr. Chairman, the political revolutions in Eastern Europe and
the former Soviet Union have captured the limelight of the last 5

years and caught most of the free world off guard with their sud-

denness. We were not prepared for the needs demonstrated and ex-

pressed by those governments in transition. Consequently, Mr.

Chairman, we missed many, many opportunities. Resources were
often mismanaged, and we have experienced a range of growing
pains through this period of democracy-building in the former So-

viet bloc.



The decade-long march toward democratically elected govern-
ments throughout the Americas has helped season our skills as

supporters of democracy and representative government. Let us

hope that all of this expertise will serve us well in the trans-
formation of Cuba.

But, Mr. Chairman, it goes without saying that experience is

nothing if not worked into an overall plan. The Free and Independ-
ent Cuba Assistance Act provides a framework for the transition,
and it is imperative that we take this mission seriously. Frankly,
I am not confident of a smooth, carefree transition in Cuba. In fact,
we must have wise contingency plans should the changes come at
the insistence of disgruntled military or police, or as a result of a
violent uprising.
Mr. Chairman, this is an important hearing today. Let me note

that members of the minority will be in and out, as we have a con-
ference meeting regarding the crime bill. I, and perhaps others,
have amendments which we must present, but I will be back, as
will other members of the minority side.

Thank you.
Mr. TORUICELLI. Mr. Smith, we all have a stake in your party re-

solving its position on the crime bill, so we are glad to have you
spend some time in the conference. Thank you very much for your
statement.

Mr. Menendez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, I appre-
ciate your words as well as the fact that many of the members of
this subcommittee are original cosponsors, and also the ranking
member for his original cosponsorship and his words. And I appre-
ciate you holding this hearing on this important matter, and once
again want to recognize your leadership role on this issue, Mr.
Chairman. I am confident that history will record it as a role of a

visionary.
There is a virtual consensus among Cuba analysts from through-

out the entire political spectrum, and even among foreign govern-
ments, that Castro's Cuba is politically and economically anachro-.
nistic and bankrupt.
The collapse of communism and the dismantling of the East bloc

has left Cuba isolated and in a deep crisis. Castro's political dicta-

torship, which excludes and represses popular participation, is not
viable. Recent reforms to Cuba's external economic sector are insuf-
ficient—and will be insufficient—to lift Cuba out of its quandary.
Such a failed system of government simply cannot be sustained in-

ternally. The genesis of a new system of government in Cuba there-
fore is inevitable.

Cuba has yet to begin a process of transformation away from its

Communist dictatorship and a command economy toward political

democracy and an open economy. When it does, however, the Unit-
ed States should be prepared to nourish democratization and to en-

courage privatization in Cuba, as we have done in Eastern Europe
and are now attempting to do in the former Soviet Union. Ulti-

mately, friendly relations with a free and independent Cuba will

benefit the United States economically and politically.
After and long and hard look at this issue, I concluded that the

United States should anticipate a genesis in Cuba, rather than



react to one only after it occurs. The United States should be pre-
pared to act today were the Castro regime to fall tomorrow. We
must be prepared for a change of regime in Cuba, I believe, during
the Clinton administration.
And that is why I have introduced, and am confident to the bal-

anced approach that H.R. 2758, The Free and Independent Cuba
Assistance Act, provides. And let me just briefly outline the bill,

Mr. Chairman.
The bill basically provides for a two-tiered assistance program to

a post-Castro government in Cuba; first, to a transition govern-
ment, and next, to a democratically elected government. Recogniz-
ing that both bilateral and multilateral assistance will be required,
we hope to lead an international effort to move Cuba toward be-

coming a bona fide and prosperous member of the international

community.
Our purpose is twofold: First, to create incentives for the Cuban

people to initiate a process of genuine transition to a political de-

mocracy and an open economy. Second, to lend the Cuban people
a hand in developing and consolidating a democratic government,
an open economv, and supporting institutions.

The focus of tne first phase, or the transition phase, of the assist-

ance program is on solving Cuba's most immediate problems, estab-

lishing contacts between the United States and the transition gov-
ernment, and initiating a constructive relationship with the Cuoan
military. The United States would begin to provide emergency re-

lief, humanitarian assistance, and military adjustment assistance
to Cuba as soon as the President certifies that a transition govern-
ment exists in Cuba. The assistance is quickly delivered, as the bill

requires, by U.S., international or indigenous nongovernmental or-

ganizations.
How do we get started? First, we have to get the Cuban people

to have faith in our program and to trust our intentions.

At the outset, it should be U.S. policy, as H.R. 2758 states, that
in solidarity with the Cuban people, the United States considers
self-determination to be their national and sovereign right. The
Cuban people must understand that the United States harbors no

aggressive intentions toward them; that we recognize that it is they
who must take the future into their own hands; that in a period
of transition they are not isolated; that the United States is com-
mitted to lending them a hand at this time of desperate need. To
demonstrate that we mean business, we offer a renegotiation or an

outright return to the democratically elected Government of Cuba
of the U.S. naval base in Guantanamo.
We can establish confidence early in the process by feeding the

hungry and healing the sick. The Cuban people, because of Castro's

dictatorship, lack basis sustenance and adequate health care. As
food, medicine and medical equipment begins to arrive on a regular
and reliable basis, the people will develop hope that a better way
of life is coming. The process of providing and distributing aid is

in itself critical. The people-to-people ties and exchanges that will

develop will build confidence among the Cuban people that a new
and functioning system can be built.

We want to express this message of support to the Cuban mili-

tary. "We are willing to help you adjust to a new life in a democ-



racy. Like your Russian counterparts, you have returned from ad-

ventures abroad and survived deception at home. We are aware of

the difficulties that you face." Our bill recognizes the military's ad-

justment problems, such as housing and employment, and would

provide help.
This is a caveat. While democracy cannot be expected to arrive

in Cuba overnight, U.S. assistance should be directed only toward
a Cuban Government that can demonstrate that it is engaged in

a process of genuine transition toward democracy.
We list a series of issues that we believe are guidelines for mak-

ing that determination, and we believe that under those determina-
tions we can move forward with a plan of assistance. And I think
that the United States must maintain, and without apology, that

democracy, respect for human rights, free and fair elections, and
the rule of law should characterize the future democratic regime in

Cuba. These standards are international, and may be found in the

Universal Declaration of Human Rights of 1948, to which Cuba is

a signatory.
Mr. Chairman, in deference to our colleagues who are here, we

have a longer statement. We talk about the second part of the bill

which works with international organizations under a democrat-

ically elected Cuba—the World Bank, the Inter-America Develop-
ment Fund, the International Monetary Fund. We talk about those

possibilities.
And I think that the one thing that we want to say is that, in

fact, we believe that this act sends a beacon of light to the Cuban
people. It says that we are in solidarity with you, but not with
those who enslave you. We are ready to help, but first you must
help yourselves, and we remove the impediments to democracy,
and in doing so, we offer a strong helping hand.
And to the Cuban military we are not your enemy; have no inter-

est other than to recognize that we understand the pain of adjust-
ment. We are willing to help so long as you do not turn your guns
on your brothers and sisters as they move to seek freedom and de-

mocracy.
And finally, to the world community we erase the erroneous

view, which you began, Mr. Chairman, in your Cuban Democracy
Act, that the U.S. policy is strictly punitive toward the Cuban peo-

ple and show that we are eager to welcome Cuba into the family
of nations in a substantive way.

I would ask for the rest of my statement be included in the
record.

Mr. Torhicp:lli. Without objection at this point the entire state-

ment will be included in the record.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Menendez appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. Mknkndkz. And I would also ask, Mr. Chairman, we had,

through your cooperation, invited Professor Irving Louis Horowitz,
who is a well renowned Cuban expert. He could not be with us but,
in fact, submitted testimony which I will ask to be included in the
record. It refers to the bill as well as

Mr. ToHRiCKM.l. Professor Horowitz actually was a professor of

mine in college, and he gave me a very good grade. [Laughter. 1

Without objection, it will be included in the record at this point.



Mr. Menendez. I am glad we picked the right person, Mr. Chair-
man.
And I would also like to include in the record an executive sum-

mary of an approximation of foreign assistance requirements of a
democratic Cuba done by two economists, Jose Alonso and
Armando Lago, which I believe would be beneficial to the consider-
ation of the committee.
Mr. ToRRiCELLi. Without objection, it will also be placed in the

record.

[The executive summary appears in the appendix.]
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you for your statement.

Mr. Menendez. Thank you.
Mr. Torricelli. Ms. Ros-Lehtinen.

Ms. Ros-Lehtinen. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I

would like to congratulate our dear colleague, Mr. Menendez, for

introducing H.R. 2758, The Free and Independent Cuba Assistant
Act, a bill which I believe is of utmost importance to the future eco-
nomic development of Cuba once Castro's totalitarian regime dis-

appears.
This act is a clear indication to the Cuban people that the United

States will aid Cuba in its economic and political transition toward
free markets and democracy.

Since 1959, when Castro took power in Cuba, the Cuban econ-

omy has been characterized by its failed centralized planning.
Upon taking power, Castro embarked on a radical liquidation of
market mechanisms which the state has never been able to repro-
duce. As a result, the Cuban economy has been marked by ineffi-

ciency, by inadequate distribution of resources, by over-reliance on
sugar, and dependence on the Soviet Union.
The consequences for the Cuban people has been decades of ra-

tioning, and a dramatic decline in Cuba's standard of living relative
to the period prior to the revolution.

The economic situation in Cuba has further deteriorated with the

disappearance of the Soviet Union and the Communist nations of
Eastern Europe. These nations were Cuba's main trading partners,
accounting for more than 80 percent of Cuban trade, and provided
Cuba with preferable trade agreements which greatly improved
Cuba's terms of trade.

Among these arrangements was the paying of artificially high
prices for Cuban sugar and allowing Cuba to reexport Soviet oil.

The loss of its main markets has forced the regime to consider

adopting market reforms, which it has been clearly reluctant to ac-

cept previouslv. The two major reforms implemented, the legaliza-
tion of the dollar and the legalization of self-employment in a few
areas, are modest changes which do not alter Cuba's command con-

trolled economy in any significant way. These reforms seem di-

rected at providing a short-term pass-flow to the Communist elite

who rule the country, and not at transforming the Cuban economy.
Mr. Chairman, this bill addresses various key elements in the fu-

ture successful transition of Cuba from totalitarian dictatorship to

political pluralism and free markets.
In the political realm, the bill

clearly
states that the United

States will respect the Cuban people's self-determination to elect a



democratic government, and will not support one individual or en-

tity over the other.

It also provides for assistance to help the Cuban military adjust
to a new role in a demilitarized democratic system. This provision
is of particular importance because if we are to see a peaceful tran-

sition toward a democratic Cuba, the military, as one of the most

powerful institutions in the country, must be on the side of political

pluralism.
In the economic realm, the bill sets up a framework for future

U.S. aid to the Cuban Government once a transitional government
is implemented. U.S. assistance to a transitional government would
include humanitarian and emergency relief assistance, as well as

aid and credit from U.S. agencies such as the Export-Import Bank,
the Trade Development Agency, and the Overseas Private Invest-

ment Corporation.
Moreover, the transitional government would only receive the aid

if it releases all political prisoners, if it allows international human
rights groups to monitor Cuban prisons, if it respects internation-

ally recognized human rights, and allows the free organization of

labor unions.
In addition, the transitional government must be willing to call

democratic elections within a year of taking power, and must take

steps to implement a market economy in the country.
The bill would also lifl the trade embargo against Cuba once the

President determines that a democratic government exists in Cuba,
and calls for the inclusion of Cuba into the Caribbean Basin' Initia-

tive. This is significant because it opens the U.S. market to Cuba.

Thus, the bill is not merely made up of one-way transfers of aid

to the island, but by opening up the U.S. market to the island, it

allows Cuba to use trade as one of its primary weapons of develop-
ment.
Mr. Chairman, the days of tyrannical rule and repression in

Cuba are slowly coming to an end. H.R. 2758, the Menendez act,

is a good first step toward future U.S. aid to a democratic Cuba,
fulfilling our responsibility of helping our close neighbor 90 miles

from our shores.

Cuba's self-incorporation into the world economy and into the

community of civilized nations will not be an easy one. However,
this bill will make this road a little smoother so that Cuba and its

people can soon get back on their feet.

I congratulate once again our colleague, Mr. Menendez, for his

hard work in drafting this legislation.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. TORRICKI.U. Thank you very much.
Mr. Deutsch.
Mr. Dkutsch. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to commend the

subcommittee for holding hearings on the Free and Independent
Cuba Act. And I too want to join my colleagues thanking Mr.
Menendez for introducing this important bill.

Once passed, it is this legislation that will help prepare the Unit-

ed States for the inevitable changes that will transform life in

Cuba as we know it. As a member who represents the district clos-

est to Cuba, I have a very personal interest in planning for an or-
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derly transition in the Cuban Grovernment from dictatorship to de-

mocracy.
As part of these efforts, I have been working successfully with

the U.S. Coast Guard to ensure that adequate resources are sta-
tioned in Key West in case of these changes, and when these

changes do occur.

In addition, I have joined my colleague, Mr. Menendez, in intro-

ducing the Free and Independent Cuba Act, a bill that maps out
the U.S. policy toward a democratic successor to the oppressive
Castro regime.
This legislation authorizes aid to a Cuban Government in transi-

tion and numanitarian assistance to the Cuban people in order to

ease their transition to democracy. It provides for the lifting of the
three decade-long embargo against Cuba once a democratic govern-
ment has been established. And finally, it completely endorses the

right of the Cuban people to self-determination, while not promot-
ing or prescribing any specific choices.
The hopes and dreams of the Cuban people have died under the

Castro regime. The system that exists under Castro is one of sys-
tematic repression, humanitarian abuse and poverty. This, how-
ever, was certainly not the vision for which the Cuban people
struggled. After more than 30 years of repression and isolation, the
Free and Independent Cuba Act is an assurance to the people of
Cuba that the United States is prepared to assist them with their

return to the world community. As Americans, we remember only
struggle for sovereignty, and the belief that this was and is our
fundamental right.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you, Mr. Deutsch, very much.
Mr. Wynn.
Mr. Wynn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would just like to com-

mend my colleague, Mr. Menendez, for all his hard work and lead-

ership on this issue. In view of the fact that we have four of our

colleagues waiting to testify, I would defer any further opening
statement and request to unanimous consent to submit my state-

ment for the record.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Without objection, it will be entered into the

record that it was remarkable strategy for popularity in this room.

[Laughter.]
[The prepared statement of Mr. Wynn appears in the appendix.]
Mr. TORRICKI.LI. Given our number of colleagues we have with

us, the subcommittee, of course, needs a rule to deal with the order
in which they will be received. Ordinarily, this, of course, would be
in seniority with the committee members first. I think that is a

good rule for the committee unless there is a member from New
York or New Jersey, which there is, who will go first. [Laughter.]
Mr. Rangel.
Mr. Hangkl. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. TORRICELLI. In deference to my neighboring district, if you

would like to proceed.
First, Mr. Rangel, let me say, while indeed you and I may rep-

resent either poll of opinion on the question of strategy with regard
to Cuba, I do know that we share the same objectives, which is

freedom for the Cuban people. You have been a voice of human
rights in this institution long before I arrived.



And as we pursue our different strategies, I am grateful to you
in hosting a hearing just last week, you extended every courtesy to

me and gave me the opportunity to express my views. We are de-

lighted to have yours here today, and please proceed.

STATEMENT OF HONORABLE CHARLES B. RANGEL, A
REPRESENTATIVE FROM THE STATE OF N^W YORK

Mr. Rangel. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like permission
to have my statement entered into the record.

Mr. ToRRiCELi.i. Without objection.
Mr. Rangel. Let me thank you for setting this tone and thank

Mr. Menendez, as well as Congresswoman Ros-Lehtinen, because I

think one thing that we are doing by the introduction of legislation,

by holding hearings, is showing that we all are concerned about the

removal of a dictator, the protection of human rights, and the fact

that our country was based on a free market system and democ-

racy, and that is what we are going to encourage wherever and
with whomever we do business with.

How we reach that objective in this country, we can debate, we
can discuss. I do not really think any of the legislation that we are

supporting is going to resolve this problem. It is going to be a ques-
tion of our State Department deciding what is in our best national

interest.

I guess you will be declared visionary, Mr. Chairman. I am
frightened to death that that person you described over there be-

cause when the Soviets first put their missiles there, indeed I was

physically frightened because I really thought that they would be

a threat to our national security.
As I look at Castro, as I see the economy deteriorating, as I see

people sick with disease and malnutrition and lacking medicines

and food, I just never thought about him the way you described in

your opening statement. I thought this was a broken man deserted

by another form of dictatorship, the Soviet Union, and that demo-
cratic principles prevailed. And that here we find now a govern-
ment that is failing and we now have taken the blame for a lot of

Cubans inside of Cuba where they are blaming their pain and suf-

fering on the embargo, when in fact every country that has adopted
communism as a way of life have failed around the world.

And it seems as though, from the opening statements, that we
are now saying that the more pain we can put, the more the people
are going to come and up rise and kick him into the Caribbean.

Well, I do not know. I hope the CIA is doing better in Cuba than

they are doing in Haiti, because
Mr. Deutsch. In Washington.
Mr. Rangel. Yes. Because I do not know who in the heck is

going to be leading these troops. And if we do have an uprising,

Congressman Deutsch, whose district is the closest, my God, I see

an exodus there the same way I would see in Haiti.

In Haiti, we fought for democracy and open elections. We just did

not like who they elected. You know, so things happened, CIA
works out their deal, and who knows, we are now trying to cut a

deal to work with the generals that were responsible for the coup.
And so I hope we learned by our mistakes.
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But it seems to me that these modest changes that certainly do
not reach the standards of the United States or loving countries,
the fact that they are changing some parts of the economy or that

they have pulled their troops out of other people's internal affairs.

But if I saw an economy that looked like it was crippled, I would
want a free, open market to be exposed to it so that we can allow
those poor folks there to decide which type of government they
want—what they have been stuck with under Castro or what they
would see with the United States.

Now, we are talking about open elections. How are you going to

have open elections when it is generally felt that people can go to

jail just for expressing themselves?
It would seem to me that what we should be doing is doing the

things before we wait for the so-called democracy and elections by
making certain that we go in there and find out how many people
are being held against their will merely because they spoke out

against the government. You cannot possibly think of having open
elections until you can determine if people can express themselves
in Cuba.

Now, there is a difference of opinion. So let us go search out and
find out what the truth is, regardless of when you want the elec-

tions or whether you are for or against the embargo. Because of

this standard of talking to people based on open markets, free elec-

tion and human rights, who would we be doing business with?
I mean, give me a break. We have been dealing with dictators

throughout our foreigri policy. Of course, that was before you as-

sumed the chair of this responsibility. And certainly in China, why
our business people would be shocked and dismayed to hear that

we have got to wait for an election before we would do business
with them. And in Vietnam, where so many of our soldiers were
lost in fighting against communism, the same way I lost so many
of my friends in Korea and was wounded, we do not seem to be

pushing North Korea with the same feeling as we do with Castro
and his rag-tag bunch of soldiers.

So what I am saying is that let us never give up our principles,
but at the same time we do not have wait for legislation to pass
to keep pursuing the question of human rights. Whether we do

business, whether we do not do business, that should be on our

common agenda no matter which side we are on or how we reach

the objective.

Now, what I am concerned about is that here we have in Haiti

a so-called embargo. It does not apply to U.S. firms that are there.

It does not apply to the Dominican Republic. We have had it on for

a year or so, and clearly we are not enforcing it.

And people say, well, how can you talk about tightening an em-

bargo in Haiti, and is it not hypocritical to talk about removing it

in Cuba?
Believe me, I would like to believe, if God is good enough to have

me around for 34 years, and we still have an embargo against

Haiti, I would be pained to see how manv more Haitians will have
to suffer, waiting for the people to revolt against the only people
who have the guns. I mean, it is absolutely ridiculous if you think

that the poor folks in Haiti stand a ghost of a chance in overthrow-

ing their type of criminal military government.
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And I certainly would not want the poor Cuban people who are

sufTering to have to take on that rag-tag Cuban Army in order to

show that one day we will be prepared to do what? Evaluate the
new government and then determine what, if any, assistance we
would give.
So I would rather leave this hearing in saying that, hey, we have

a common cause. We cannot continue to have a double standard of

people in our area than we have around the world. We want de-

mocracy, we want Presidents, and we want democracies that is

more in line of democracies that we can work with.

But I am frightened to death that we are just shooting crap in

Cuba the same way we are doing in Haiti. We have not the foggiest
ideas who will emerge as the new leader. Will it be someone that
will be anti-United States? Will it be someone, if it is at all pos-

sible, worse than Castro? Are we working toward a transition? Do
we have someone that we are supporting like we did in Haiti?

I do not know, and, quite frankly, I do not want to know. But
it would seem to me that as we pursue these goals in Cuba, as we
do with every nation that we do business with on the face of the

earth, that we could find some compassion for the people that are
there in saying that while we believe that we can win this war or

finalize the victory, because we have won, by showing that cultural

exchange, social exchange, economic exchange can prevail over that
broken down system that they have in Cuba.

I am confident that the spiritual leaders led by Cardinal O'Con-
nor from my particular community, in bringing food and vitamins,
tons have already been shipped in there, is going to prevail, and
we are not going to have the Cuban people in Cuba suffer because
of our failed policy in that particular part of the world.

We have got a double standard with Haiti, a double standard
with Cuba, and I think if we have just one international trade

standard, never losing our principles as to what we would want to

obtain for those people, then I would feel more comfortable as an

American, rather than selectively deciding which ones have to have
an immediate democracy before we will extend ourselves to help
the poor and the sick and those that are being blinded.

I close by saying, Mr. Chairman, I think this is good. I am not
certain this kind of debate can be had in Cuba. I was not certain

before that this kind of debate could have been had in Miami. But
because of the hearings that I have had, the people that have come
forward, I thank the members that support the continuation of the

embargo for saying let the debate continue.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I thank the members of this commit-

tee.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Rangel appears in the appendix. 1

Mr. ToinucKLLl. Thank you, Mr. Rangel, very much for your
statement.
Mr. Hastings.

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE ALCEE L. HASTINGS, A
REPRESENTATI\T^ FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Mr. HastiN(]S. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, and members of the subcommittee, I appreciate

you also very much, and particularly the emphasis on the measure
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H.R. 2758 offered by my colleague, Mr. Menendez. I greatly appre-
ciate your extending to us an opportunity to express our support
for H.R. 2758.

I cannot help but respond, in part, to some of my dear colleagues
and mentor and leaders' comments, and most respectfully ask the
chair to allow my written comments to be made a part of the
record.

Mr. TORRICELLI. Without objection, at this point in the record.

[The prepared statement or Mr. Hastings appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. Hastings. I became an original cosponsor of Congressman
Menendez' legislation because I believe strongly in its goal of en-

couraging the people of Cuba to work toward political reforms,
while illustrating yet again to the Castro regime that an economic
detente with the United States is not an option until the people of

Cuba are free. They must be free of the dictatorship that has stran-

gled them for many years, free of political and social oppression,
and free of an unworkable economic system which has brought ruin
to their once prosperous island.

Although political analysts have been predicting, and I see it all

the time as a Representative from south Florida, the imminent
downfall of Fidel Castro for many years with the collapse of Cas-
tro's Communist backers, true reform might possible be near. And
when that day does come, I believe, as I heard Congressman Ran-

gel say, that we must be ready to extend to the people of Cuba our

assistance, to the extent that we can.

The H.R. 2758, in a proactive manner, in my opinion, will do just
that, and this legislation creates incentives for the Cuban people to

move toward political democracy and a market economy, and it will

help the people of Cuba implement a democratic government. I

strongly support this legislation, and I thank the subcommittee for

its consideration.
Just in closing, Mr. Chairman, to share with my dear colleagues.

Congressman Rangel, I do not think that any of us are unmindful
of a great need that we have for compassion for the people who are

suffering at great length in Cuba. But the reality is that with the
kind of cunning and viciousness of the dictator that controls them,
with or without an embargo, in that particular setting the people
are going to suffer.

Let me give you the example. If 100 pounds of sugar arrived on
the dock in Havana, and if the intent is—and sugar would be bad
to be sent to Cuba—salt, perhaps, since they already have a lot of

sugar. Let us make it salt. And if it was to be distributed to the

populace in general, then it never would reach the populace, and
it would only strengthen the person that would control the access

to the populace, and that is what is happening right now in Haiti.

The embargo is not hurting Cedras. It is hurting the people in the

countryside.
So if you took the embargo off, Castro is still in control. If you

put the embargo on and strengthened it, Castro is still in control,
and the people in the fmal analysis are suffering at great lengths.
The distinctions between our policy, in my opinion, toward Cuba,

and say China and Korea, is that we do not have folks who have
abandoned their land, had their land taken away from them, lost
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their loved ones who are living immediately in our shores, many
of whom are nationals, some of whom are right here in this room
who are now representatives from the State of Florida.

So toward that end I would hope that we would continue the em-

bargo, and I would hope that we would pass with flying colors H.R.
2758.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you, Mr. Hastings.
Mr. Gutierrez.

STATEMENT OF LUIS V. GUTIERREZ, A REPRESE^^^ATIVE
FROM THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

Mr. Gutierrez. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am
pleased to testify today in support of The Free and Independent
Cuba Act of 1993.

I would like to commend my good friend, and I would like to rec-

ognize my good friend and colleague Mr. Menendez for his work on
what I consider to be an outstanding and important piece of legisla-
tion.

I strongly believe that by supporting and passing this legislation
the Congress of the United States sends a crucial message to the

people of Cuba. We send a rri ssage that says the United States is

willing to support and work for the same democratic values for

Cuba that we hold so critically dear here at home.
It is a message that says that we recognize that the desire for

freedom and justice and liberty has not been extinguished within

the people of Cuba simply because it is absent from its leaders.

It is a message—and this is a very important part of that mes-

sage—that says the United States will respect above all else the

right of the people of Cuba to self-determination and to choosing
the course their future will take.

Let us be candid—few people remain who believe that the eco-

nomically crippled and morally bankrupt regime of Fidel Castro
can survive indefinitely.

Yet, instead of taking action now, to prepare to help the people
of Cuba with their transition away from a Communist government,
we struggle, and debate, and wait to decide how our Nation can
best help.

I believe this legislation helps to replace debate with action, to

replace indecision with bold steps toward helping the people of

Cuba achieve the freedom and independence we value so much
here.
This legislation says that our Nation should move aggressively to

help Cuba by aiding any transition government with emergency re-

lief assistance, committing to help further with long-term assist-

ance to any democratic government in Cuba. It achieves these goals
in several important ways.
Others have and will catalogue the manner in which this assist-

ance will be given to the people of Cuba: through an important
combination of loans.

More importantly, this legislation assures that the United States
will be more than a partner.
At the heart of the Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act

is the recognition of and respect for the self-determination of the

people of Cuba. The United States should not in any way dictate
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to the people of Cuba what their future will be. Only the people of
Cuba can make that decision.

And our Nation should make absolutely clear that we are pre-
pared to be partners in change. And when the people of Cuba begin
their move toward democracy, that they will not do this in isola-

tion; that the leaders of our Nation will stand with them during
their transition, stand with them as long as they work to build the
infrastructure of democracy.
And let us be honest—it is in the best interest of our Nation to

support a free and independent Cuba. A free and independent
Cuba enhances U.S. security, helps to promote political stability
and harmony in the Western Hemisphere and can eventually be of
economic benefit for all of the people of the region.

In the past years, the United States has stood with the people
of Poland and Germany, Ukraine and Russia as they have strug-
gled for freedom, democracy and independence.
The Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act says only that

we will work to take the same steps right here in the Western
Hemisphere. I firmly believe to do otherwise would be a grave mis-
take.

I wholeheartedly urge the members of this committee to support
this important initiative.

And thank you again, Mr. Torricelli, for allowing me to testify be-
fore your subcommittee.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gutierrez appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. Torricelli. Thank you, Mr. Gutierrez, very much. Thank
you for being with us.

Mr. Diaz-Balart.

STATEMENT OF LINCOLN DL\Z-BALART, A REPRESEP^ATIVE
FROM THE STATE OF FLORffiA

Mr. Diaz-Baij^.rt. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity
to testify today before the Subcommittee on the Western Hemi-
sphere with regard to this important piece of legislation, the Free
and Independent Cuba Assistance Act.

Mr. Chairman, the Cuban people know more than anyone else

about the great importance of the U.S. trade embargo against the
Castro dictatorship.

They know that the trade embargo maintained by the United
States against the brutal dictatorship that has oppressed Cuba for

35 years, is a manifestation of solidarity with the people of that

suffering island, intended to assist these people in obtaining its

freedom.
And they know that the lifting of the trade embargo at this time,

without demanding free and fair internationally supervised elec-

tions, would constitute a great victory for the dictatorship and a

humiliating defeat for the Cuban people.
I am here today to wholeheartedly and strongly support the Free

and Independent Cuba Assistance Act sponsored by my good friend

from New Jersey, Congressman Bob Menendez. I am grateful to

Congressman Menendez for the opportunity that he gave me dur-

ing the time that he was drafting the legislation to comment upon
it and to make suggestions concerning it.
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The Menendez bill, when it becomes the Menendez law, will

make an important contribution to U.S. policy toward Cuba. The
Menendez bill clarifies that the United States strongly supports the

right of self-determination of the Cuban people, and just as impor-
tantly, that the United States will strictly adhere to a policy of

total respect for the sacred independence and sovereignty of the Re-

public of Cuba.
With that in mind, the Menendez bill commits the United States

to renegotiate with the future democratically elected Government
of Cuba, the terms by which the United States retains the naval
base at Guantanamo, with the goal of improving the terms of the
lease for the Republic of Cuba or returning the base to the Repub-
lic.

The Menendez bill makes it amply clear to the Cuban people in

multiple ways that the United States stands ready to assistant

them in reconstructing their country from the ashes of the night-
mare of the total destruction brought to Cuba by the tyranny of

Castro.
It is important to remember that, in 1959, as the U.S. Principal

Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs, Mr.
Michael Skol, testified last week, Cuba's per capita Gross National
Product was equal to that of Italy's.

It is also important to remember that until Castro took power in

Cuba, the Cuban people were not an emigrant people. Anyone who
wanted to leave Cuba could do so voluntarily, and, in fact, any
Cuban who sought to obtain an immigrant visa to the United
States was eligible for it. The Cuban national currency, the peso,
was equal in value to the U.S. dollar and was fully convertible and
exportable. Cubans as a whole, however, invested and kept their

funds in Cuba.
All that and much more was accomplished by the Cuban people

during the years of the Republic without foreign assistance and be-

fore The Alliance for Progress, the Inter-American Development
Bank and the other vehicles for financial assistance were developed
in the years subsequent to the collapse of the Cuban Republic.

Mr. Chairman, the Cuban people know all too well the tragic
state of the Cuba of today. Despite the delivery to Castro by the

Soviet Union of almost $100 billion in aid—as Secretary Skol point-
ed out, about $700,000 per hour for 30 years

—the economy is abso-

lutely and totally destroyed. In addition, the people are oppressed
in a manner unparalleled in the history of the Western Hemi-
sphere. Acts of repudiation are common; political prisons are full;

it is a crime even to leave one's own country; tourism apartheid
reigns; and only the dollar is sought as tradable currency within
Cuba.
But the opposition of the Cuban people to the dictatorship is

overwhelming and there is a profound national consensus against
Castro. Despite the efforts of those who seek to help Castro, either

by investing in the tourism apartheid of today, or by providing the

dictatorship with oil, or by seeking to lift the U.S. embargo, the
Cuban people will soon be free of their totalitarian nightmare, and
the reconstruction of Cuba will begin.

Wisely, Mr. Menendez' bill leaves no doubt that the United
States stands ready to lift its trade embargo as soon as the Cuban
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people are free, and that the United States looks forward to enthu-

siastically assisting the Cuban people in their inevitable economic
reconstruction within freedom, democracy and the rule of law.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Diaz-Balart appears in the ap-

pendix.]
Mr. ToRRlCELLi. Thank you, Mr. Diaz-Balart.
I am going to yield to Mr. Menendez in a moment, only if I could

add my own contribution to this discussion.
In the final analysis, this Congress and this government is faced

with a judgment call about which strategy best pursues our na-
tional interests and a just transition to democracy for the Cuban
people.

Arguments can be made on either side, the influence of a free
market and the exchange of ideas and goods leading to an inevi-

table transition, or, indeed, the embargo forcing political change,
confronting the reality of the choices before the Cuban people and
their government.
This Congress has chosen a path. We have begun to follow it: the

embargo, which I think was justly extended internationally, but al-

lowing for the very delivery of the humanitarian aid by the Catho-
lic Church that Mr. Range! cited, not in contravention of American
law or the work of this committee, but because of it; the opening
of communications to spread ideas; the establishment of new phone
links and mail delivery; not despite the efforts of this committee,
but because of it, leaving our principal wedge for change in three

arenas, humanitarian assistance, communication and the embargo.
I recognize the controversy of the embargo. It is not easy for any

member of this institution or this government to live with the re-

ality that people are suffering in deprivation. But in the final anal-

ysis in embarking on this path, it was a question of whether it was
crueler to impose a deprivation which in our judgment was dis-

proportionately on the leadership of the Communist, but without

question impacting everyone on the island, or to accept another

generation of dictatorship, imprisonment, torture and cruelty for

the Cuban people.
There was no perfect choice. We made the best choice available.

My principal argument, however, rests with those, not who in

honest disagreement would have chosen a different course, a rea-

soned person could come to a different conclusion—only history will

tell us who was right
—but with those who argue that there is not

an American national interest, or that with the exhaustion of the
cold war, somehow our objectives in Cuba have changed.
America's interest in human rights and pluralism did not begin

with the fight against communism. Indeed, it was our greatest cyn-
ics during the cold war who argued our interest in democracy, or

free markets, or human rights was only a vehicle against Soviet

communism. We have spent years arguing that that was not the
case. We were interested in human rights for human rights' sake.

That test is now in Cuba. It is true Cuba is not a security threat
to the United States, but it is a threat to everything we hold dear-

est, and the rights of men. That is the foundation of why this em-
bargo has been extended.
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All that I can urge is that in the debate that we have internally,
that it be done civilly and honestly, true to our traditions, and that

the American people have a sense of patience and of reality.

All I have ever suggested, in dealing in the formation of a policy
with Fidel Castro, is that we take him at his word. I did not formu-

late legislation that is the foundation of this embargo lightly. I

went to see him. I spent hours with him; watched carefully from
the perspective of being in the Carter administration, to the van-

tage point of being in this institution.

In my conversations with him, in my reading of the literature,

there is no suggestion that any softening of American policy, any
extending of opportunity would in any way lead to a lessening of

the dictatorship. If it existed, if I saw it today, I would believe in

an American response.
Castro's words have given every indication that he will see his

revolution through no matter what the human cost, no matter what
the toll on the Cuban people. It is in response to his words that

this committee took its fateful action.

I believe we are on a course. Embargoes are a difficult alter-

native. When I read the suffering of the Cuban people, or the Hai-

tian people, or any people, it troubles all of us. But it is my own
belief that economic embargoes are the logical and rightful exten-

sion of diplomacy, a place for national policy to rest between the

visits of diplomats and the opening of armed conflict, a better alter-

native.

It is my profound hope that this embargo is an alternative to

armed insurrection and conflict within Cuba, or the tragedy of con-

flict between nations; the same logic that led us to apply econornic

pressure on Russia for reforms and to allow the exodus of Soviet

Jewry; the pressure on Vietnam which succeeded in lessening the

concentration camps for South Vietnamese Government officials;

the same which may lead us to denuclearization for North Korea;
the same which has led us to an embargo on Libya and Iraq for

different objectives; the same which led us in Rhodesia and South
Africa.

They do not yield immediate results. Rhodesia took a decade. In

South Africa, it took longer. In Vietnam, it took 15 years.
But it can succeed, and it is the better alternative to the inevi-

tability of conflict which comes between free states, of people desir-

ing freedom, and dictatorship.
That is the alternative that we have pursued, not because we

think it's perfect, not because we think it is harmless, but because

we think it is the better road taken. History will be our judge, but
I believe in the fmal analysis that when the Cuban people sit in

judgment on us, the suffering they sustain or the loss of another

generation, they will understand that what we have done is in the

best traditions of the American people.
And if the final analysis we must stand alone, as indeed despite

the failures of American policy in Haiti and elsewhere, then we
stand alone. The F'rench can continue to trade with Haiti, and the

Dominicans run oil over the border. That says much about them.

And the Canadians and the British can continue to subsidize Cas-

tro through their economic trade. That speaks volumes about them
too.
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If the United States, in protecting students in Tiananmen
Square, or demanding justice for those who destroy civil aircraft in

Libya, must stand alone, then we stand alone. I can think of no
finer statement about the United States of America or the things
that make us unique in the world.

Mr. Menendez, would you like to pursue with questioning?
Mr. Menendez. Just very briefly, Mr. Chairman. I am hesitant

after that eloquent statement to tarnish it in any way.
I want to thank our colleagues who took time from their busy

schedules to come testify today. I welcome Mr. Rangel, particularly
as I heard the vocabulary that I noticed at the beginning of his own
hearing and I hear today, which many who advocate lifting of the

embargo do not use: the recognition that Fidel Castro is in fact a

dictator; that there are questions of democracy and human rights
in Cuba that need to be addressed. And to that extent, I appreciate
those words.

Let me just say that there are some things you said that I just
want to, in this process of a dialogue, respond to. The fact of the
matter is, and I agree with you, we should be able to get inside
Cuba to see whether the human rights abuses that we in fact be-
lieve exist, not because we want to believe it, but in fact people
who have ultimately come to the United States, who we greet daily
in our communities, tell us about their experiences in jail like

Mario Chanes, the longest serving political prisoner in the world,
who I took to see President Clinton, a man who was in jail, saw
his son born while he was in jail, and had his son die while he was
in jail, but never had the human contact with his son; and many
other stories like that.

I would like to get into Cuba to see those human rights abuses,
but Castro rejects the Special Rapporteur from the United Nations

year after year, and all the testimony adduced by individuals who
have suffered, Armando Valladares, if you read his book, "Against
All Hope," which I commend to you, and I would be happy to give
you a copy of, the incredible tortures that he personally suffered
and witnessed because people simply spoke up against the govern-
ment; not because they fired a shot or threw a grenade.
Those are the realities that I wish we could get in so that we

could establish it. But this year at the Human Rights Commission
in Geneva, Cuba was again condemned, not just by the United
States, but by several other countries.

So, yes, I wish we could get in, but Castro refuses to let truly
independent sources do that. He refuses to let the Special
Rapporteur in.

Let me just say that I am not willing to sit here and say that,
in fact, it is us, the United States, through this embargo that is

causing the difficulties, the needs of the Cuban people. It is Castro.
No one talks about his own failed policies. No one talks about the
fact that recently he had visits by people whom he solicited to come
to the country; the former Finance Minister of Spain, Salchaga,
went to see him, and gave him a master plan of reforms to help
the Cuban people. He rejected them. He asked one of the directors
of the International Monetary Fund to come, who gave him a list

of reforms. He rejected them. This is not the United States telling
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him what is good or bad. These are people that he requested to

come and who have, to some extent, been his alhes.

No one has told Fidel Castro that the cold war is over. We keep
saying that this is an anachronism. Well, no one has told him the

cold war is over, and he certainly has not waken up to smell the

roses.

And, finally, you know, when we talk about different issues, the

fact of the matter is—I certainly have supported the embargo in

Haiti—I hope we do not have it 34 years. However, Haiti's embargo
is international, but the United States' is unilateral. Castro can

buy food, clothing, and medical supplies from anyplace in the

world, including its allies. He just does not have the economy to do
so. He has defaulted on his payments. He owes, I do not know how
many, billions of dollars in the world market. And, in fact, nobody
wants to deal with him based on this basis.

And, finally, if we just lift the embargo, and this is my major
concern with your proposition, unilaterally and without condi-

tions—we have conditions with China's MFN status, and those con-

ditions may very well lead this time to China's MFN status not

being renewed. There is a great call by manv Members of this

House not to renew it. We have conditions. We had conditions with
Vietnam. And the problem here is we seek no conditions, and we
have the expectation that simply free trade with Cuba will create

all of the opportunities that we mutually hope for the Cuban peo-

ple. In fact, all of the investment to date by other countries has not
created those possibilities. In fact, we perceive in free trade that we
would be able to employ Cuban nationals and pay them decent

wages. But Castro does not permit this. They, in fact, collect the

salaries at a gross level and pay a misery to their workers. That
is not something that I think we are for.

So those are the difficulties I had, and certainly when Castro re-

ceives $6 billion a year—as the final point, to differentiate the em-

bargoes—when he receives $6 billion a year from the Soviet Union,
our embargo was more symbolic. It did not have any effect, and he
said that in numerous statements.
But now in the last 2 years, with the Cuban Democracy Act, the

loss of that money, now is when I really believe we should be look-

ing at the clock ticking and saying in this period of time: I think
we have seen reforms, not despite our policy, but because of it. And
those are some of the concerns that I have with some of the state-

ments.

Also, on drug interdiction, I know that— I respect your work in

that. I am concerned about the recent disclosures in the Escobar

papers that links the Castro government to drug trafficking, the in-

dictments that have taken place here in the United States. Those
make me concerned that Cuba is not willing to assist in drug inter-

diction issues, but in fact are in the heart of it, or at least were,
if they are not now. So I appreciate
Ms. Rangel. Let me respond. May I, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. ToiiiiiCKLLi. Sure.
Mr. Rangkl. Because I would like to broaden the area of agree-

ment as we go into debate, as to what we should do as a policy.
First of all, as we have agreement in the concern of a democracy,

we have agreement on human rights, it seemed to me that one of
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the things that you were talking about, in terms of conditions, is

that, first of all, I think the Chairman agreed that when the em-
bargo went on it was in terms of a national security because of the
Soviet Union.
You said that no one talks about the conditions in Cuba being

caused by a failed ideology. I say it every time I speak. The only
thing I say is that Castro is trying to blame the embargo for that
failed policy. So when you say no one talks about it, I have been

talking about it. It is the selection of that type of government
which has caused it to fail. And so I think there are things we
should be doing.

Now, I do not understand the chairman when he says do not say
that this is no longer in our national interest because we are tradi-

tionally a country that respect human rights, open markets and de-

mocracy. Well, we respect it. But I am asking whether or not we
have a double standard.
You talk about South Africa. It took the Congress to overthrow

the policy we had in South Africa. We had constructive engage-
ment.
How many dictators have we supported with economic and mili-

tary assistance that violated the rights of their people? And I was
here fighting against them—in Central American and in South
America. How many years did we support a dictator in Haiti? The
Duvalier administration, we supported with money and support.
Are we proud of it? No. Should we go back to it? No.
And then when we talk about the change in conditions that exist

all over, I do not know what we are trying to prove here in Haiti.

First of all, if we are insisting as a condition that we have an
elected government, how do we get this elected government? Are
we suggesting that these people overthrow Castro? Are we suggest-

ing a civil war, a bloody civil war?
Here we have one side with the guns, economically crippled, and

here we are on the other side saying once you have a democracy,
we will give you assistance.

As a matter of fact, Mr. Menendez even suggested something to

the soldiers. I do not know what it was, but it sounded to me more
like a coup to overthrow Castro.

But I am saying why cannot we have it bloodless? Why cannot
we have a revolution based on sound economic principles? And why
cannot we still keep all the values we have as a United States?

And if you are talking about Castro not letting the United States

in, or Castro saying almost exactly what the Chinese Communists
have said—it is an internal affair—why cannot we go to all of our

real democratic buddies in Mexico, in the Caribbean, and say let

me tell you something. If you really think that we do not have that

impression, why do you not go in there with reliable people and

people with credibility and go out and check the question of politi-

cal prisoners?
Arid I for one, you know, can talk about conditions that exist, not

legislation, not in waiting for an election, not in waiting for a

bloody civil war and then determining whether we are going to re-

spect the new government. I am saying let us treat them as we
treat everyone else.
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I would just like to close by saying there was some suggestion
made that before Castro life was better. I think we ought to walk
very carefully to see how much we are in accord here. Getting rid

of Castro, I hope, does not mean that we are looking to have the
Bautista type of government come back, of economic oppression and
racism and lack of literacy for people. I hope that people do not be-

lieve that we have got to substitute one devil for another devil. But
I will leave that aside and we will move forward to democracy as
we know it and respect it.

So, Chairman Torricelli, I am not asking that the United States
lower its concern for human rights as we have with other countries.
I am hoping that you do acknowledge that we have not dem-
onstrated, as I wish we had, the same degree of human rights and
insistence on duly elected democratic governments as we now see
fit to do with Cuba.
But I think Judge Hastings said it all when he said that the con-

ditions are different because we do have people in the United
States from Cuba, and we have to concern ourselves about that.

And having passed successfully Political Science 101, I say that
makes a heck of a lot of sense, but I do not think it should drive
our foreign policy.
Mr. Menendkz. Mr. Chairman, just very briefly, if I may?
Mr. TOFUUCELM. Yes.
Mr. Menendkz. And this not again to debate; just to call atten-

tion to facts.

Only Castro, with his security apparatus and the army at stake,
can make it a bloody confrontation. Only he can turn weapons
against Cuban people if they seek democratic reform. And of the
six Soviet satellites that ultimately moved to democracy in Eastern

Europe, only one did we give Most-Favored-Nation status to. That
was in Romania, where Ceaucescu was there, and that was of the
six movements to democracy in Eastern Europe. That was the one
that ended

Mr. Ranged. May I ask you a question?
Mr. Menendez Icontinuingl. Up being the very bloodiest.

Mr. Rangel. May I ask a question?
Mr. Menendkz. With those historical facts, remember, Mr. Ran-

gel, only Castro can turn his guns
Mr. Rangek. I know that.

Mr. Mknkndkz [continuing!. Against the Cuban people.
Mr. Rangkl. I know that.

Mr. Mknkndkz. If it is bloody, it will be because he makes it so.

Mr. Rangkl. I agree. My God, let us not dwell on what I agree
with. I said that in Haiti. The poor do not have guns, and in Cuba,
the poor do not have guns.
Now, if what you are suggesting, and those who support your leg-

islation, that having seen that the money comes after democracy,
that the poor, hungry, suffering people in Haiti, then go up to the
General Castro and say, we want a democracy, and then he throws
down his guns and says, oh, it was not explained that way to me
before, so I will now give you a democracy.
How do you get—what do you expect is going to happen? The

people are going to protest, have a rally with the other people with
the guns.
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I just do not see this democracy coming forward.
What I think you and I ought to do is not to debate your legisla-

tion, but see how we can work together to make certain this ques-
tion of human rights never gets off of the table, not waiting for leg-
islation to pass or President Clinton to change his position, because
in my humble opinion, if people cannot talk, they darn sure cannot

get parties, political parties, and they cannot have an election.

But if you think that you are not encouraging the people to take

up and go against the soldier and say, hey, we want democracy, we
are prepared to die for it, and I do not think we should force the
Cuban people in a position of a bloody civil war.
Mr. Menendez. And I do not either.

Mr. Rangel. Well, how does it happen? How does it happen
without blood?
Mr. Menendez. The fact of the matter is, is that under the chair-

man's own bill, the opportunities that you described with Cardinal
O'Connor exists because of the Cuban Democracy Act. There is

great
Mr. Rangel. How do you get democracy when you have Castro

with the people with the guns?
Mr. Menendez. There is

Mr. Rangel. How do you get it?

Mr. Menendez. There is great opportunity to continue to isolate

Castro. The world community thinks he is willing to reform. They
go there, give him a plan for reform. He rejects it. Each time he

rejects it, which hurts his own people, as he did a couple of years
ago when he had farmers' markets that created more food for the
Cuban people, that put more food on the plates of Cuban families,
and because he could not control it, he rejected it and stopped the
reform. Each time he does that he isolates himself more.
Mr. Rangel. He is not isolated.

Mr. Menendez. And in that
Mr. Rangel. First of all, the international community
Mr. Menendez. If I could just finish.

Mr. Rangel. The international
Mr. Menendez. I did not interrupt you.
You want an answer. I am trying to give you an answer.
Mr. Rangel. OK.
Mr. Menendez. And in the process of continuing to isolate him-

self because of his unwillingness to reform, and also with a Cuban
military which today is more and more disenchanted because of

what their role has been in society, he may realize that he does not
have the security apparatus when people move, as they move
throughout the world. We had the Gdansk shipyards. We had
Tiananmen Square. In your own desires in terms of South Africa,
has not blood been spilt in the search of freedom, democracy,
human rights? And right now blood is spilled every day in Castro's

jails.

Mr. Rangel. I did not say that that is not an option the Cuban
people have. If you are suggesting that bloodshed, in terms of seek-

ing democracy, is an option to go, I am saying I do not think it is

necessary to do that.

Now, this international community, as the chairman has indi-

cated, is just as hypocritical as you can ever get. The question is
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going to be what America is going to do because we think it is

right.

Yes, they condemned on human rights as it relates to Castro, but

they condemned the United States for the embargo as well.

All I am asking you, and I think you answered it, is that does
this push toward a bloody civil war? And you are saying
Mr. Menendez. No.
Mr. Rangel. No, you did not. You said

Mr. Menendez. I am saying that
Mr. Rangel. You said but blood loss in search for democracy.
Mr. Menendez. No. I am giving you an example in the causes

that you yourself have supported, and in fact that has been—but
I do not want to

Mr. Rangel. There is no questions about
Mr. Dl\Z-Balart. If I could have a minute.
Mr. ToRRiCELLL Go ahead.
Mr. Diaz-Balart. A couple of points have been brought up here,

I think, fascinating. One is that after 35 years of destruction of

Cuba and oppression by Castro, the ghost of Bautista continues to

be resurrected, apparently to excuse the destruction of Cuba.
Let us be clear on one thing. The Republic of Cuba lasted 57

years. There were a number of heads of state, a number of govern-
ments, a number of congresses, a number of opposition movements,
a labor movement which was the most powerful labor movement in

Latin America. The facts speak for themselves. The progress that

had been achieved during the Republic is undeniable. So let us not
continue to resurrect the Ghost of Bautista here to excuse, appar-

ently, the destruction of Cuba.
Is Cuba destroyed today? Yes or no? Was Cuba a prosperous

country before the destruction? Yes or no? Those are the issues,
and the Cuban people know that.

Now, on the issue of the bloodletting, the bloodletting is continu-

ous in Cuba. Castro is causing a daily shedding of blood in Cuba.
The prisons are full. The acts of repudiation are constant. Paula

Valiente, who I had the privilege, along with Congresswoman Ros-
Lehtinen and Congressman Menendez, and I know the chairman
has met with also, was telling about her personal bloodletting,
where she was beaten unconscious by the thugs of the regime, and
her daughter, a 10-year-old daughter, is kidnapped and not allowed
to leave Cuba because of the regime. That is the bloodletting that

on a constant basis is occurring in Cuba today.
So what we would want is very simple; that the bloodletting, the

bloodshedding ends, that it ends in Cuba.
Mr. Rangel. How?
Mr. Diaz-Balaih'. The Cuban people need solidarity of the inter-

national community, our solidarity. If the embargo is insufficient,

then let us come up with other ideas like you have with Haiti. You
have come up with some significant ideas.

Mr. Rangel. Military intervention.

Mr. Diaz-Balart. The Blue Helmets, the Blue Helmets (U.N.

military forces), that is an intervention. That is a possibility. I

think that that is something that perhaps—if you are saying the

embargo is insufficient, and like you have in Haiti, because I have
heard you, you said the Blue Helmets are a possibility. Well, per-
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haps, in order to get rid of the thugs hke the Francois thugs in

Haiti, or the thugs that for 35 years have kept their grip on the

disarmed, unarmed people of Cuba, that is a possibiHty.
But to say that because the embargo is insufficient, that we

should end that manifestation of solidarity with the people of Cuba
that are being brutalized every day is something that I disagree
with.

I will discuss with you at any time, and with the opponents of

the embargo, other measures that perhaps we should be discussing,
to help the Cuban people accelerate their inevitable liberation. But
to say that because they are being oppressed and they are un-

armed, we should do what Castro has as his number one priority,
which is to get rid of the U.S. embargo and facilitate more invest-

ment, access to the international financing mechanisms, that is

something that I do not see the logic. So we have a profound dis-

agreement here.

Mr. Rangel. As far as the Bautista, I just want to say that I was
with the United States when they supported Castro against
Bautista, so it was not me that was talking about the ghost. You
were saying life before Castro, and that is all I meant to say.
Mr. Diaz-Balart. Well, the facts speak for themselves.
Mr. Rangel. All I am saying is

Mr. Diaz-Balart. The facts speak for themselves.
Mr. Rangel. All I am saying is the United States-

Mr. Diaz-Balart. If the United States intervened against
Bautista, we agree with that.

Mr. Rangel. I think you would agree with me that we do not
want Bautista.
Mr. Dl\z-Balart. We want elections.

Mr. Rangel. Listen, what I

Mr. Diaz-Balart. Self-determination.
Mr. Rangel [continuing]. Want to do is take advantage of where

we agree. You said prior to Castro. You and I mean that we do not
want Bautista either.

Mr. Dl\z-Balart. We do not want any dictator.

Mr. Rangel. OK. And the only other area of disagreement is that
I have not been able to determine how this bloodletting of all of

these people that are in prison have the ability to overthrow the
Cuban Army.
Now, you may know more about it than I do.

Mr. Db\z-BAi^RT. They need our solidarity. Congressman.
Mr. Rangel. But they do not have an international solidarity, all

they have got is us.

Mr. TORRICELLI. Hesitant though I am to interrupt you, I feel

like I am on the set of "Cross Fire.
'

[Laughter.]
Let me only interject a thought and then I am going to yield to

Ms. Ros-Lehtinen, simply for the consideration, because it was an
element of the strategy of the legislation.
Not so long ago I had a visit from a Cuban pilot who had landed

in Miami and he came to visit my office. And I asked him about
the circumstances of his defection. He said one day he was brought
in to watch training films. They were going to alter his training,
to teach him how to fire with his MiG upon civilian crowds in Ha-

vana, because of the fear of insurrection.
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I hope and pray that pohtical transition in Cuba comes without
violence. But in the final analysis if, as in so many cases that oc-

curs, we may be at least able to rest with our conscious secure in

that a third of the uniform personnel of Cuba are being demobi-
lized because of the fmancial pressures of the embargo.
The Cuban Air Force is largely not flying. Most of its planes have

been demobilized, and the Cuban Navy is not sailing, intercepting
and abusing people on the high seas.

It may not be in our power, tragically, to avoid violence. But in

the final analysis, this embargo, if it comes, will have lessened the

extent of that violence.

Finally, before yielding I only want to say too, Mr. Rangel, all of

us live with the historical burden in Latin America and around the

globe of the unfortunate associations this government has had with
dictators through the years. That is a burden that our generation
bears. It should cause to all the higher standards.

There is nothing I can do about the tragedies of Duvalier and
Marcos and a host of other people. Only try from this point forward
to create a better standard; that we judge democracies and dicta-

torships differently. And that while there may be hypocrisy in

many places in the world, we do have policies to try to bring politi-

cal nonviolent change.
Mr. Rangel. I agree, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. TORRICEIJJ. That is the standard I am trying to arise to.

Mr. Rangel. I agree, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. ToRiucELLi. Ms. Ros-Lehtinen.
Ms. Ros-Lehtinen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I also want

to echo those sentiments that you had expressed, and we have had
numerous conversations, private and public, about the goals that
we share, and the goals of democracy in Cuba, and the problems
of the continual violations of human rights there. And I think there

are some concrete steps that we can take together in order to bring
democracy to my native homeland.
But every time that I hear someone being so worried about the

bloodletting or how we get to democracy, it usually worries me be-

cause it seems to portray an excessive obsession with the road to

democracy rather than, gee, let us try to reach that goal, which is

democracy in Cuba. So, I am not as obsessed with this bloodletting

question as others are, because I believe that there are some alter-

natives out there and we are busy pursuing those, and I think this

legislation goes a long way to getting us to that road in a non-
violent way.

I look forward to working with you, as I have stated to you many
times, on those human rights questions, and I think that we have
a lot in common in that area.

And, Congressman Diaz-Balart, I wanted to ask you a question.
You have had many direct dealings, daily dealings with balceros,
Cuban rafters who nave come here, people who have come to seek

freedom and democracy.
Can you give us an insight, and the audience an insight as well,

some of them who have not had this opportunity, what is the feel-

ing of the people who are coming into our shores daily of the pros-

pect for change in Cuba? What is their feelings about the so-called

economic reforms which Castro has tried to put into action in
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Cuba? Have they had a positive effect? Have they further divided
the community? We hear a lot about these economic reforms. Just
the other day, in the Washington Times, the Washington Post or
Wall Street Journal there was a glowing article about these eco-
nomic reforms and the people's reaction to it.

Can you give us either your perspective or the perspective of the

recently arrived refugees about how they see these changes taking
place and what the future bodes for them?
Mr. Diaz-Balart. Thank you, Congresswoman Ros-Lehtinen.
It is true that you and I, along with Congressman Deutsch, have

the opportunity on a weekly basis to meet people who are new ar-

rivals on our shores.
I want to say that, with regard to the issue that you bring up

of the legalization of 100-plus occupations that the dictatorship an-
nounced some months back, that has created a situation where
there are x number of thousands of people, there is an estimate
that I have heard of over 100,000 people within the 11 million peo-
ple of Cuba, that are, pursuant to the legalization of those 100-plus
occupations, trying to survive on a daily basis obtain the only cur-

rency that is sought now by—and that is favored by the dictator-

ship, which is dollars. And so it can be said that 100,000-plus peo-
ple are now in a position where they can try to survive on a daily
basis, based on the fact that the dictatorship has legalized those oc-

cupations.
It is very important to realize by their being 100 plus occupations

that have been legalized, what does that mean? That it requires a
dictator to say you can now work at such an occupation. In other

words, all the other occupations conceivably, conceivable occupa-
tions in the world are illegal unless they are some sort of author-
ization or permit by the dictatorship.
What I am trjdng to say is that macroeconomically the produc-

tion of the economy is not going to be affected. There is not going
to be any success in the economy by virtual of the legalization, this

minute legalization permitted by Castro.
And one thing I want to point out with the new arrivals, because

this is important, because they are not here, but their voice de-

serves to be heard. Their point of view, and I stress this because
what has most impressed me is that I have not heard one diver-

gent point of view with regard to this, they say "maintain the em-

bargo and expand it." And they are aware of the Haitian embargo.
They are aware of the international concerns that the Haitian dic-

tatorship has aroused and caused. And their questions overwhelm-

ingly is why is there not international solidarity with regard to the
Cuban situation.

With regard to what they ask us to do, is to maintain our policy
of solidarity, and to not relax or certainly not to lift our trade em-
bargo.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Ms. Ros-Lehtinen, if you would yield for 1

minute. Mr. Rangel needs to depart. I wanted to thank him for

being with us today and for sharing your view.
And all the issues aside upon which there might be disagree-

ment, perhaps in your leaving I could make one suggestion upon
which I think we might agree.
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We may not be able to end the dictatorship in the time table we
would want, or have a government that we think would meet inter-

national human rights standards. But maybe in the interim there
is this much we can do. The Rapporteur of the United Nations In-

vestigator on Human Rights, Amnesty International, and Americas
Watch, if at a minimum we could get them the right to visit jails
where students are now held in preventive detention, where others

are held for political offenses, where there are allegations of torture

and abuse, if at a minimum some of these institutions—one of

these institutions could get access, it would be an enormous con-

tribution.

Members of this committee are obviously not in a position to

write Mr. Castro and make this suggestion. As an advocate of

human rights, a person who I think has been fair to the Cuban
people, and your own stature, perhaps other Members of Congress,
your own writing, communicating with the Cuban Government,
asking for this concession to basic human rights would be very
much appreciated and an enormous contribution. And I wanted to

leave that thought with you before you left today.
Mr. Rangel. Let me grab that thought and run with it.

First, let me thank the commii.tee for its courtesies, and more
importantly, its patience. I think we have come a long way in

agreeing that we all have the same common goal, and the disagree-
ment is how to reach it.

I, for one, as an American will not tolerate someone that we are

trying to help, their people just telling us that a poor condition
does not exist. How we satisfy ourselves that conditions have im-

proved, deal with a lot of politics that diplomats play in terms of

sovereignty.
However, I have already shared with those people that are con-

cerned about the embargo, that the question of human rights is not

going to go unanswered. It is not going to go unanswered. And if

there are so many people that are supporting the United States or

that are knowing the U.S. embargo and doing business with Cuba,
and they are our democratic friends, they have an obligation to us.

If Castro wants to stonewall us, we cannot do anything about it.

But we can to the President of Mexico, of Colombia, of Costa Rica,

people who are human rights people, and ask them too to join in

this, in sending a board over there.

So it is not perfected, but I understand exactly what you are say-

ing, and I agree with you lOQ percent, and let us work together
when we can, and whatever differences we have only political solu-

tions, and it should not interfere with our ability to work together.
Thank you very much.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you very much for being with us.

I apologize for interrupting. Did you want to ask Mr. Diaz-Balart

anything further?
Ms. Ros-Lp:HTrNEN. I wanted to ask him his thought perhaps on

the suggestions that we had been talking about, getting other coun-
tries involved in sending someone to Cuba to examine the prisons,
and is it not his understanding that we have tried in many occa-

sions to try to get different countries to cooperate with our human
rights campaign, and try to highlight the repeated violations of

human rights in Cuba, have asked other countries to participate in
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that ongoing campaign with us. And I would say that the response
has not been overwhelming. In fact, in many instances, some of

those countries where they have an opportunity to give an inter-

national forum to the dictator in a Hemispheric Congress of Demo-
cratically Leaders, of which Castro should form no part, yet there
he is in those forums.
But I wanted to ask his opinion of past records, and certainly

there is always room for improvement, and we are ever hopeful
that countries can join us in our campaign, and if he could en-

lighten us on that issue, as well as the efforts being made on the

internationalizing of the embargo, which I know is of long concern
to the Congressman.
Mr. Diaz-Balart. Well, Congresswoman, as you know, Castro

has had no better friends than, for example, the Prime Minister of

Spain, Mr. Gronzalez; the President of Mexico, President Salinas de

Gortari; the President of Colombia, President Gavedia. They have
consistently tried to, through their advice, and they have pleaded
with Castro, and pleaded with him to please reform, and he ignores
them. The difference is that they continue to support Castro in

every way they can, despite the fact that he ignores them and even

laugns at them.
The difference between our policy and our convictions and these,

for example, heads of state that I have mentioned, or governments,
is that while they say in public that they in private have told Cas-
tro to reform, have asked him to reform, after Castro laughs at

them in public, and ignore them, I am sure ignores them as well
in private, they turn around and encourage their businessmen to

invest. Or for example, like President Gavedia a few weeks ago an-
nounced that they are going to enter into a further commercial alli-

ance that has to do with the provision of petroleum.
Pleading with Castro does not work. I mean, it has been 35

years. Even his best friends have tried. So it is obvious that what
we need to do is to be on the side of the Cuban people, not on the
side of the Cuban tyrant. The Cuban tyrant is not going to change.

Like Chairman Torricelli said, listen and read to what the Cuban
tyrant says. He is the best source for what he thinks, and he said
time and time again that he is entitled to be there, he said very
recently, until he dies; and that he has his concept, his semantic

concept of the revolution, which he uses to justify the destruction
of the country, the elimination, in effect, of the means of produc-
tion, and the maintaining of power until he dies.

We have to, first of all, not permit that he continue to steal that

concept. That using this concept of revolution, he continues to

maintain that he can be there for life. His friends have tried to ad-

vise him. It does not work. So we have to stand on the side of the
Cuban people, and like I say, discuss measures, such as the inter-

nationalization of the embargo, and perhaps other measures, to

help the Cuban people with our solidarity, accelerate the process
of liberation, and not think that by helping Castro out we are going
in any way encourage reform because just as in the case of Spain,
it was required for General Franco and his hand-picked successor,
Admiral Cahero Blanco, to leave the scene.

Ms. Ros-Lehtinen. If we can shut that door a second, would you
be kind enough to do that?
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Mr. Diaz-BaIv\rt. Yes, that is a good idea.
Just as in the case of Spain, it was required for General Franco,

who was in power as you know 39 years, and his hand-picked suc-

cessor, Admiral Cahero Blanco, it was required for them to be gone
from the scene before there was a transition. And then the Span-
ish, even people who were historically antagonistic towards each
other, were able to get together and work on a democratic transi-
tion. Just as that was possible in Spain, in Cuba, I am convinced
that the elimination from the scene of the Castro brothers is re-

quired for all the other Cubans to get together and be able to
achieve a democratic transition.
So one of the important things about the Menendez bill is that,

as has been brought out, it states officially that those members of
the armed forces of Cuba who do not shoot their brothers and sis-

ters have nothing to fear from the people of Cuba, much less from
the United States.

But is important that they realize that they are going to be
counted on not to shoot on their brothers and sisters. The Cuban
people are already in an insurrection state as we saw in Cojimar
and as we saw in Regla, and that is going to increase because the
Cuban people have a tradition of seeking democracy. And if they
fought 100 years to get rid of colonial Spain, it is simply unreason-
able to think that they are not going to fight, continue to fight to

get rid of—to get rid of this tyranny.
They will be free, and what the Menendez bill says so eloquently

and so importantlv is that the United States will continue to be on
the side of the Cuban people, and not the Cuban tyrant.
Ms. Ros-Lehtinen. Thank you for your leadership on this issue.
Mr. Diaz-Balart. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for your

courtesy.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you very much. Thank you for being with

us.

The committee will now hear from Ambassador Alex Watson, As-
sistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs; the Honorable
Mark Schneider, Assistant Administrator for Latin America and
the Caribbean, USAID.
Gentlemen, thank you for your considerable patience, and for

your willingness to be with us today.
We have both your statements. We have had more than ample

time to read them. However, we would invite any summary that
you would like to make of them.

Mr. Watson, please proceed.

STATEMENT OF ALEXANDER F. WATSON, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY OF STATE FOR INTER-AMERICAN AFFAIRS, DEPART-
MENT OF STATE
Mr. Watson. Thank you, sir. I thought with your patience, Mr.

Chairman, I might just say one word about the tragic situation in
Mexico before we proceed.
Mr. ToRRiCELLi. Please.
Mr. Watson. I believe that all Americans were shocked and hor-

rified last night by the senseless assassination of Louis Donaldo
Colosio, the energetic, young Presidential candidate of the PRI,
who had given so much to his country and had such a promising

83-875 - 94 - 2
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future. And we extend our most profound condolences to Dr.
Colosio's family, to all Mexicans in this moment of painful bereave-
ment.
And if I may, I would just like to read into the record a brief

statement from President Clinton issued this morning.
Mr. TORRICELLI. I actually, however, would like to hear it. If we

can just suspend just one more minute until people could take their
seats and we can get the doors closed.

[Pause.]
Mr. TORRICELLI. Would people try to get to their seats quickly,

please, and if someone would be so kind as to close the door?
Please proceed.
Mr. Watson. President Clinton spoke with President Salinas late

night and offered his personal condolences and offered whatever
support we could provide to Mexico in this crucial time. And then
this morning he issued the following statement:

"I am profoundly saddened to learn of the brutal assassination
of Louis Donaldo Colosio, the Presidential candidate of the Institu-

tional Revolutionary Party, in Mexico. I deeply deplore this sense-
less act of violence and have conveyed my deepest sympathies to

the Mexico people and to the family of Mr. Colosio, his wife and
two young children.

"Mr. Colosio dedicated his life to public service and to the better-
ment of his nation. It is particularly tragic when an assassin's bul-
let slays a man who still had so much to contribute to history. It

is a great loss, not only for Mexico, but for all of North America.
"I telephoned President Salinas de Gortari shortly after midnight

last night, to express my sorrow and that of the American people,
and to offer my condolences to the Colosio family. I told President
Salinas that the United States stands ready to assist Mexico in the

coming days in any way we can."

That is the end of his statement.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you very much.
Mr. Watson. Mr. Chairman, thank you for very much for this

opportunity to discuss The Free and Independent Cuba Assistance
Act of 1993. The bill strikes an important, forward-looking note,
and we fully support its objective to facilitate a peaceful transition
in Cuba from a totalitarian to a democratic form of government. I

am also pleased to have my first opportunity, speaking personally,
to speak directly to the people of Cuba through the good offices of

Radio Marti, which is broadcasting this hearing.
We agree with the intent of the authors of H.R. 2758 to look be-

yond the end of the current regime, and to articulate ways to build
trust and confidence between the United States and the people of
Cuba. Such steps could hasten democracy's return to Cuba and, in

this sense, the bill is a welcome parallel and extension of the
Cuban Democracy Act.

As demonstrated by the Cuban Democracy Act's passage just a

year and a half ago, the Congress and this administration are real-

ly of one view regarding Cuba. And our current policy consists of
two tracks, as called for in that act. The first track is continued

strong enforcement of a comprehensive economic embargo in Cuba
until such time as there are democratic reforms and respect for

human rights. With the second track, we are reaching out to the
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Cuban people through expanded telecommunications, an increased
flow of information, and private humanitarian assistance.
And I believe the committee is aware that under the terms of the

Cuban Democracy Act, the Federal Government has licensed more
than $8.5 million worth of humanitarian donations to nongovern-
mental organizations. And we are working very closely with nu-
merous groups interested in delivering aid licensed by Treasury to
individuals and nongovernmental organizations, including the

groups mentioned by Congressman Rangel. And we have worked
very closely with the Archdiocese of New York and of Boston to fa-

cilitate the shipment of the medicines that Congressman Rangel
was talking about. We are trying to simplify the procedures for hu-
manitarian assistance so even more will be able to be provided to
make sure that even more private aid reaches the Cuban people.

I think the Cuban peoples best friend is the United States. We
will continue to help them in their search for freedom and prosper-
ity. This emphasis on directly helping the people of Cuba presages
the interest we will take in assisting their efforts during the transi-
tion from the current regime and in becoming a friend and ally of
a future democratic Cuba as laid out in Mr. Menendez' bill.

Let me briefly provide the administration's comments on H.R.
2758. We share your desire to see the Cuban people exercise their

right to determine their country's future. The choice of their lead-

ers, as the bill notes in section 3, is exclusively theirs to be made,
and I quote, "free of interference by the government of any other

country," in the privacy of a voting booth.
The bill accurately outlines the economic disaster that the cur-

rent regime has imposed on Cuba. A free market economy, in our
view, would reduce the current physical suffering of the Cuban peo-
ple and help restore their dignity.

It is incomprehensible that Cubans cannot find fresh fruit or
even sugar to buy. We believe that once the creative talent of the
Cuban people is unleashed in a free market setting, prosperity will

soon return to their country.
And with this in mind, Mr. Chairman, I was particularly struck

by section 4(g) of the bill, which asks that the President commu-
nicate to the Cuban people U.S. plans for assistance. The Cuban
people should know that the U.S. Government and the American
people will be ready and willing to help them back on their feet
once they are freed from the political and economic ruling of more
than three decades of socialized mismanagement. They can count
on us.

That said, Mr. Chairman, no one knows when change will come
to Cuba, and it would be difficult to develop a comprehensive plan
of assistance now without knowing what Cuba will need, what
sorts of assistance a democratic Government of Cuba will ask us
for, or when it will make that request. And for these reasons, we
would prefer not to tie ourselves to a specific plan now, but rather
be ready to use all of the tools available to us in what is sure to
be a rapidly evolving situation.

Mr. Chairman, as you are aware, the administration has submit-
ted to Congress the Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act, which
substantially revises and updates the Foreign Assistance Act. This
proposed legislation recognizes the need to revise the decade-old or-
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igin of our foreign assistance legislation and would provide greater
responsiveness and accountability needed to advance the core is-

sues of U.S. foreign policy in a constantly changing world.
We will need flexibility to promote our economic security and de-

mocracy interests. And particularly relevant for our conversation

today is a subchapter in the administration's proposed legislation

concerning programs for "countries in transition." This section of
the legislation reemphasizes our commitment to "promote the de-

velopment of functioning democratic institutions and political plu-

ralism," and "address political, economic and humanitarian needs
that arise in connection with transitions" throughout the world.
We believe this countries in transition authority provisions in our

proposed legislation would address many of the issues covered by
the bill being considered today and would provide statutory author-

ity to govern the provision of assistance to a transitional Cuban re-

gime. An important feature of the proposed legislation is that it

would enable the President to develop and carry out effective policy
responses to unpredictable and fast changing situation—just the
kind of situation which we may face in Cuba.
As we prepare to work with the Congress on these issues, in con-

nection with the Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act, we will also

want to work with this committee so that that act—when that act
become law, we can support additional country-specific legislation
that is consistent with and makes use of the authorities of the

Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act.

In addition, we will want to work with you on legislation to over-

come restrictions on U.S. dealings with a post-Castro Cuba in areas
other than the provision of foreign assistance, some of which are
touched upon by the bill before us today. Among those would be
resolution of outstanding U.S. citizen claims, and restrictions on

authority to enter into trade agreements, for instance.

Change is coming to Cuba. It certainly is. However it happens,
it will have a profound effect on the United States. And as we work
toward common goals, we will value continuing consultation

through the administration. Members of Congress and congres-
sional committees regarding U.S. policy toward Cuba. We want to

continue to work to build even more bridges to the Cuban people
now through private humanitarian assistance and increased flow of

information. This cooperation will be even more important once the
Cuban people are free. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Watson appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you very much, Ambassador.
Mr. Schneider.

STATEMENT OF MARK SCHNEIDER, ASSISTANT ADMINIS-
TRATOR FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN, U.S.

AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Mr. Schneider. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a pleasure to be

able to participate with Assistant Secretary of State Watson in to-

day's hearings on the proposed Free and Independent Cuba Assist-

ance Act. Let me say that we enjoyed your discussion with the first

panel. I think it was an effort, and a successful one, to indicate the
mutual concerns of people with differing views on how best to
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achieve democratic change in Cuba and ensure that this change
brings about respect for human rights in Cuba.
Mr. Torricp:lli. Thank you.
Mr. Schneider. The U.S. Agency for International Development

looks forward to the time when a democratic Cuba can become an
active development partner in the Western Hemisphere. The
Cuban people deserve the rights guaranteed in the international
human rights covenants: the right to decide how they are governed,
and by whom, in full, free and fair elections; the right to speak
their minds; to publish; to organize; to choose their occupations; to

participate in free markets; and to raise their children in an atmos-
phere of freedom that encourages them to reach their full potential.
We anticipate the day when Cuba can join us in the Western Hemi-
sphere's community of democratic nations.
As this legislation proposes, we at USAID are trying to keep

abreast of the rapidly changing circumstances in Cuba so that we
can be poised to respond to humanitarian and development needs
when the time comes.
A little over a year ago, the Office of Research of the Department

of State and the Bureau for Latin American and the Caribbean of
USAID commissioned the Cuban Research Institute of the Latin
American and Caribbean Center at Florida International Univer-

sity to give us a snapshot of current economic and social conditions,
the general political environment and the trends that those experts
saw. Those reports have been made available to the subcommittee.

Let me summarize briefly.

Politically, they found that Cuba remains a closed society with-
out access to fundamental due process and guarantees, with no im-
mediate change in sight. These studies also confirm that Cuba is

in the midst of an unparalleled economic crisis precipitated by the

break-up of the Soviet Union.
A study by Jorge Dominguez estimates that between 1989 and

1993, Cuba's Global Social Product declined between 50 and 60

percent; imports declined from $8.1 billion to $1.7 billion; from
1989 to 1992, oil imports were dropped by more than a half, from
$13 million to $6 million. Since that time, as Chairman Torricelli

mentioned there have been some limited steps taken with respect
to the economy. However, it is the consensus of those experts we
have contacted that those steps will not be sufficient to reverse the
deterioration in Cuba's economy.
There were indications that Cuba's social safety net has eroded.

Carmelo Mesa Lago, in his contribution to the study, indicated that
a number of key drugs are in short supply; there is a lack of spare
parts for medical equipment, ambulances and water pumps; and
fuel shortages have resulted in power blackouts. Supply limita-

tions, according to the study, even resulted in insufficient paper in

classrooms.
There are also indications that food shortages may be leading to

increased malnutrition. Those studies are an important starting
point in determining future humanitarian needs. However, the in-

formation needs to be updated continually, and that database will

be essential to design appropriately targeted assistance programs.
I am pleased to report that, based on this bill, the USAID Ad-

ministrator, Bryan Atwood, has requested that the Latin American
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Bureau at USAID coordinate a new effort to reach out and form a
network with the many think tanks, universities, international or-

ganizations and other agencies that are examining developments in

Cuba, so that we may, as you stated, anticipate the genesis of a
democratic Cuba.
We will reach out to the scholars who participated in the pre-

vious studies, and to others, in order to pursue the goals outlined
in this legislation. And we have already begun establishing con-
tacts with the many U.S. nongovernmental organizations that now
provide food, medicines, and medical supplies to nongovernmental
organizations and private citizens in Cuba under the Cuban De-
mocracy Act.

As Assistant Secretary Watson noted, we are very pleased that
the Federal Gk)vernment has been able to license more than $8.5
million worth of humanitarian donations. Over 60 percent of that,
I should note, has come in the past 6 months. Many of those orga-
nizations, such as Catholic Relief Services, are organizations with
which we work throughout the world. Therefore we will be quite
able to quickly develop new relationships with those organizations
whenever the U.S. Government authorizes direct assistance to a
transitional government in Cuba. Our ability to rapidly initiate

that program of humanitarian assistance will be enhanced by the

relationships we already have with these international PVO's.
Let me also state that we commend Congressman Menendez, the

chairman, and the subcommittee for the policy direction provided
in the proposed Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act. It di-

rects our attention to the importance of having a strategy and a

plan of action ready to address Cuba's needs at the moment of
transition in Cuba.
As you know, the administration has embarked on a new effort

of reform with respect to the foreign assistance legislation
—the

Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act. In this effort, we are work-

ing closely with Congress to establish the objectives of our foreign
assistance programs.

I would note three of those titles: Title IV, Humanitarian Assist-

ance; Title II, Building Democracy, focusing directly on countries in

transition; and Title I, Sustainable Development. All involve au-
thorities that we would hope to consult with the Congress on how
we would use those authorities, to design and carry out an assist-

ance program for Cuba.
At the time we prepare to initiate that program we obviously will

be fully engaged with you in designing that effort. We look forward
to consulting with you on the parameters of the proposed assist-

ance program, on its costs and how best to meet emergency needs.
After 35 years, Mr. Chairman, it is clear that we may finally be

approaching the transition to freedom in Cuba, a time when the

people of Cuba will have the right to chart their own democratic
future. The United States must be prepared, as you said, to accom-

pany them on that journey.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Schneider appears in the appen-

dix.]

Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you very much, Secretary Schneider.
Mr. Menendez.
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Mr. Menendez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to thank the Assistant Secretary and the Administrator

for being here and for their comments. If nothing else, based upon
what you have said to me today, Mr. Schneider, we have moved
ahead by having Administrator Atwood seek to have what I have
been calling for for some time, which is to go ahead and have a co-

ordinated effort and to begin to think about and prepare for a post-
Castro Cuba. So I am happy that you have, I guess, preempted one
of my questions, which was both for the State Department and for

USAID, as to what type of contingency plans do we have now.
I will presume that based upon that statement we do not have

what we would like to have and are going to work toward getting
one. Is that a fair statement?
Mr. Schneider. I think it is fair to say that we do not now, but

we are getting the information on hand which would permit us to

prepare one.

Mr. Watson. May I just add one sentence. Congressman
Menendez?
Of course, we are working, and have been for many months now,

on contingency plans dealing with the possibilities of mass migra-
tions in a variety of circumstances, and we are pretty far along in

that process.
Mr. Menendez. One of my concerns, I note in both of your testi-

monies you refer to the Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act as
the act by which you could accomplish some of the goals that we
attempt to accomplish through the Free and Independent Cuba As-
sistance Act. And my concern is, first of all, since we have you here
let me reiterate and wave my sabre again, along with the chair-

man, that I would feel a lot better about that if the Latin American
development aspects of it, and wording at Latin America existed in

the Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act; and that in fact funding
that went from $2 billion in the late 1980's to $700 some-odd mil-

lion presently being considered was different. I would feel a little

better about that if those realities were different.

The other thing is, is that one of the things we attempt to do

through—I attempted to do through the legislation, and in speak-
ing to many of the cosponsors, is to presently send to the people
of Cuba a message, a beacon of light that I do not think we can
do through a greater Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act because
we talk about being able to deal with governments in transition.

But part of what our bill attempts to do is to send a message that
we will be in solidarity with a government in transition that does
certain things. I do not think we can do that through the Peace,

Prosperity and Democracy Act.

I am concerned that the message that we seek to send to the
Cuban military, which is not to create a coup but also not to turn

against their brothers and sisters within Cuba, cannot be done

through that broader act.

So those are just some of my initial responses to what both of

you have testified about.

Could you give me some response to that? Am I wrong, or do you
see ways to do that more effectively?

I know that there is a great push by both USAID and the State

Department to have this foreign aid rewrite and reform in a man-
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ner that is not limiting or specific or earmarked. But by the same
token, I am afraid that some of the messages we seek to send, part
of our foreign pohcy that we seek to accomphsh through my legisla-

tion, cannot be sent, as minimally, as clearly and maybe not as
well as what we propose.
Mr. Watson. Well, I think that if we are speaking with generally

one voice, as I think we are on many of the issues covered in your
bill, and we have a chance to do it like we are doing today directly
to the Cuban people, the message, I think, can get tnrougn. I think
that it is very important to note your section of your bill which
talks about our ability to cooperate with the armed forces of Cuba
in the transition and democratic phases. Not now, but later on.

I think it is also important to, as we are doing here today and
as your bill does, to state very clearly to the Cuban people that
whereas we will be strongly with a democratic Cuban Government,
we are already now strongly with the Cuban people, and we will

keep looking for ways to increase humanitarian assistance and the
flow of information and communications as laid out in the Cuban
Democracy Act, and touched upon again in your bill, Mr.
Menendez.
So I think that if we are consistent in the messages that we give,

not only from the administration but also from leaders like yourself
on the Hill on this issue, we can make our points loud and clear
to the Cuban people.
Mr. Schneider. Could I just add to that?
I agree with what Ambassador Watson has said. One issue is

how to find a way to communicate clearly the policy direction that
this bill provides and show the intent of the United States to re-

spond on humanitarian and, later, development grounds to the
transition to democratic government in post-Castro Cuba.

It was in that effort that I emphasized in my testimony support
for the policy statement and the goals. My only concern was with

respect to altering the structure of the PPDA as it is now drafted,
in terms of providing flexibility to do precisely what you want with

respect to countries in transition and countries where humani-
tarian assistance is needed.
Mr. Menendez. Let me ask you, Ambassador, you have on your

statement on page two in the next to the last paragraph, "No one
knows when change will come to Cuba nor what condition the

country will be in once it starts to make its inevitable transition

toward democracy, and it would be difficult to develop a com-

prehensive plan of assistance now without knowing what Cuba will

need, what source of assistance a democratic government will ask
for or what requests it will make."
My concern with that statement is, is that having read the report

that Administrator Schneider spoke to and many other reports
from those who specialize on the Cuban economy, we have a great
deal of knowledge as to what in fact Cuba will need, and what in

fact the potential assistance we might be asked for, and what in

fact what assistance we would be able, within the ambit of our
overall assistance program, be able to provide.

My concern is, again, that we would wait for a moment in time
when we know progressively, as we continue to monitor this, what
in fact we should be poised to do.



37

Am I reading your paragraph maybe too limitedly? I mean, you
are not saying that we are going to wait, I hope, to be prepared
to offer a response?

I mean, if in a month from this hearing there was a change in

Cuba, where would we be in terms of our ability to respond, and
would we not be using all the information that we spent U.S. tax

dollars to determine, in fact, the present set of circumstances to be

responsive to?

Mr. Watson. I think I take your point, and I think that you are

reading my words here a little more narrowly than I would read
them.

I think the basis point that in the first instance we have to do
more coherent and better analysis in order to be able to predict as

best we can, even though it will be very difficult, we will have to

keep flexible. We are not quite sure what we will be faced with at

that time, as Mr. Schneider has just said, Brian Atwood has asked
AID to start doing, in terms of what kind of assistance.

I think we are already looking, as you are, at some other legisla-
tive questions that need to be dealt with at the time we move for-

ward. 1 do not think we necessarily want to start making changes
in legislation at this point. I think the Cuban Adjustment Act and
other things like that. We certainly do not want to do that now,
but we have to be thinking how we would be doing it.

I would think that we would as we get—if our analysis indicates

that change is coming closer in Cuba and that we have a clearer

idea of what sort of needs would need to be met, then I think we
would have a more coherent idea of what kind of packages to put
together in terms of assistance, and not just U.S. assistance.

I mean I think we have to think very carefully, and you have
touched on this in your bill, both the multilateral development
banks and others, to which Cuba does not belong now, but we
might want to be thinking about how to make their resources—it

would be a lot more than we do—available to Cuba in the shortest

possible time for the kinds of things that would make most sense
for the reconstruction period; not only that, but also other govern-
ments that have manifested a great interest in Cuba, and also the

private sector, and also a tremendously valuable resource, which
are the Cuban citizens living outside of Cuba now in many coun-
tries that have demonstrated a generosity and tremendous talent,
have resources and interest in helping. All these things need to be

thought about, how these resources can be brought to bear so that

the Cuban people inside people, as they determine their own fate,

can best take advantage of these resources. And we have to be

thinking about all these things as we move forward.
I do not think that right now we can start to define specific pro-

grams. I think that, in fact, there would be some element of acting
at the last minute. There would have to be. We would have to come
to the Congress, say this is how we analyze the situation, this is

what we think we will need, what do you think; see if we can work
out something on that, as we have done in Eastern Europe and
with Russia. There will always be some element of that, but we can

prepare for it as best we can. I think that is the thrust of your leg-
islation and that is the thrust of what we are trying to do.
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Mr. Menendez. I have two final questions if I may, Mr. Chair-
man.
One is, the nonbinding policy statements in the section 3 of the

bill which refer to U.S. respect for the self-determination of the
Cuban people as a national and sovereign right which encourages
the Cuban people to empower themselves with a government that
refiects their self-determination, and that even talks about the pos-

sibility of something that the Castro government uses continuously
as a sign of alleged U.S. imperialism, the Guantanamo Bay U.S.
Naval Base to Cuba and the possibility of, under a democratically
elected government, of returning that to Cuba.
How significant do you see, from a foreign policy view, these

nonbinding statements to be?
Mr. Watson. Well, I would want to analyze them more

closely
before giving you an absolutely definitive statement. But I think

they are unexceptionable. I think they are important to recognizing
to support the self-determination of the Cuban people, recognizes
the self-determination of the Cuban people is a sovereign and na-
tional right and they must be free of interference by the govern-
ment of any other country. I cited that one in my testimony. And
encourage them to empower themselves with the government re-

flects the determination, self-determination of the Cuban people. To
be prepared to provide the Cuban people with humanitarian devel-

opment and other economic assistance, et cetera. I mean going
through these things, I think they are powerful statements, very
valid.

Mr. Menendez. One that the United States, you believe, would
be supportive of?

Mr. Watson. I would have to go look at them a little more care-

fully. But, in general, I would say yes. On the question of the
Guantanamo base, I do not think we are in a position to commit
at all at this stage of the game. So you are going a little further
than I think we would be ready to go.
Mr. Menendez. Well, I am not seeking your commitment. I am

asking—I did not get a commitment on anything today. But I did

get some positive statements. I am not seeking your commitment.
I am simply saying is that a possibility for negotiation?
Mr. Watson. I certainly think there is a possibility.
Mr. Menendez. I appreciate your comments since we are not

only speaking here, but speaking to the Cuban people.
And my last question. Administrator Schneider, let me ask you

this. You said we cannot have a comprehensive plan now because
it is not reasonable to expect that we could be developing a com-

prehensive plan because of the desire to have some flexibility to re-

spond to circumstances.
But is it not reasonable to have a comprehensive emergency re-

lief plan? Our bill deals with two portions. One is emergency assist-

ance to a transitional government versus longer term assistance. Is

it not possible to have that assistance, which will be crucial for the

Cuban people to know that there will be—that the United States
would be in solidarity with them; that they would not be left alone
as we continue the embargo, which I support; that they would have
some vision that we would be helpful to them if there was some

change within Cuba?
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Mr. ScHNEinF:R. I do not have any problem in responding to the
last statement. Yes, there would be no question that the United
States will be ready to respond with respect to emergency relief

when that time arises.

My only concern was being able to say that a plan designed with

great specificity today is going to be able to meet the extent or

magnitude of the needs some time in the future. What I can say,
and what I thought that we were aiming at, was to bring together
the information necessary to estimate at this point the level of hu-
manitarian needs and continue to update that estimate. At a point
in time when there is a need to respond, we then would have the
structure of that proposal essentially put together.
Mr. Menendkz. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Thank you very much.
Ambassador Watson, a njoment on Mexico, if I could.

Mr. Watson. Sure.
Mr. ToRRiCELLi. Is there any reason at this point to know or to

suspect that this was part of any wider attack on the Mexican Gov-

ernment, or whether it is an act of the two individuals who are al-

leged to commit the assassination?
Mr. Watson. There is no information to suggest the former at

this point. I talked to our embassy last night and the first thing
this morning, and neither we nor the Mexican Government, to our

knowledge, nave any antecedents on these two fellows. They are
both in detention now.
Mr. TORRICELLI. One of the alleged assassins, I understand, has

extensive family in the United States. I assume the law enforce-

ment agencies of the U.S. Government are put in a cooperative
mode with the Mexican Government or any contacts that might be

necessary?
Mr. Watson. I have to believe they would. The President told

President Salinas last night we would cooperate in any way we
could, and including that way.

Mr. ToRRiCELLi. Is there an existing procedure for how the Mexi-
can Government proceeds, I mean how the party proceeds in select-

ing of a new nominee?
Mr. Watson. I think I—it is difficult for me to respond too pre-

cisely to that question. My understanding is that there are rules

concerning who is eligible and who is not, and people who are still

serving in the government, on the government payroll would not

be, because they would not have resigned early enough.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Let me understand this. Someone who is cur-

rently in the administration.
Mr. Watson. At high level positions. I am not quite sure

how
Mr. TORRICELLI. Is not eligible.
Mr. Watson. That is mv understanding.
Mr. TORRICELLI. How nigh level a position do you have to oc-

cupy?
Mr. Watson. I just simply do not know how high.
Mr. TORRICELLI. For example, could you be in a position of being

a negotiator?
Mr. Watson. My understanding is that a person like Mr.

Camacho, or a person like Mr. Harando, the president of the party,



40

or a person like Mr. Cedio, who is the campaign manager to Mr.
Colosio, people like that would not be
Mr. TORRICELLI. Are not eligible.
Mr. Watson. Would not be ineligible.
Mr. TORRICELLI. Would not be ineligible. I see.

Mr. Watson. But people who are currently serving in the cabinet
would be. But this is a complicated Mexican political question, and
I do not want to be put in a position of responding absolutely de-

finitively on that. That is my understanding after talking with our
Ambassador first thing this morning.

Mr. TORRICELLI. Very good. I do think, from hearing your discus-
sion with Mr. Menendez, your own views have been made clear to

me with regard to the legislation, and I appreciate very much your
participation here today
Mr. Watson. Thank you very much.
Mr. TORRICELLI [continuing]. The submission of your testimony

and your cooperation. Thank you very much.
Mr. Watson. Thank you.
Mr. TORRICELLI. The subcommittee will now receive testimony

from Ambassador Reich, former Ambassador to Venezuela, former
Assistant Administrator for U.S. Agency for International Develop-
ment; Dr. Sergio Roca, Department of Economics, Adelphi Univer-

sity; and Mr. Frank Calzon, Washington Representative of Free-
dom House.

Gentlemen, welcome. If you could take your seats, we could pro-
ceed. Thank you very much for your patience today and for your
willingness to participate, helping the subcommittee as it proceeds
with this legislation, and welcome.
Ambassador Reich, if you would like to proceed. We do, of course,

have any written testimony that was submitted and without objec-

tion, it will be placed in the record. I would urge you to summarize
it if you would since it is available to us to read, and providing
time then for to ask questions.

STATEMENT OF OTTO REICH, FORMER AMBASSADOR TO VEN-
EZUELA, FORMER ASSISTANT ADMINISTRATOR FOR U.S.

AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Mr. Reich. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will summarize the

statement. I, of course, appreciate the opportunity to present these
views. I want to commend you and, in particular, Mr. Menendez for

the initiative represented in this legislation.
I think H.R. 2758 deserves support because, unlike other meas-

ures designed to lift the embargo unilaterally, this recognizes the
need to condition U.S. assistance on economic and political reforms

by a new Cuban Government. It builds on the Cuban Democracy
Act, and it will not offer an undeserved lifeline to the current gov-
ernment.
What it does call for—the specific conditions for resumption of

U.S. trade and assistance programs—is based on respect for human
rights, free elections, civil liberties and market-oriented reforms
that will encourage a transition toward democracy on the island.

It will do so by reminding the present government of its obligations
under international law on issues such as property claims, labor

freedom, human rights, and others.
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If those proper conditions are created, I believe Cuba could once

again resume being a leading economic performer in the Western

Hemisphere. I do not want to get into the same debate that Con-

gressman Rangel and Lincoln Diaz-Balart got into, but the fact is,

as Congressman Diaz-Balart mentioned
Mr. TORRICELLI. Please.

Mr. Reich. Please go ahead.
That the facts are there. Cuba always led the hemisphere in so-

cioeconomic development. It did have a per capita GNP and socio-

economic levels equivalent to those of Italy and Spain in the 1950's;
not just Italy, but also Spain. If, for example, in relation to the

Cuban population today, the same GDP were present, Cuba's GDP
today would be about $30 billion, instead of what it is today.
Mr. ToRRiCELLl. If what had occurred?
Mr. Reich. If the same GDP growth, per capita GDP growth had

continued with the population growth what it is today, Cuba's total

GDP today
Mr. TORRICELLI. You extrapolate it out from the 1950's?

Mr. Reich. Yes, sir.

Mr. TORRICELLI. I see.

Mr. Reich. Would be about 10 times what it is today. In fact,

later on in my testimony I mention the fact that the Cuban-Amer-
ican—the Cuban emigre community, its GDP is two to three times

that of the entire island of Cuba. Now, of course, people will say,

well, that is not fair because we get paid in dollars and most of the

Cubans on the island, of course, do not, but that is part of the prob-
lem.

In spite of 35 years of Marxism, on the island, I think there is

still a base for viable industries. We all know what they are. Not

just agriculture, but tourism and others. However, as with any
transition economy, no amount of bilateral or multilateral assist-

ance will be sufficient to improve conditions unless the new Cuban
Government provides a welcome environment for private enter-

prise, trade and investment.
All we have to do is look at the examples of the former Soviet

bloc countries. Some, for example, like Czechoslovakia, which have
transferred businesses into private hands are doing well. Others,
like Russia and Ukraine, which have not, have squandered many
billions of dollars in resources.

For Cuba this lesson is particularly important because its hard

currency reserves are so low that right now the signing bonus of

Baltimore Orioles baseball player, Raphael Palmerio, equal all of

Cuba's hard currency reserves.

The reason for that decline is obvious. It is the economic policies

of the government of Castro, which does not provide incentives to

the people to work and for the economy to grow.
Much attention has been paid to the measures implemented last

year and announced by Castro on July 26, to allow people to hold
dollars and to decriminalize several kinds of nonprofessional
trades. However, less attention has been devoted to Castro's recent

reversal of some of these reforms after he railed against capitalism
at the December 28 meeting of the National Assembly. That forum
trimmed a number of self-employment categories, banned the ere-
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ation of private restaurants, and prohibited unofficial t£ixis from
visits to airports and hotels.

The transition, Cuba's transition from communism to democratic

capitalism, will require major economic, social and legal restructur-

ing. We believe that only with the onset of fundamental economic
reforms can these programs contribute to a solid foundation, and
that is one of the reasons why I support H.R. 2758.
We believe that human rights have to be included, as has been

mentioned here today. It is very important to take into consider-

ation labor conditions, Mr. Chairman. Cuba is one of the few coun-
tries in the world ever to be cited by the International Labor Orga-
nization for forced labor, violation of forced labor conventions, as
well as others which I list here in the testimony.
Even if one were to put aside those political and human rights

and labor concerns, other conditions must exist in order for private

enterprise to contribute to the economic recovery of Cuba. H.R.
2758 requires that a democratic government in Cuba is moving to-

ward establishing a market-oriented system and an independent
judiciary in order to qualify for U.S. aid. We list some of those
benchmarks: rule of law, contract sanctity and due process; protec-
tion of property rights, and it is very important, Mr. Chairman, to

take into consideration the fact that the U.S. Government has
warned potential purchasers of properties on the island that they
may be receiving stolen property if they make any investments or

joint ventures in Cuba. I think that the issue of claims against con-

fiscated property, particularly productive commercial enterprises, is

very important in order to give investors the confidence they need
to contribute to Cuba's economic development in the future.

Other of these benchmarks include: secure money and capital re-

patriation—which Cuba does not allow, even Vietnam allows it—
and independent operation of enterprises. For example, currently
none of those people who are allegedly investing on the island can
contract directly with their employees. They have to do it through
the government.
Another is consistent and uniformly applied commercial laws.

But I want to add at this point also, Mr. Chairman, that the

emergency assistance provisions of this legislation are very impor-
tant. I was very happy to see one of my successors, the Assistant ,

Administrator of AID for Latin America, mention here that AID is

going forward with studies to look at the necessary emergency as-

sistance measures because my experience in government, frankly,
and this is not a criticism of the current administration, it is also

a criticism of the two administrations that I served, that I do not
think we were fully prepared for all the contingencies possible in

Cuba, and I think your legislation does address that.

I agree with you there is a need to develop these plans. I think
that has been discussed at length with the previous witnesses, be-

cause I think what happens in Cuba will affect us very directly.
I mention in the testimony some of the things that AID and

other agencies, such as Defense and others, can do to contribute to

a timely reaction on the part of the U.S. Government. There are

a lot of resources in the United States, not only in the government;
a lot of resources in the private sector, private voluntary groups,
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the Cuban-American community, which I mentioned earher, and
others.

Finally, I would like to say that I believe when a stable, demo-
cratic and market-oriented Cuba finally opens its doors to competi-
tion and commercial opportunity, U.S. companies will be second to

none in providing goods and services to this market.
As I mentioned, I think the Cuban-American community will

lead that revival because of its prosperity, and I believe this legis-
lation does lay the groundwork for that economic recovery by focus-

ing the attention of the U.S. Grovernment in the proper direction.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Reich appears in the appendix.]
Mr. Mp:nendez. Thank you very much, Ambassador.
Dr. Roca.

STATEMENT OF SERGIO ROCA, PROFESSOR OF ECONOMICS,
ADELPHI UNIVERSITY

Mr. ROCA. Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman. I am honored to be
invited to provide testimony before this body on the topic of Cuba.
I have been studying the Cuban economy for 30 years. I was bom
in Havana, and I have visited the island four times since 1979;
most recently in May 1991.
On the whole, I think that H.R. 2758 constitutes an important

contribution to the development of U.S. policy toward Cuba, seek-

ing to assist the island in a smooth and peaceful transition to a
democratic and market-oriented society. This bill breaks new
ground and is forward-looking in several ways: its provision for an
even-handed treatment of individuals and entities seeking to form
a future government; the proposal to return the Guantanamo Base
or at least renegotiate the existing agreement; the provision for as-

sistance to the Cuban military; and the allowance of sufficient time
for the holding of free and fair elections. All of the above, I think,
represent a welcome change in direction in that it attempts to pro-
vide some minimum level of incentives for the potential actors in

the transition process.

However, with a view toward its improvement, let me express
several concerns and reservations about some of the provisions of

this bill.

First, the bill provides "for assistance to the people of Cuba once
a transitional government is in power." My point is: can something
be done to nudge the process alojig, to attempt to facilitate change?
Though forward-looking in intent, the bill remains reactive in na-

ture. I would argue for some degree of proactive U.S. policy toward
Cuba in modest ways, such as increasing human contacts, cultural,

scientific, academic exchanges, et cetera; expansion of family visits

to and from the island; and increased telephone communications.

Systemic change will not fiow from these interactions, but the

long process of transitional change will be greatly facilitated by
them. Let me emphasize the lengthy nature of the transitional

process.
I agree, and I have said so many, many times, that Castro and

his close associates have been reluctant, indeed recalcitrant, to en-

gage in substantive reform. But, nevertheless, economic reform has

proceeded along from conditions existing in 1990, if slowly and with
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many and severe limitations and restrictions. The process of eco-

nomic reform in Cuba will be long and difficult, just like the ones
that transformed the former Soviet Union and Eastern Europe and
unleashed the great changes in the Chinese economy, and these

took 20-plus years.
I believe Havana started on the road to economic reform again

in 1990, in response to the disappearance of the Soviet bloc. But
the gestation period is measured in years. As a guess, I am sticking

my neck out once more, I would say it will be 4 to 5 years from
now to the point of transition to a market economy. Along the way
detours and retrenchments will be common.
There is now an ongoing internal economic debate between two

opposing camps: those who recognize the need for financial stability

only; they are concerned with the budget size and financial equi-

librium, and want to attack that problem and leave it at that; and
those who argue for macroeconomic stability, plus subsequent com-

prehensive reforms.
The open and free-wheeling exchange of views on budget deficits,

income taxes, and public subsidies between Castro and Finance
Minister Rodriguez at the National Assembly meetings last Decem-
ber, I believe, is reflective of the intensity of the current struggle
over policy. And I think the next few months will be critical about
this.

Economic reform has started, even against the wishes and con-

trary to the efforts of Castro, even though I am sure we all know,
and I would be the first to admit, as he has done many, many
times before, he can become a decisive blocker of change. But under

present conditions of complete lack of alternatives and absolute

economic ruin, I think that the reform process is autonomous, re-

sponds to systemic imbalances pressuring the island's economy,
and is imbued with a dynamic force that carries it forward and ex-

tends its domain.
If the economic reform process turns out to be lengthy and com-

plex, the usefulness of a more proactive U.S. policy becomes more

apparent.
Next point, it bears remembering that Cuba remains a sugar-

based economy, and that any recovery plan must include a signifi-

cant role for that industry. I believe this bill must make provision
to include at least a partial restoration of the Cuban sugar quota,

perhaps at half a million tons a year. This is a very difficult politi-

cal question, involving domestic producers and foreign countries,
but that is not my problem. That is the Congress problem. Down
the road other tough decisions about Cuba's role in the world econ-

omy include the issue of NAFTA membership.
Lastly, this bill's clear and resounding support for the self-deter-

mination of the people of Cuba and its assertions about national

sovereignty are extremely important in promoting a positive re-

sponse to the document in the island. For many decades, if not cen-

turies, Cuban nationalism has been a powerful force, shaping the

course of the island's historical development.
In this context, the provision in section 8.3 that the transition

government should not include Fidel and Raul Castro and persons

appointed by them may prove troublesome in terms of the imple-
mentation of the act. In most transitions from totalitarian or au-
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thoritarian regimes to democratic governments in the last few

years, the holders of power have participated in the process: the
Sandinistas in Nicaragua, Pinochet in Chile, ARENA in El Sal-

vador; DeKlerk in South Africa. In different forms, this experience
has been replicated in Russia, in other CIS Republics and even
some Eastern European countries.

This is an excruciating decision, but one which will determine
the applicability of the act. A "hard" condition, such as it now ex-

ists, will likely generate little response from the Cuban side, even
from the incipient reformist factions. If we agree that change in

Cuba is to be undertaken by the Cubans themselves, then the bill's

provisions must reflect that condition and provide the necessary fa-

cilitating circumstances.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Roca appears in the appendix.]
Mr. Menendez. Thank you, Dr. Roca.
Mr. Calzon.

STATEMENT OF FRANK CALZON, WASHINGTON
REPRESENTATIVE OF FREEDOM HOUSE

Mr. Calzon. Mr. Chairman, I am honored to appear before the
subcommittee today to share my views about Cuba, U.S. policy to-

ward the island
Mr. Menendez. I am sorry to interrupt. Would you use the

microphone?
Mr. Calzon fcontinuing]. And Congressman Robert Menendez'

efforts to help the Cuban people in their struggle toward a demo-
cratic, pluralistic and free market society.
As Washington Representative of Freedom House, I have been

fortunate to meet many men and women from around the world,
who like the Cubans today, suffer under dictatorial regimes. Free-
dom House is a bipartisan, independent human rights organization
founded in 1941 to oppose German fascism. Since then, Freedom
House has promoted human rights and democracy at home and
abroad. Our current chair is Bette Bao Lord.
Freedom House strongly endorses the goals embodied in the leg-

islation presented by Congressman Robert Menendez to provide as-

sistance to the Cuban people after the demise of Castroism and
during the expected transition period toward democracy, political

pluralism and a market economy. A society dedicated, in the words
of Cuban patriot and poet, Jose Marti, to the "full dignity of man."

Mr. Chairman, I would like to summarize my statement, but I

would like to request that the full statement be included in the re-

port.
Mr. Menendez. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. Calzon. Mr. Chairman, Cuba is at a standstill today. A visi-

tor to the island recently wrote to me: "Cuba is for sale. Cuban
men and women are for sale. Cuban children, male and female, are
for sale." This is one of the outcomes of Castro's political experi-
ment in the heart of the Western Hemisphere. The Cuban crisis re-

sults from a system proven bankrupt everywhere else it has been

tried, and Castro's mismanagement, cruelty and ineptitude.

Having said all of that, of necessity the most important consider-
ation for the U.S. Congress has to be America's national interest.



46

What can the United States do to deal with a situation in a way
that will minimize its negative impacts on the United States?
There is no question that given the current crisis in Cuban immi-

gration, pressures will continue to rise, and the number of refugees
will no doubt increase if there is widespread bloodshed. Another
concern is the issue of public health. If there is an epidemic among
the Cuban people, weakened as they are by years of shortages of

basic nutrients, or a crop blight, or a Chernobyl-type nuclear acci-

dent in the island's nuclear reactors still under construction, the

United States will be affected.

So it is not only out of humanitarian concern, or as a response
to the pleas of the Cuban-American community that the United
States should look at Cuba today.

I recently accompanied Alina Fernandez, Fidel Castro's daughter,
to the meeting of the United Nations Commission on Human
Rights in Geneva. At a press conference there she said, "Havana
is a city without dogs and without cats."

"Havana is without dogs," she said, 'TDecause the people have got-
ten rid of them. A dog is an extra mouth that most Cubans cannot
afford to feed." "The price of cat meat," she added, "fluctuates on
the black market." This is a country where, for more than 20 years,
when a child reaches the age of 7, he or she is no longer able to

receive milk. Ms. Fernandez, like most Cubans, knows who is re-

sponsible. "All the ills of Cuba," she said, "have a name: Fidel."

This is why those who blame America first and would like to lift

the U.S. trade sanctions against the Castro regime are so mis-
taken. They can only blame the United States by ignoring the na-

ture of the Castro regime. Castro maintains a Stalinist paradigm.
He imported from the old Soviet Union not only a political philoso-

phy but Stalin's repression, including the use of psychiatric hos-

pitals and electroshocks as punishment against sane dissidents.

The internal opposition to Castro, as well as most of the opposi-
tion in exile, have publicly renounced the use of violence. At a min-

imum, Havana should be required to terminate the rapid deploy-
ment brigades. These groups of government-sponsored thugs ap-

pear in the homes of dissidents, breaking furniture, smashing win-

dows, beating up human rights activists. When the police arrive,
instead of arresting them, they arrest the dissidents for disturbing
the peace. These "angry people," as Fidel has called them, travel

in trucks in a country where gasoline is rationed, and use walkie-

talkies only available to Cuba's security forces.

Any reevaluation of U.S. policy toward Havana must be condi-

tioned on concrete and demonstrated internal reforms. The cases of

Chile and South Africa provide examples of how such a policy can
be put into effect. Why not ask for free and fair elections, a free

press, the rule of law and the restoration of a free labor movement?
For the United States to begin normal relations with Havana,

the Cuban Government must begin to behave in a normal fashion.

I would like to say to Congressman Rangel and others who advo-

cate precipitous changes in U.S. policy that the obstacles to normal
relations are neither in Washington nor in Miami, and to some ex-

tent, not even in Havana. The obstacle is Fidel. He must stop his

policy of violence against those who seek peaceful change. Those
who advocate lifting of U.S. trade sanctions, ignoring the current
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outrages, carry a heavy moral responsibility. They are contributing
to the maintenance of the status quo in Cuba.

Finally, Congressmen Menendez' approaches are significant for

four reasons:

One, in opposition to so much reactive U.S. policy, he attempts
to outline a course of action before the storm hits. It alerts Amer-
ican Government agencies to the need to give serious consideration

to both policy and policy implementation toward the Cuban crisis.

It is a sound effort because it promotes the interests of the Cuban
people while protecting fundamental American interests.

Two, to those in Cuba or elsewhere who continue to give some

credibility to Castro's nationalist rhetoric, and who have forgotten
his internationalist ambitions, it says in very clear language that

the American people have no interest in dictating Cuba's future. It

is up to the Cubans.

Three, to the Cuban military. Congressman Menendez' initiative

says that once Cuba is free the United States is ready to negotiate
the U.S. naval base in Guantanamo, and it seeks a way of helping
ameliorate the impact of the inevitable downsizing of Cuba's mili-

tary.

Four, finally, to the Cuban people, already aware of the generos-

ity of a neighbor who opened its doors to more than 1 million fellow

Cubans, it says that America is willing and able to provide help,
as it had done many times elsewhere; but that, as I indicated be-

fore, external factors are much less important to the resolution of

the Cuban crisis than the repressive nature of the regime and the

courage of thousands of men and women in Cuba whose only pro-
tection against the wrath of a police state is their love for freedom,
the sacrifice of many others on the island who try to help them,
and the solidarity of the outside world.

Congressman Bob Menendez attempts to help Cuba, not Castro.

His concern for the Cuban people has been a constant of his public
life. The Congress and the President could do much worse than to

give serious consideration to the prudent, yet imaginative ideas

contained in his initiative.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Calzon appears in the appendix.]
Mr. Mknendez. Thank you very much, Mr. Calzon.
I want to thank all of the panelists for their testimony. Let me

start with Ambassador Reich.

I do not want to take credit for the response I gave to Mr. Ran-

gel, the historical response that the only country in the Eastern
bloc countries that had a bloody move toward democracy was in

fact the only one that the United States gave an economic benefit

to via the Most-Favored-Nation trading status. I owe that historical

fact to you, and I appreciate you having, in past conversations, said

that to me.
I would like to, just before we get to some specific questions on

the bill and then to turn to my colleague, Ileana Ros-Lehtinen, ask

you this.

We hear so many references to, well, we lifted the Vietnam em-

bargo, and so we should automatically lift the Cuban embargo, and,
in fact, that the waves of democracy and respect for human rights
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and all those things will collapse simply, simply by the lifting of

the embargo.
Can you differentiate both of them for me, and tell me whether

the second premise has some strong foundations or are they weak
in nature?
Mr. Reich. Well, no, I mentioned, in fact, a couple of examples,

Mr. Chairman, where Vietnam has moved much farther ahead on

the road to economic freedoms. We obviously should not fool our-

selves that it has become anything but a one-party state. It is still

that.

But in the apparent search for common ground that took place
this morning, everybody seems to agree that we are all looking for

a way to replace the current dictatorship in Cuba with a democ-

racy.
In the case of Vietnam, that search has been preceded by eco-

nomic steps such as allowing, for example, individuals to go into

business for themselves and not be controlled by the government
as they still are in Cuba.
The contract with employees is an example. The fact is that if

a Spanish or a Mexican or a Canadian entrepreneur comes in and
wants to manage a hotel or build a hotel, that they contract with

their suppliers and even their employees through the state, and the

state then gives to the employee what the state decides is a fair

wage, and that fair wage is a starvation rate. And yet they see, of

course, the state deriving all the benefits from the foreign invest-

ment.
Those are just some of the examples. And your mentioning the

case of Romania is important because there is a feeling
—because

we live in a free society, because we believe in free trade and free

enterprise and a lot of other things that we tend to take for grant-
ed—we seem to think that the free market can overcome anything.
I would like to believe that, because I am a believer in the free

market. But when a government has totalitarian control over all of

the means of production and all of the means of communication
and information in a society, the free market cannot operate.

And, unfortunately, there are still some conservative Republican
free market friends of mine who have been confused lately by some
of the measures in Cuba. That is why I mentioned here today that

in spite of the reforms announced last July, some of them have
moved forward, but the government has been taken by surprise, I

think, by the extent to which people are willing to go into business

for themselves, and they are beginning to back off.

Now, if the United States could do something to encourage the

move toward free enterprise in Cuba, and if that were the way to

lead toward a democracy, and that if that would lead to this peace-
ful transition we are all looking for, I do not think anybody would

oppose it.

But I would be happy to give you more examples— I do not want
to monopolize the time—on the differences between Cuba and Viet-

nam. I would be happy to submit that for the record.

Mr. Menendez. Sure, we would like to have it.

Let me ask you this. We often hear—I recently heard, I think,
in the hearings that were held a week ago, that 90 percent of all
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domestic production in Cuba facilities are privately owned, 90 per-
cent. Is that a correct statement?
Mr. Rkich. No, sir. I believe in the countryside some are, but the

proportion is probably the exact opposite.
Mr. Mknkndkz. Ten percent, maybe 10 percent?
Mr. Rkich. Perhaps my colleagues have better information, but

I believe that 20 percent of agricultural, some agricultural produc-
tion may be in private hands. It all depends also how you measure

it, because it could be more than 20 percent of the total agricul-
tural output. I mean, we know a lot of things about communism
now, and it is just amazing that after everything we have seen

since the fall of the Berlin Wall and the opening up of all those so-

cieties on the other side of that wall, that people still think that

anything but free enterprise can help a country come out of pov-

erty.
If you measure total agricultural production, which of course you

cannot measure in Cuba because the government controls all the

statistics, it may be that agricultural production in the hands of in-

dividuals out-paces that of the state, it is possible. But in terms of

the total output or GDP—in private hands, I do not think the total

domestic product in Cuba has more than 10 percent, if that rpuch,
in private hands.

Mr. Mknkndez. Dr. Roca, let me ask you. With reference to Cuba
and its agricultural ability.

Mr. ROCA. Yes.

Mr. Mknkndez. I have often been told that Cuba has one of the

most fertile lands in the Caribbean, if not the hemisphere.
Mr. ROCA. That is true.

Mr. Mknkndez. Has great production capacity.
Mr. ROCA. Yes.
Mr. Mknkndez. Then if that is the case, what presently prohibits

the production that would feed the Cuban people and take a good
deal of their present lack of basic sustenance away?
Mr. ROCA. Through a simple answer. The economic system

under which they operate.
Mr. Menendez. Describe for me how so, how so is this a fact, the

production capacity not move forward.

Mr. ROCA. Well, they have, up until recently and maybe this is

the confusion about the 80 percent, 90 percent, recently has been
a change in the land tenure systern as between state farms, govern-
ment-owned farms, cooperatives and private farmers. The break-

down used to be about 80 percent or so state farms, about 15 per-
cent or so, or 10 percent co-ops, and the rest, the few remaining,
private farmers.

They have now attempted to improve the situation by allowing
more and more co-ops to be formed, and be run as cooperatives
with a lesser degree of state control over what is produced and so

on and so forth.

In my estimation, that still remains excessively under state con-

trol. It is not a real co-op form. Prices are not determined by the

market. Farmers are not really free to plant and sell what they
want, where they want and so on. And in fact that becomes the

source of the difficulties.
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The level of agricultural output, in fact, for most of domestic con-

sumption items, tubers and vegetables and rice and fruit and so on,
has remained rather stable for the last 10-15 years. So this is

something that predates the demise of the Soviet Union and the

subsequent reduction in Cuban inputs. They have never, never
been able to get agriculture right. This is the case in all centrally
planned economies. They have some level of efficiency, at a small
level but still in industry and so on. But agriculture has always
been the sore point.
The huge farms with no cost control, with central orders to

produce, with no interest in producing for the consumer. In fact, in

many cases the productivity of many private farms or co-ops ex-

ceeded that of the state farms, as in the case of sugar and others.
Mr. Menendez. Are you aware of any domestic investment ac-

tivities that would increase productivity significantly in Cuba?
Mr. ROCA. No, I think that because of the drop in national in-

come and therefore the reduction in capacity, the investment ratio

is way down. But even if it were to go up, it seems to me very clear

that unless you change the entire system, you are still carrying
water in a strainer; you can do it as fast as you can, but you are

going to lose all of it because it simply is not—is not being done
in the right way.
So the problem with the Cuban economy is very simply a sys-

temic problem. It is common to all centrally planned economies.
And unless and until they realize that that is the problem and it

must be changed, they are going to be simply trying to stay above
water.
Mr. Menendez. Let me ask you this, and then I will turn to Mr.

Calzon. Did you follow the—I mentioned earlier in one of my re-

marks Mr. Salchaga's list of reforms to the Castro government, the
former fmance minister of Spain.

Mr. ROCA. Yes.

Mr. Menendez. The recent visit by one of the— I think there was
the Belgian director of the International Monetary Fund.
Could you relate for the subcommittee what some of those re-

forms suggested were?
Mr. ROCA. Well, the Spanish Minister had more specific reforms

in terms of, in fact, he told them point blank you have to redo the
whole thing. You have nothing here. You have no accounting sys-
tem. You have no price system. You have no legal system, no bank-

ing system period.
The IMF report is more general because they have to be more

diplomatic about these things. But, of course, it pointed out to the
Cuban government that they had to move in the direction of mar-

ket-type reforms; gave them advise as to what was happening in

the Soviet Union and in Eastern Europe, and offered to contribute
whatever know-how they had accumulated in that respect. In fact,

they gave them a whole stack of documents and reports about the

progress in these transition economies.
Mr. Menendez. Thank you.
Mr. Calzon, let me ask you. You had the benefit of being in Ge-

neva. We heard this morning from my colleagues on the House of

Representatives who seek certain goals, such as democracy and re-

spect for human rights.
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Could you tell me what the focus of the testimony was in Geneva
as it related to the ultimate decision by the Human Rights Com-
mission to once again vote in denouncing the Castro government's
human rights violations? Would you give us a sense of that for the
subcommittee?
Mr. Calzon. This year, once again, the Commission received a

report, a catalogue of violations of human rights in Cuba, abuses
in prison, and the systematic denial of human rights. The Cuban
Government had a very active campaign, trying to prevent the ap-
pointment of a new investigator for the coming year. They failed.

No Latin American Government voted with the Cuban Govern-
ment. No former Communist government from Eastern Europe or

indeed the Soviet Union voted with Havana. I believe Havana had
nine votes, counting their own, which included China and Libya,
that do not have high credibility around the world as far as human
rights are concerned.

In spite of the fact that the Rapporteur is a Swedish diplomat
with very high credibility, whom everyone says is a professional,
Havana continues to deny him access to Cuba. So he has not been
able to travel to Cuba, although he has received voluminous re-

ports from human rights groups in Cuba, from the Cuban commu-
nity abroad and from people who travel to the island.

And so I do not quite understand why Congressman Rangel, if

I understood him correctly, could say that there is a lack of infor-

mation. Amnesty International certainly publishes a lot of informa-

tion, as does Americas Watch, and Freedom House. So it is not a

question of lack of information, but the inability of the inter-

national community to convince the Cuban Government to stop
these abuses.

Mr. Mknendez. Do you believe that Cuba can successfully rep-
licate Communist China's models of political repression and at the
same time economic liberalization?

Mr. Calzon. The economist in the panel here is Dr. Roca. To
date the reforms are geared more toward obtaining hard currency
and exports than in trying to release the productive energies and
to ameliorate the suffering of the Cuban people.

If the Castro government really cared about the welfare of the

Cubans, he would do what Dr. Roca suggested; allow the Cuban
farmers to grow and sell, and suddenly tomatoes and oranges and
milk and chicken and other things would be available in Havana.
The problem is that Castro has a conflict between providing food

for the Cuban people and political control, and until now he has
chosen the road of political control.

Mr. Mp:NKNnKZ. We have heard from various sources about the
number of people in Castro's jail for both political dissent and for

other purposes, and I am not quite sure how to even categorize
them, because in my view they are almost all political prisoners
and their members are dramatically rising.

Does Freedom House have any sense of that from the sources
that it speaks to?

Mr. Calzon. We continue to receive information. Cuba is not

only a Communist regime, but a Stalinist dictatorship. Sometimes
even here in Congress people forget the distinction. In Eastern Eu-

rope in the 1980's, there were reforms that Castro would not allow
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in Cuba. Cubans go to prison for things that are not crimes

throughout most of the world.

I read a news story last week reporting that the Cuban police

were searching the cars coming into Havana of Cubans who had
tried to go to the countryside to buy food to feed their families.

That could be a crime in Cuba and they could go to prison for that.

There is also something called enemy propaganda. Distributing

copies of the Universal Declaration on Human Rights could get you
imprisoned in Cuba.
Mr. Menendez. Even though Cuba is a signatory to the docu-

ment?
Mr. Calzon. That is right. There are crimes like contempt. If

somebody says something critical of Castro, they could go to prison
in Cuba. The Castro government not only imported the Marxist

philosophy and the economic model into Cuba, but also the means
of repression. Those who are familiar with Stalin's system in the

old Soviet Union understand very well how it is possible that

Cuban dissidents spend time in psychiatric institutions, or are

given electroshocks because of their peaceful opposition to the re-

gime.
I think that those who talk about concern for the suffering of the

Cuban people due to the U.S. embargo should not remain silent

any longer. There is enough suffering in Cuba that ought to de-

mand the attention of Congress. Those who have other policy views

ought to do what they can to talk to the Cuban Government, to

bring to an end some of these things.
Mr. Menendez. One last question in this vein. There is a sense,

as I heard somebody in a recent testimony say that everybody sup-

ports Castro back in Cuba. I find that very hard to believe. Cubans,
once they get here, what they say once they are here, without fear

of the possible reprisals that exist, some of which you have de-

scribed, tell a much different story. Those who have come to my
district, which is the second largest concentration of Cuban-Ameri-
cans in the nation outside of southern Florida, and those who I

have visited with in southern Florida tell me a much different

story.
Do we still have the committees to defend the revolution, and

what is that exactly, for the purposes of the subcommittee's infor-

mation? And what are the activities that we read about that you

may hear about as an organization that human rights activists

speak constantly about? What are the activities? Do we see signs
within Cuba of peoples' dissent, as difficult as that dissent might
be?

Mr. Calzon. Let me answer—I think there are two points that

you made here.

One is the ability to measure levels of support in the absence of

a free press and the ability to conduct public opinion surveys. It is

very difficult to get a very precise idea of how many Cubans sup-

port Castro. But I would argue that the level of support for the dic-

tatorship in Cuba is not greater than it was among the Czechs or

the Poles or the Romanians or any of the others who have suffered

under a dictatorship.
If Castro had an overwhelming level of support, as has been ar-

gued elsewhere, I do not see the need for him to deny access to the
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Special Rapporteur of the United Nations. I do not see why he is

so afraid of allowing a couple of hours of television to enter Cuba
if in fact he has such great support. I do not understand why then

he has not only the committees for the defense of the revolution,

but the rapid deployment brigades that go around beating up peo-

ple.
So it seems to me that in Cuba you have an ironic situation in

which, of course, the people are afraid of a political police, but they
are also afraid of what could happen to them. But I think in a very

strange way, Castro is very afraid of the Cuban people.
Mr. Mknendez. What about the incidences in Cojimar and Regla,

and what we read about los apagones or blackouts? Do we have a

sense of that?
I mean, to me, that is remarkable in a very closed security-driv-

en, tightly held society. And they may seem insignificant to others,
but they seem to be significant beginnings to me.

Mr. Calzon. Well, we continue to receive information about inci-

dents and about the willingness of the human rights community
within Cuba to stand up to the regime. Two things very important

happened last year. One, the pastoral letter from the Bishops, and

two, in answer to requests from Felipe Gonzalez, the Prime Min-

ister of Spain, the Cuban authorities talked to several prominent
political prisoners in Cuba. Sebastian Arcos Bergnes, Yndamiro
Restano and Alberto Pita Santos, among others were told that the

Spanish Government had asked for their freedom and that they
could be released, but they had to go directly from prison to the

airport. They would be expelled from Cuba. These very brave lead-

ers of human rights groups in Cuba remain in prison today because

they refused to be expelled.
The issue of South Africa was mentioned earlier. Perhaps a day

will come when some of these leaders, as in the case of Nelson

Mandela, will be released from prison, not to be expelled from the

country, but to be part of a Cuban solution.

Mr. Mknendkz. Ambassador Reich, do you want to say some-

thing?
Mr. Rkich. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I wanted to add something.
This whole question of the ability of totalitarian regimes to con-

fuse visitors is something that I think has puzzled a lot of us who
have studied it. In fact, there is a very good book on the subject
which is probably out of print now, but it was written about 10 or

12 years ago by a Hungarian refugee, somebody who had lived

through the Hungarian Communist experience and had fled. Paul

Hollander, who is a professor—I think at that time he was at

Princeton—he wrote a book called "Political Pilgrims," where he
documented the numerous times over decades where mostly West-

ern intellectuals went to visit these Utopias that were in effect to-

talitarian regimes, and came out singing their praises because they
saw only what they wanted to see.

I mean, let us not forget that people went to Russia under Stalin

and said, "I have seen the future and it works." They went to Viet-

nam at the height of the repression there. They have gone to Cuba.

By the way, I am told that Hollander is now at Harvard Center

for Russian Studies. My friend, Frank Calzon, is updating me here.

But that is one example. Another that is more recent is
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Mr. Menendez. I liked it when he was at Princeton. He was in

New Jersey. [Laughter.]
Mr. Reich. Another example to show you how we really cannot

measure what is taking place in a dictatorship is Nicaragua. It was
a dictatorship, obviously, under the Sandinistas, and all of us op-

posed it. But it never reached the levels of repression that exist in

Cuba today. And even there, when American pollsters went down
to try to find out how the Sandinistas were going to do in the elec-

tions, they had the Sandinistas winning that election right up until

the day of the election, by 17 points. They lost, I believe, by 15

points. So they were quite a bit off. And the reason was people will

not tell a stranger in one of these societies what is on their mind.
Mr. Menendez. In polling language, that would mean plus or

minus 32 percent.
Mr. Reich. That is right. That is how far they were off.

Mr. Menendez. Almost 34 percent.
Mr. Reich. I had a personal experience. I wrote my Master's the-

sis on Cuba while I was at Georgetown University. I went down to

Miami to interview people who had just left in what was then
called the Puente Aereo, the air bridge that had been set up after

1965, after a previous mass exodus, and these people were all met
by U.S. Grovernment officials or Catholic Church officials, and they
were in a building right off—right outside the airport, the Miami
Airport. And I asked for permission, through Georgetown Univer-

sity, you know, officially to go and interview these people as soon
as they were available because I wanted to find out what their feel-

ings were of Cuba.
And I interviewed quite a few, and many of them, of course, were

very willing to speak. But it was amazing the number of people
who were unwilling to speak. I remember this one man. I had a

tape recorder. I asked him, of course, for permission to tape record.

And he was not giving me any answers. And I said, why do you
not want to tell me? I said: "I nave not asked your name. I do not
know who you are. I am just interested in the conditions in Cuba
and what led you to flee, et cetera." And he says, "Well, how do
I know this is not a trick?"

I said, "well, look around. You are in Miami. There is the airport.
There is the American flag. There is—at that time—Eastern Air-

lines and Pan American and the others." And he said, "Well, how
do I know that this is not a trick and they just did not put us on
an airplane and flew us to Las Villas or some place, and this is a

place to just find out what we really think." That is what we are

encountering.
This is what is so difficult, frankly, for journalists and for aca-

demics and for others to understand, when they go to a place like

Cuba where people have been under surveillance for 35 years. And
you are right to focus on the Committees for the Defense of the

Revolution because that is the ultimate means of internal suppres-
sion. There is no better censorship than self-censorship, and that

is what Castro has been able to achieve. That is also why he has
failed miserably.

Mr. Menendez. Dr. Roca, one last question because I know you
have all been—waited a long time and have been very generous
with your time.
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What could Fidel Castro do right now without any U.S. assist-

ance to help Cuba's economy and to go ahead and put more food

on the tables of Cuban families without any U.S. assistance?

Mr. ROCA. Well, there are two options. The first one is take a

long vacation in Tahiti, and I am sure we can find some U.S. funds

to help him along.
The second, I think, would be even more difficult than the first,

and that is for him to step aside and let others take over. I do be-

lieve that there is a level of political leadership and technocratic

know-how in Cuba that would be able to carry the nation forward,
to introduce reforms and to move slowly in the direction of democ-

racy and market reforms given time and given incentives. But it

is this—this stumbling at the very top, the historical leadership of

the revolution that has been stuck there and that is completely re-

calcitrant in allowing for change to take place.
Mr. Menendez. So, in essence, it is his own unwillingness to cre-

ate market reforms that keep the Cuban people, to a large degree,
with the necessities that they have?

Mr. ROCA. Yes. But I do think that, given the present cir-

cumstances, as I said in my te.-iimony before, and the fact that

there is very little, if any, options that they have, that the dynam-
ics of the situation, the need to survive will create and is creating
enormous pressure, slowly with all kinds of on and off and back
and forward, to move in that direction within the next few years.
Mr. Menendez. And, finally, to all of the panelists, we heard a

lot in the beginning of this hearing about a bloody change, and my
hope in my bill is to send a message of hope to the Cuban people
that we would be willing to assist them immediately in a transi-

tional government, and ultimately in a much more significant and
dramatic way with a democratically elected government; and that
their choices would be broadened by the opportunity of knowing
that such assistance would be there which they presently are not

told that such assistance might in fact be there.

Can you give me, from either the economic or political experi-

ences, do you believe that is only possible, and if so, why, for a

change in Cuba to come, as Mr. Rangel suggests that it might,
without lifting the embargo, simply in a bloody vein, or are there

other possibilities?
I mean, is it possible to obtain greater international isolation? Is

it the fact that each time he turns an IMF person down, you know,
a figure down who tells them there are economic reforms that will

help the Cuban people, does that not continue to isolate him in

world opinion, and ultimately does this not create a tremendous
sense of pressure that he may be abandoned by those who support
his dictatorship, and therefore not necessarily have a blood coup?
Ambassador Reich, do you want to take a shot at that?

Mr. Reich. Well, I believe Rand Corporation did a study where

they examined the possibilities for change in Cuba, and I think

they came out with 10 different scenarios. This was on inter-

national changes. This did not include international isolation, for

example, which I will address in just a second. And they had a

range of possibilities, including, of course, a massive uprising,
which cannot be discounted, or a coup, or an assassination, any
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number of things; some of which, of course, did involve violence.
Some of which did not.

They included, for example, and perhaps they could be criticized
as wishful thinking, a spontaneous general strike. In other words,
the people finally reached the point where they are so physically
exhausted and hungry that they cannot or will not go to work.
Then, of course, what you mentioned earlier in your debate with
Congressman Rangel comes to pass, which is, what does the Cuban
military do at that point?

If they are forced to put the people back to work, do they side
with the people? Do they side with those who are giving the orders?
We already know from defectors that some of them will not fire.

Let us just hope that that is the majority.
But it does not have to be a violent scenario. As you mentioned,

five out of the six Eastern European satellites of the Soviet Union
had a relatively peaceful transition. In the case of Czechoslovakia,
there were a couple of deaths just at the last minute. But the one
case where there was massive bloodletting was in the case of Ro-
mania, where the dictator was an idealogue, who based his power
on the internal security police, who was out of touch with the eco-
nomic realities of the country, and, frankly, where we did not real-
ize the enormous human suffering that he had caused until later.

And I think that anything that the international community can
do to prevent that from happening is positive. And by that I mean,
frankly, I think the United States should convey to our trading
partners the fact that subsidizing the dictatorship in Cuba goes
against their own interests, because what is happening is what
somebody has called the Haitianization of the Cuban economy.
Castro is driving the economy further and further into the

ground. They are using oxen to plow, which they had left 30-40
years ago. The sugar harvest is now at such low levels that—per-
haps historically low levels. Certainly in 50 or 60 years, there
haven't been such low levels of the single principal crop in Cuba.
And I think the international community should be very careful of

doing anything that helps Castro financially.
And, in fact, to answer your earlier question about Vietnam, one

veiy important difference is in this question of claims. The total

claims against Vietnam, property claims, were $230 million, which
was less than the amount of money confiscated, or frozen assets,
in the United States from Vietnamese nationals.

In the case of Cuba, U.S. adjudicated claims alone total $2 billion
in today's

—I am sorry—$5.6 billion. It was almost $2 billion in

1960. In fact, it may be more than $5.6 billion, it may be over $6
billion now. That is one of the differences.

So anyway, that is in answer to several of your questions. But
there is no one single answer.

I also, frankly, have to say, my personal opinion, that some of the

people who are expressing concern about the bloodletting in Cuba
did not seem to be so concerned when they were opposing other dic-

tatorships that also deserved to be overthrown. And I think if there
is a double standard, it is not just on one side here.
Mr. Menendez. Anyone else wish to respond?
Mr. ROCA. I do firmly believe that a bloodshed can be avoided

in Cuba, and I think your bill is a good starting point in that direc-
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tion, in that there is a promise, and ultimately a guarantee from

the U.S. Government that there is something to be gained by the

Cuban people in a direct material sense in addition to the other

benefits that will flow from a change in government in terms of

freedom and democracy.
As I said in my testimony, I think that the additional material

contributed by Alonso and Lago are in the vein, with more specific

numbers, even though again it cannot be said or guaranteed that

it will be appropriated, out that there is something—some more
flesh in that outline.

Again, the question of the sugar quota is a crucial one; a very
difficult question for Congress to decide given the fact that it has
been now distributed among domestic producers in Florida and
elsewhere and other countries. But there is a real hope there in

that the worldwide sugar industry in fact is a declining industry,
and that in fact one slight blessing in this whole mess may be that

this drop in Cuban sugar output, even though it is very harmful
to the Cuban economy right now, may be an adjustment factor, be-

cause in fact there is not much future in that industry. So going
back to about 5-6 million tons could be a good thing to have al-

ready under your belt.

Mr. Menendez. Thank you.
Mr. Calzon. I would like to say that, of course, there is some-

thing to be said about what Waelav Havel called "the power of the

powerless," and I think it is a little bit ironic that some of the peo-

ple who talk about bloodshed in Cuba have been silent in many
cases for many years, particularly when Cubans were killing and

getting killed in Africa, for example. I think that the whole issue

of bloodshed is one that the Cuban Cxovernment continues to try to

manipulate. It is the Cuban Government who has the answer to

this question.

Everytime somebody talks about peaceful change, the Cuban
Government starts talking about the possibility of bloodshed. So if

the Castro regime and those around them would like to find a

peaceful answer, they ought to start talking with the Cuban Bish-

ops. They ought to start talking not with a few exiles who some-

times agree to some extent with them, but with the internal opposi-
tion in Cuba.

Mr. Menendez. Well, I want to thank the entire panel for having
testified. I have to go vote, which is something you cannot do in

Cuba freely. And I hope and I do believe that a lot of the testimony
that we have received today has been very productive and does

send a message, both what we heard before from the administrator
from AID about moving ahead, and from Ambassador Watson, in

terms of preparing.
Our desire is to send a message to the Cuban people that we are

in solidarity with them, but not with their dictatorship; that we
seek to be a good neighbor and seek to assist in very dramatic

ways. We are not against the Cuban military, but in fact seek to

recognize that there will be a role for them in a civil society, as we
helped the military in the former Soviet Union adjust to a life

under a civilian and democratic rule. We hope to continue the de-

bate, and we hope that the message that we have sent to the

Cuban people today, which is in an open democracy, a great oppor-
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tunity to have a full exchange of views. Even though those views
are very divergent, it is something that we hope can be seen very
soon in a free and independent Cuba.
Thank you so much.
The hearing is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 1:25 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]



APPENDIX

OPENING STATEMENT
THE FREE AND INDEPENDENT CUBA ASSISTANCE

ACT OF 1993

MARCH 24, 1994

Over the past three years, this subcommittee has

held a number of hearings on the topic of Cuba.

Among other issues, we have looked at the political and
economic situation in Cuba, the impact of the economic

embargo, the efficacy of extending the embargo, and
the implementation of the Cuban Democracy Act.

Today, we turn our attention to the transition to a

post-Castro government in Cuba. Our specific focus

will be on H.R. 2758, the Free and Independent Cuba
Assistance Act of 1993," introduced by a valuable

member of our subcommittee. Bob Menendez.

H.R. 2758 establishes a framework for U.S.

assistance programs once the President determines
that a transition government is in place in Cuba. It also

sets criteria that the President must use in defining a

transition government, and in defining whether that

government is indeed worthy of U.S. assistance.

(59)
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With no sign that Castro Is willing to reform, and to

change the fundamental nature of his totalitarian

regime, some may be wondering why the discussion

this morning concerns a post-Castro Cuba. But in fact,

the timing could not be better for such a deliberation.

The loss of an estimated $3.5 billion annually in

Soviet subsidies Is shattering communism in Cuba.

Indeed, there is consensus among top Cuba analysts
and scholars that the collapse of communism in Cuba
is imminent.

The signs of impending collapse are multiplying.
The list of items subject to rationing continues to grow.

Bicycles are replacing buses and cars as the dominant
mode of transportation. In the countryside, tractors

stand idle for lack of gasoline and spare parts, their

work now done by oxen. Factories are closing and

produce is rotting on Cuba's docks, for similar reasons.

In Havana and other cities, electricity blackouts are

expanding, while underemployed urban bureaucrats are

sent to the countryside to plant food and harvest sugar.

Castro's Cuba is confronting its worst crisis ever

and it cannot possibly escape it unscathed. In the end,
Castro will have to change his thinking or be pushed
aside.
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The former Is unlikely. After 30 years of totalitarian

rule, it Is doubtful that he will now be flexible enough to

adapt to the realities of the post-Cold War world.

Instead, he will be removed from power involuntarily,
either through defeat that is forced upon him or by
violence.

In light of the many complications that have
surrounded our efforts to aid newly democratic

governments in Eastern Europe and the former Soviet

Union, it is only logical that we begin consideration of

a post-Castro Cuba, just 90 miles off our own shores,
befo re the transition occurs.

Mr. Menendez has performed a great service with

his authorship of H.R. 2758. His legislation provides an
excellent vehicle for considering how the United States
can best assist a transition government in Cuba. By
beginning this debate now, we can ensure that when
change finally does come to Cuba, we will be ready to

assist it immediately.

We will be hearing this morning from three panels
of witnesses, including Members of Congress, officials

from the Clinton Administration, and a panel of Cuba
experts. We look forward to hearing their thoughts on
the Menendez bill and the prospects for a post-Castro
Cuba.
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a.r;.-)Lt9llfiatL-£:t. th« Honorabla Robart H«n>nd«i (P.W.J.)
fi4l2XA Mka. aubCQiaaiittaa on Wfrn Hamiflnhara Xggajf H^arlT^q
on H.F. 2756. ."Thi Pra« >nd Indap«ndMit Cuba Aflaintaaea Xet"

March 34, 1994

ThaiLi you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your holding chls
hearing •).'. this inpcrtant matter, and once again want to
recogniz^' y.^ur leadership role on this issue. I am confident
t>.at history will record that role as that of a visionary.

Tha'-'r 111 a virtual consensus among Cuba analysts Jrom
through dm: tiie ent-ie political spectrum -- and even aunong
foreign 'jovernmentis -- that Castro's Cuba is politically and
econojnically anachrcnistic and bankrupt.

The :oi;.apse of Communiem and the disirantling of the Bast
Bloc has lefi Cuba isolated and in a deep crisis. Castro's
politica.. di' catorship, which excludes and represses popular
particip. i;io:i, is net viaOale. Recent reforms to Cuba's external
economic sec or are insufficient -- and will be insufficient --
to lift ^^J.ba out o: its quandary. Such a failed system of
governme.i- 3..mply '^ennot be sustained internally. The genesis of
a new syri-en of government in Cuba, therefore, is inevitable.

C^obi r-aM yet "c begin a process of transformation away fro-ii
Coinnunis- d. -.tatorst- ip and a com:nand economy toward political
damocrac • iU'l an open economy. When it does, however, the U.S.
should b-' prepared tc nourish democratization and to encourage
privatiz '.r io:i in Cuta, as we have done in Eastern Europe and are
now attejipi^ug to dc in the former Soviet Union. Ultimately,
friendly r-jfl.itions v ith a free and independent Cuba will benefit
the U.S. •ironomically and politically.

AfCiC a long .ir d hard look at this issue, I concluded that
Che U.S. should ar.:jcipate a genesis in Cuba, rather than react
to one ori.y after Lt occurs. The U.S. should be prepared to act
today we.-^ -lie Cas:io regime to fall tomorrow. We must be
prepared for a cha:icie of regime in Cuba during the Clinton
AdminiBt :".atii)n.

I h-ive .ntroduc ed what I am confident is a forward-looking,
balanced, an.l proactive approach to the impending transition in
C'oba in t.ns orm of H.R. 2758, "The Pree and Independent Cuba
Assistan::^ A .•-

"
.

Thi I bi .1 basically provides for a twc-tiered assistance
prograjn '.a a post-CjiStro government in Cuba: first, to a
transiti m g )vernm'3i t , and next, to a democratic government.
Recogniz...ng ..lat both bilateral and multilateral assistance will
be requi.;2:l, 've hop* to lead an international effort to move Cuba
toward b^rom.ng a :x na fide and prosperous member of the
internat:.=na . comnrai ity.
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3ur pun'ose la cwo-foid: Flrsc, to create Incentives for the
Cuban pe-.)ple to iri\tlace a proceas of genuine transition to a

politici. liei'.ocracy and an open economy. Second, to lend the
Cxiban peMi- 1 « a hand in developing and consolidating a democratic
governneii-, <in open economy, and supporting institutions.

Th-2 focus of ^A e first phase, or the transition phase, of
;he asei.: :;-ni'9 prcjiaa is on solving Cuba's most immediate
probl eiTua. cs ablislJng contacts between the U.S. and the
transit i'>.: gi)vernm<;r t , and initiating a constructive relationship
with tha C':±)ikn mll-tary. The U.S. would begin to provide
energancy r**: ief , hLtr.anltarian agsistance, and ndlltary
adjustme. i: Rnsistai-.te to Cuba as soon as the President certifies
that a ti"ic.3..cion gcvemment exists in Caba . That assistance is

quickly •l'rl_"er6d, =3 the bill requires, by U.S., international,
or inlig';.::ou!! nongovernmental organizations.

Hew do we get started? First, we have to get the Cuban
people t'l l'.a"e faith in our prograjn and to crust la our
intentions .

At '.e outset it should be U.S. policy, as H.R. 2758,
states, l.at in solidarity with the Cuban people, the U.S.
c 3.-18 ider.!: s-s! f -deti;j ^ination to be their "national and sovereign
right". T.-.a Juban geople must understand that the U.S. harbors
no aggre-:aivi: intentions toward them; that we recognize that it
is thay •''."-0 rtust tJil<e the future into thair own hands; that in a

period ot tr;>iisitior they are not isolated; that the U.S. is
cotrmitte'l zo lendin: them a hand at this time of desperate need.
To de.-ncn.:':ra e char we mean business, we offer a renegotiation or
an outr iq'i: leturn to the democratically- elected government Cuba
of the U 3. iiaval lie se at Guantauiajno.

We ;:an Mstabl-sh confidence early in the process by feeding
the hungry and heading the sick. The Cuban people lack basic
sustenan i and ade(ji.ate health care. As feed, medicine, and
medical -;ir_iiment begins to arrive on a regular and reliable
basis, t I'i p<;ople will develop hope that a better way cf life is

coming. The proce;3s of providing and distributing aid is itself
critical. Tlie pecpl e- to-people ties and exirhangea that develop
will bui 'i CDafldence among the Tuban people that a new and
function; :-.c iiysten can be built.

We ''.int to expJesB this message of support to the Cuban
military, 'Wm are willing to help you ad;u6t to a new life in a
d«*mocraj.'. :.,ike yo^ r Russian counterparts, you have returned
from adv •-,tu-es ab-c ad and survived deception at heme. We are
aware cf :.-.e Jif f loi Ities that you face.* Our bill recognizes
the mill iry s adjnitment proble.Tis, such as housing and
«mployme iz, <ind would provide help.

The.e 1.1 a caveat. While democracy cannot be expected to
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arrive i i Cuba ovrrnight, U.S. assistance should be directed only
coward a C.±).i.n govi'inment that can demonstrate that it is engaged
in a pr3 :esH of geuLiine transition toward democracy.

Th'a CujoJvn govemment of transition will have to make
conaiderj.bla progrtig;8 in the following areas: releasing political
pri3oner;i: a. lowing international human rights groups Co Inspect
Cuban pr..icn:i; esUi blishing an independent judiciary; having
dis3oIv-5 I th<; fear:3cme Cuban state security apparatus; organizing
free and f^i:' elec':Jons; allowing an independent labor movement
freely t:) onianize: allowing the component parts of a civil
society, suirli as stjcial, economic, and political associations --

which cjtC'ia'.ly do not exist in Cuba -- to develop.

Let us lie cleai : there must be progress before we can move
forward 'ith a plan of assistance. This is not only a political
consiier.-, :ioii; it will be an important consideration for
investor;:; as well.

The fJ.S must naintain -- and without apology -- that
democracy, respect for human rights, free and fair elections, and
the rule ot aw should characterize the future democratic regime
in Cuba. Thnse sti-.cdards are in:;ernational and may be found in
the Univ-'rsa: Declaiation of Human Rights cf 1948, to which Cuba
is a sigruito:-y.

riGrf.::ver no U.J. assistance program -- nor any other program
-- can 3 ibst.tute i':r the steps the Cubaji government itself takes
coward a .aoi: izatior: , developmenc, democracy, and re- integration
of Cuba -zo the international community.

Our purpose a.A along must be to assist -- never to conduct
-- Cuba'-: r^':overi'. A Cuban transition gcvernment must meet its
responsi: 'il i' ies tn its own people -- not to the U.S. or to any
other co'i:i:ry.

By -..:-.e <'nd of this transition process, we hope to have
eatablis ujd .. four.ti^tion for a successful longer-term assistance
prograir :o a democr=tlc government. It will be difficult to

provide j lora aid ti^yond the initial phase unless the government
begins ci cousolidiit e the reform process.

Th^ l-il 's seccnd purpose is to lend the Cuban pecple a hand
in devel >pia;i and cc nsolidating a democratic government, an open
economy, ,ind suppo_-t ing institutions. We define assistance to a
democrat-.; governr.iMit to include developmental assistance, food
aid, and other U.S. government assistance programs, such as
E;q;)ort- Iiiipor* Ban)'- c;uarantees, O/erseas Private InvesUr.ent

Corporacior: iirojeccs, Trade Development Agency assistance, peace
Corps pr ijraiiB, mi_itary adjustmant assistance, and other
appropri.i-.ft neasuree .
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In-' :r.a' lonal ; rganizatior.s such as the World Bank, the
Inter- Am. .-1 r;.n Devr:! opment Bank, and the International Monetar>'
Pund will 3l:o be iineded for the Cuban transition. My
iegisLaz ; i:r. acogn^-aee that other countr:.e3 will have to aseist
in the ef !cl-i . Lai in American countries, hemispheric neighbors
such as '..ir.H-.a, sen; of the European nations, and Japan, might be

e:cpected ".o I'ontrii). te.

Thii;^ loi.ger- t(:r m help is aimed, as I alluded earlier, to
coneolid. •. i;i; demcct atizatior. and privatization in Cuba, and to

helping .isinrert C'.Lca into the i iternational financial coimunity.

Fin.-lly our l;ill specifically offers Cuba membership in the
CBI, and offers nej: tiation of a U.S. -Cuba free trade agreement.
Granting ICT.I trade statue to Cuba can alsc be considered.

As c hanves taki root, the Caban people will realize that
their iniju- produces something and that they and their families
directly benefit. Cersonal interaction, the interchange of human
experienci;, ;.nd thi^ interplay of productive skills and abilities,
will ser-.-e t:i incrf^jse the confidence the Cuban people will have
in cheir naw way of life.

Cub.- an;; her people would b-enefit from the removal of the

existing ':cr.viuniBt structures. Transition assistance would help
C-ibans tM ta: Id a r.iw society: an inclusive society in which
citizens ipart icipat. s in all aspe;ta ot govei'nment; a society
based on ':he rule ot law; a eoci-^ty where leaders at all levels
are sels' ':ed throujf free and fair elections -- a society of

hope .

The 'tof- and "r dependent Cuba Assistance Act will send a
beaccn o." li^ht to the Cuban people. It says that we are in
solidari' V w. th yon, but not wit.i those who enslave you. We are
ready to help, but first you must help yourselves. Remove the

impedimei.ts lo deanorracy and we will offer a strong helping hand.

To ht ;'uban nllltary we say:

"Wi- an not y;ur enemy and have no interest other than
to -iBco: iiize vfat we understand the pain of adjustment
and ire willii-.: to help -- so long as you do not turn
you' j.u:3 on y:ur brother aid sister as they m.ove to
seel- freedom ard democracy."

Fin. liy to tl.i world commuiity we erase the erroneous view
that U.S. fo; icy in strictly punitive towards the Cuban people
- - and sh.ow i hat wir are eager to welcome Cuba into the family of
nations .
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STATEMENTOF
THE HONORABLE CHARLES B. RANGEL

Subcommittee on Western Hemisphere Affairs

Hearing on the Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act

HR 2758

March 24, 1994

MR. CHAIRMAN. MEMBERS OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE, I

APPRECIATE YOUR INVITATION TO TESTIFY ON THIS
IMPORTANT ISSUE OF CUBA.

I AM PROUD OF MY COUNTRY'S ROLE IN ENDING THE COLD
WAR IN EASTERN EUROPE AND IN THE REPUBLICS OF THE
FORMER SOVIET UNION, AND I WAS EQUALLY PROUD TO
CARRY THE BANNER OF THE UNITED STATES INTO BATTLE IN

KOREA WHERE, ALONG WITH THOUSANDS OF OTHER
AMERICANS, I WAS AWARDED THE PURPLE HEART FOR
WOUNDS RECEIVED IN COMBAT AGAINST THE COMMUNIST
CHINESE.

AS A FORMER SOLDIER, AND AS A MEMBER OF CONGRESS, I

SPEAK HUMBLY OF MY CONTRIBUTION TO THE DEFEAT OF
INTERNATIONAL COMMUNISM. I AM ALSO A FIRM BELIEVER
IN THE POWER OF DEMOCRACY AND THE AMERICAN
ECONOMIC SYSTEM TO INFLUENCE CHANGE, AS WAS SO WELL
PROVEN IN EASTERN EUROPE. WITH THE COLLAPSE OF THE
FORMER SOVIET UNION, THE COLD WAR IS OVER IN THIS
HEMISPHERE AS WELL, AND INSTEAD OF ISOLATING CUBA,
WE SHOULD BE DOING OUR BEST TO HASTEN ITS FULL
REENTRY INTO THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY.

I UNDERSTAND MR. MENENDEZ' BILL LOOKS FORWARD TO THE
COLLAPSE OF THE CASTRO GOVERNMENT AND OUTLINES
PLANS FOR U.S. ASSISTANCE TO THE CUBAN PEOPLE AFTER
THE FORMATION OF A TRANSITION GOVERNMENT.
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IT IS OBVIOUS THAT THE CUBAN PEOPLE ARE DESPERATELY
IN NEED OF HUMANITARIAN ASSISTANCE TODAY. INDEED,
WITH THAT END IN MIND, I RECENTLY JOINED WITH
CARDINAL O'CONNER OF NEW YORK IN APPEALING TO THE
PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES TO CONTRIBUTE TO A
HUMANITARIAN SHIPMENT OF MEDICINES AND VITAMINS IN

THE WAKE OF THE HURRICANE THAT DEVASTATED THE
ISLAND LAST YEAR.

I AM PLEASED TO REPORT THAT THE SHIPMENT OF 400

BOXES OF ANTIBIOTICS AND VITAMINS ARRIVED IN CUBA
TWO DAYS AGO, AND WILL BE DISTRIBUTED BY CARITAS,
THE INTERNATIONAL CATHOLIC RELIEF ORGANIZATION, TO
HOSPITALS AND CLINICS AROUND THE COUNTRY.

LAST YEAR, I INTRODUCED A BILL THAT WOULD LIFT ALL
RESTRICTIONS ON TRADE, TRAVEL AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH CUBA. IT WOULD ALSO AUTHORIZE THE PRESIDENT TO
NEGOTIATE THE SETTLEMENT OF U.S. CLAIMS AND TO TAKE
STEPS TO PROTECT HUMAN RIGHTS.

KNOWING CUBA'S IMPORTANCE. NOT ONLY IN THE AREA OF
DRUG INTERDICTION, BUT POTENTIALLY, AS A CONTRIBUTOR
TO THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF THE REGION, I HAVE
LONG BEEN DISMAYED BY OUR POLICY OF ISOLATION
RATHER THAN INTEGRATION--A FEELING WHICH IS SHARED
BY OUR FRIENDS IN THE REGION.

THERE ARE MANY REASONS FOR CHANGING OUR POLICY
TOWARD CUBA. AS AN AMERICAN, AND AS A MEMBER OF
CONGRESS, I BELIEVE IT IS MY RESPONSIBILITY TO SPEAK
OUT FOR WHAT IS BEST FOR AMERICA, AS A MORAL NATION
AND AS A MODEL OF DEMOCRACY AND FAIRNESS AROUND
THE WORLD. IF WE WERE TO LIVE UP TO THAT STANDARD, AS
IT REL.ATES TO CUBA, WE WOULD LIFT THE EMBARGO.
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SEEKING NORMALIZATION OF RELATIONS, RATHER THAN
CONFRONTATION AND ISOLATION, WOULD FIRST, TAKE US
OUT OF THE INDEFENSIBLE POSITION OF CONTRIBUTING TO
THE SUFFERING OF THE CUBAN PEOPLE. THERE IS NO
ARGUMENT BUT THAT THE COLLAPSE OF THE CUBAN
ECONOMY IS DUE TO THE FAILURE OF THE COMMUNIST
ECONOMIC SYSTEM. BUT TO THE EXTENT THAT OUR EMBARGO
LIMITS, TO ANY DEGREE, THE DONATION OR SALE OF FOODS
AND DESPERATELY NEEDED MEDICINES AND MEDICAL
EQUIPMENT, I CANNOT BE PROUD OF THAT AS AN AMERICAN.

NOT ONLY DO I SUPPORT THE PRESIDENTS GOAL OF
PROMOTING FREEDOM AND DEMOCRACY IN CUBA, I AGAIN
URGE HIM, AS I HAVE IN THE PAST, TO TRY ANOTHER TACK-
-TO BURY THE HATCHET, AND OPEN THE DOOR TO
NEGOTIATIONS, TO PERSUASION, TO A PROCESS OF
INFLUENCE THROUGH MASSIVE COMMUNICATION,
CULTURAL EXCHANGE, TRAVEL AND TRADE.

WE MUST NOT GIVE UP ON OUR PRINCIPLES, I ASK THAT WE
FIND A WAY THAT WILL ALLOW OUR PRINCIPLES TO WORK.
THIRTY-FOUR YEARS OF EMBARGOES AND BULLYING HAVE
NOT.

THE PRESIDENT IN HIS WISDOM HAS TAKEN EXACTLY THAT
KIND OF STEP IN VIETNAM--A BOLD DECISION TO DROP THE
BARRIERS TO TRADE WITH A COUNTRY RED WITH THE BLOOD
OF 60,000 AMERICAN SERVICEMEN AND WOMEN. IT WAS A
STEP THAT OVERCAME NOT ONLY THE BITTER MEMORIES OF
WAR BUT NEARLY TWO DECADES OF SHAME AND
DESPONDENCY OVER OUR ONLY LOSS IN A MILITARY
CONFLICT.
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BUT IT WAS A STEP THAT WAS UNOPPOSED BY THE
AMERICAN PEOPLE OR THE CONGRESS, WHO WERE GRATEFUL
TO BRING TO CLOSURE ONE OF THE SADDEST PERIODS IN OUR
HISTORY. IT WAS AN ACTION, TOO, THAT SIGNIFIED THE END
OF THE COLD WAR IN SOUTHEAST ASIA, IN A REGION WHERE
THE GREAT CONFLICT AHEAD WILL BE IN THE COMPETITION
FOR ECONOMIC MARKETS

THE ADMINISTRATION HAS MADE IT CLEAR THAT TRADE
WILL BE THE HALLMARK OF OUR FOREIGN POLICY. OUR
MORAL GOALS FOR DEMOCRACY AND HUMAN RIGHTS WILL
BE CARRIED OUT BY USING WISELY THE LEVERAGE
CONTAINED IN OUR ABILITY TO IMPORT AND EXPORT
AMERICAN GOODS AND INVESTMENTS BY U.S. BUSINESS.

IT IS A POLICY THAT MAKES SENSE IN AN ERA IN WHICH
GLOBAL ECONOMIC COMPETITION WILL DETERMINE
NATIONAL ASCENDANCY IN THE WORLD. OUR ACTIONS IN

THE FORMER SOVIET UNION, CHINA, VIETNAM AND HOSTS OF
COUNTRIES WHOSE GOVERNMENTS MAY BE OFFENSIVE TO US
HAVE REMAINED OR HAVE BECOME ENTHUSIASTIC TRADING
PARTNERS.

HOW IRONIC IT IS THAT EVEN AFTER WE RATIFIED THE
NORTH AMERICAN FREE TRADE AGREEMENT, OUR TWO
PARTNERS IN THAT PACT ARE DOING LUCRATIVE BUSINESS
WITH CUBA, THE COUNTRY WE INSIST MUST REMAIN
OSTRACIZED BY FRIEND AND FOE ALIKE.

WHILE WE TRUMPET OUR COMMITMENT TO BUILDING UP THE
ECONOMIES OF OUR FRIENDS IN THE CARIBBEAN WITH CBI,
WE THREATEN THEM, TOO, WITH EXCLUSION FROM FUTURE
FREE TRADE AGREEMENTS, BECAUSE AS SOVEREIGN
NATIONS THEY CHOOSE TO DO BUSINESS WITH CUBA.
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AND WHILE WE CALL UPON THE INTERNATIONAL
COMMUNITY IN THE U.N. TO WORK AS PARTNERS IN OUR
GLOBAL ENTERPRISES, WE GRIMLY DISMISS THEIR
CONDEMNATIONS OF OUR EMBARGO POLICY.

I WOULD NOT BE SO PRESUMPTUOUS AS TO CLAIM ANY
EXPERTISE IN CUBA ISSUES; THAT IS THE JOB OF THE
DIPLOMATS. BUT MY POSITION, AS EXEMPLIFIED BY THIS
BILL, IS THE POSITION OF THE MANY HUMAN RIGHTS AND
RELIGIOUS LEADERS IN CUBA WHO HAVE VISITED ME IN
WASHINGTON SINCE I INTRODUCED THE BILL.

ROLANDO PRATS AND ELISARDO SANCHEZ, PROMINENT AND
UNQUESTIONED LEADERS IN THE HUMAN RIGHTS MOVEMENT
IN CUBA, THE CATHOLIC BISHOPS OF CUBA, THE
PROTESTANT AND JEWISH LEADERS HAVE ALL TOLD ME THAT
THE EMBARGO HURTS THEM AND IS DOING NOTHING TO
PROMOTE THEIR GOALS FOR THEIR COUNTRY. I SPEAK FOR
THEM IN APPEALING TO MY PRESIDENT AND TO THIS
CONGRESS TO SUPPORT THEIR EFFORTS FOR DEMOCRATIC
CHANGE IN CUBA.

THANK YOU.
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HK. CHA.IW^tl. MEMBF.ri; OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE. I GREATLY APPRECIATE
YC'JR EXTEN11NG TO ME :HE OPPORTUKITY TO EXPRESS MY SUPPORT FOR HR
2753, COHG.RISS-'.AN MEM :NDKZ ' S LEGISLATION TO PROVIDE ASSISTANCE TO
THE PEOPLE :F T'JBA 0^':E A TRANSITIONAL GOVERNMENT IS IN POWER.

I BECAME A I OR.GINAL ( OSPONSOR OF THIS LEGISLATION BECAUSE I
BELIEVE ST'.ON'G.Y IN I'. S GOAL OF ENCOURAGING THE PEOPLE OF CUBA TO
WORK TOWAJl.Ao POLITICAI REFORMS WHILE ILLUSTRATING YET AGAIN TO
THE CASTRO KcC. ME THAI AN ECONOMIC DETENTE WITH THE U.S. IS NOT
AN OPTION I urn. THE PfOPLE OF CUBA ARE FREE.

they must it ff ee of the dictatorship that has strangled them for
so many ye;.f:;3, free or political and social oppression, and free
of an l'vwofkaele ecoi-oiic system which has brought ruin to their
once-prospescus islam)

although po^itiral analysts have been predicting the "imminent"
downfall of castro for many years, with the collapse of castro's
co>w:nist f"san:ial b^ikers, true reform may be near, and when
that day cocs come, we must be ready to extend to the people of a
FREE CUBA or.X A.:3ISTA.-JC E.

HR 2758 WIL;.. do .JUST TfAT. THIS LEGISLATION CREATES INCENTIVES
FOR THE CUl3/r. PIOPLE '". MOVE TOWARDS POLITICAL DEMOCRACY AND A
HAPyZT ECO.-ICM; ;ND it -.ill HELP THE PEOPLE OF CUBA IMPLEMENT A
DEMOCRATIC CC.'.'F.n,MENT. I STRONGLY SUPPORT THIS LEGISLATION AND I

THANK THE SL E u'^hVITTEt "OR ITS CONSIDERATION. THANK YOU MR.
CHAIRMAN.
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statement by Congressman Luis V. Gutierrez

March 24, 1994

I am pleased to testify today in support of the "Free and Independent

Cuba Act of 1993."

I would like to commend my good friend and colleague Mr. Menendez

for his work on what I consider to be an outstanding and important

piece of legislation.

I strongly believe that by supporting and passing this legislation the

Congress of the United States sends a crucial message to the people of

Cuba.

We send a message that says that the United States is willing to

support and work for the same democratic values for Cuba that we

hold so critically dear here at home.

It is a message that says that we recognize that the desire for freedom

and justice and liberty has not been extinguished within the people of

Cuba simply because it is absent from its leaders.
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It is a message -- and this is a very important part of that message --

that says the U.S. will respect above ail else the right of the people of

Cuba to self-determination and to choosing the course their future wNI

take.

Let's be candid -- few people remain who believe that the economically

crippled and morally bankrupt regime of Fidel Castro can survive

indefinitely.

Yet, instead of taking action now, to prepare to help the people of

Cuba with their transition away from a Communist government, we

struggle, and debate, and wait to decide how our nation can best help.

I believe this legislation helps to replace debate with action, to replace

indecision with bold steps toward helping the people of Cuba achieve

the freedom and independence we value so much.

This legislation says that our nation should move aggressively to help

Cuba by aiding any transition government with emergency relief
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assistance, committing to help further with long-term assistance to any

democratic government in Cuba.

It achieves these goals in several important ways.

Others have and will catalogue the manner in which this assistance will

be given to the people of Cuba.

Through a combination of loans, guarantees and assistance from such

agencies as the Export-Import bank, the Trade and Development

Agency, the U.S. will move aggressively to be a full partner in Cuba's

transition to democracy.

More importantly, this legislation assures that the U.S. will be no more

than a partner.

At the heart of the "Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act" is the

recognition of and respect for the self-determination of the people of

Cuba.
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The U.S. should not in any way dictate to the people of Cuba what

their future will be.

Only the people of Cuba can make that decision.

But as the economy of Cuba continues in freefall --
it has declined

almost 50 percent in the last three years -- as Castro continues to

ignore the winds of change that have swept the world and refuses to

loosen restrictions on freedom of expression, a change is inevitable in

Cuba.

And our nation should make absolutely clear that we are prepared to be

partners in that change.

That when the people of Cuba begin their move toward democracy,

that they will not do so in isolation.

That the leaders of our nation will stand with them during their

transition, stand with them as theywork to build the infrastructure of

democracy.



76

And let's be honest --
it is also in the best interests of our nation to

work to support a free and independent Cuba.

A free and independent Cuba enhances U.S. security, helps to promote

political stability and harmony in the western hemisphere and can

eventually be of economic benefit to all of the people of our region.

In the past years, the U.S. has stood with the people of Poland and

Germany and Ukraine and Russia as they have struggled for freedom,

democracy and independence.

The Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act says only that we will

work to take the same steps right here in the western hemisphere.

I firmly believe to do otherwise would be a grave mistake.

I wholeheartedly urge the members of this committee to support this

important initiative.

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify today.
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Stat<iia«rt by Co igraannaa Lineela Dlai-Balart b«fer« th»
;8vtbc;aaaLlttso on Waatara Bamlaphara Affaira of tba

Creoolttaa on Poralgn Affaira
V.3, Xouaa of Rapraaantativaa

March 24, 1994

Thank ycu, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify bafoye

the Subcc.rw.it tee or 'Jaatern Hemisphara Affairs with regard to "Tha

Free And 'Cnd* penderi': Cuba Aaaistance Act."

The Cub; n people know more than anyone elae about the great

importani. 12 it tht U.S. trade embargo against the Castro

dictator., hip

They xr.sw that the trade embargo maintained by the U.S.

against tihs trutal d.ctatorship that has oppressed Cuba for thirty

five yea: ;i i£ a manil estation of solidarity with the people of that

suffering is.' and, ;.::tended to assist that people in obtaining its

freedotr.

And uhe-' knew that the lifting of tha trade embargo at this

tirr.e, wi'ihou , dcmanc ing free and fair internationally supervised

election;!, would c:i,stitute a great victory for the dictatorship

and A hu lil i.iting defeat for tha Cuban people.

I ai:. here tods'; to wholeheartedly and strongly support "The

Free and Ir.:: ependcii: Cuba Assistance Act" sponsored by my good

friend f:i-ctT. lew Jera jy, Congressman Bob Menendez. I am grateful to

Congress sn !lenendt!z for the opportunity that he gave me during the

tine tha ne waa die. .ting the legislation to comment upon it and to

make eug.jeut .one cor ceming it.

The Mtn. indez bill, when ^t becomes the Menendez law, will make

an irrporran- contril ution to U.S. policy towards Cuba.

The .'^onmdez c: 11 clarifies that the United States strongly
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supports Che right <:f self datermination o£ the Cuban people, and

just as importantly, that the Unit«d States will atrictly adhere to

a policy/ ai total, respect for the sacred independence and

aovereigiiCy of the iSspublic of Cuba.

With 'ihet in mir.d, the Manandez bill commits the United States

to renegctiate with the future democrat icaily-elected government of

Cuba, the: te:m9 by >hich the Unites States retains the nsval base

at Guar.tiinamo, witi the goal of improving the terms of the lease

for the i'lapuljlic o;." Cuba or returning the base to the Republic.

The Menttndez bill makes it amply clear to the Cuban people in

multiple wayri, that the United States stands ready to assist them

in re sen;-. I: rajiting r.hair countiry from the ashss of the nightmare of

cne total de:itruct:.:n brought to Cuba by the tyranny of Castro.

It i'3 Lmportart to remember that, in 1959, as the U.S.

Principa:. Deputy ^iHJistant Secretary of State for Interamerican

Affairs, 'y\v. Michae] Skol, testified last week, Cuba's per capita

Gross Nar.ion.il Pro<iuct was equal to that of Italy's.

It :..» a:. so important to remember that until Castro took power

in Cuba, -ha Cuban psople were net an emigrant people. Anyone who

wanted to -Sive Cub., could do so voluntarily, and , in fact, any

Cuban vh'. ncight to obtain an im-nigrant visa to the United States

was eligible for it The Cuban national currency, the Peso, was

equal m value to :he U.S. dollar and was fully convertible and

exportabf- Cubans, as a whole, however, invested and kept their

funds in ':ub i .

All tha: and Tch more was accomplished by the Cuban people
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during t.-.e ysars elf ch« Republic without foreign asBiatance and

bafors T -* ;»lliance for Prograaa, the Intaramarican Development

Bank and t;;e >ther vihiclea for financial aaaistance were davaloped

in the y-'.irB aubsetr- ent to the collapse of the Cuban Republic.

Mr. Cha.rman, the Cuban pacple )cnow all too well the tragic

•-ate cf '-.-e C^a :i: today. Deapite the delivery to Castro by the

Soviet U.-.lon of al:: jst 100 Billion dollars in aid (as Secretary

s:<ol poi.ued iut, about $ 700,0C0.00 per hour for 30 years,) the

economy is ctsolutoLy and totally destroyed. In addition, the

people a: i; ojpresscti in a manner 'unparalleled in the history cf the

Weaterr. r/.mi sphere . Acts of repudiation are common, political

prisons im full, i': is a crime even to leave one's own country,

tourism .ifa:-hei2 reigns, and only the dollar is sought as

tradeabl ! currency v ithin Cuba.

But :.>.e oppos:. :ion of the Cuban people tc the dictatorship is

overwhel -iny and chsre is a profound national consensus against

Caatro. Respite t:rs efforts of those who seek to help Castrc,

either iy i. ivesti.-.j. in the tourism apartheid of today, or by

prcvidinj thi; dicti.:3rship with oil, or by seeking to lift the U.S.

ernbargo, :he Cubar. j eopie will soon be free of their totalitarian

nightr.ar;. a id the : eccnstruction of Cuba will begin.

Wisjlv, the ^'.E.iendez bill leaves no doubt that the United

States siiiidj reacv to lift its trade smbarg:: as soon as the Ouban

people <i:'i free, and that the U.S looks forward to

enthus:.a ; : _: illy asijisting the Tuban peorls in their inevitable

eccnciT-,_c ittc ;r.str_ :•> ior within freedom, democracy and the .=lule of

law.

Thai ic ycu, Mr Chairman.
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U.S. ASSISTANCE TO A POST-CASTRO CUBA
ALEXANDER F. WATSON

ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF STATE
FOR INTER-AMERICAN AFFAIRS

SUBCOMMITTEE ON WESTERN HEMISPHERE AFFAIRS
OF THE HOUSE COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
MARCH 24, 1994

*

Mr. Chairman, thank you for this opportunity to discuss

H.R. 2758, the "Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act of

1993." The bill strikes an important, forward-looking note.

We fully support its objective to facilitate a peaceful

transition in Cuba from a totalitarian to a democratic form of

government. I am also pleased to have my first opportunity to

speak directly to the people of Cuba through the good offices

of Radio Marti.

We agree with the intent of the authors of H.R. 2758 to

look beyond the end of the current repressive regime, and to

articulate ways to build trust and confidence between the

United States and the people of Cuba. Such steps could hasten

democracy's return to Cuba and, in this sense, H.R. 2758 is a

welcome parallel and extension of the Cuban Democracy Act, or

"CDA. "

As demonstrated by the CDA's passage just 18 months ago,

the Congress and this administration are of one view regarding

Cuba. Our current policy consists of two tracks, as called for

in the Act. The first track is continued strong enforcement of
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a comprehensive economic embargo on Cuba until such time as

there are democratic reforms and respect for human rights.

With the second track, we are reaching out to the Cuban people

through expanded telecommunications, an increased flow of

information and private humanitarian assistance.

Under the terms of the CDA, the federal government has

licensed more than 8.5 million dollars worth of humanitarian

donations to non-governmental organizations. We support and

are working with numerous responsible groups interested in

delivering aid licensed by Treasury to individuals and

non-governmental organizations in Cuba. Federal agencies are

streamlining procedures further. We would like to see even

more private aid reach the Cuban people. We are seeking ways

to increase the flow of information, and hope soon to see

"efficient and adequate" telecommunications with Cuba, as the

CDA calls for.

The Cuban people, I believe, know that their best friend is

the United States. We will continue to help them in their

search for freedom and prosperity. This emphasis on directly

helping the people of Cuba presages the interest we will take

in assisting their efforts during the transition from the

current regime and in becoming a friend and ally of a future,

democratic Cuba.
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Let me provide the administration's comments on

H.R. 2758. We share your desire to see the Cuban people

exercise their right to determine their country's future. The

choice of their leaders, as the bill notes in Section 3, is

exclusively theirs, to be made "free of interference by the

government of any other country" in the privacy of a voting

booth. Sadly, this choice has been denied them for over 35

years. We look forward to the day when the human rights of the

Cuban people are respected, and when they are no longer

prohibited from voicing their opinions about their government.

The bill accurately outlines the economic disaster that the

current regime has imposed on Cuba. A free market economy

would reduce the current physical suffering of the Cuban people

and help restore their dignity. Despite their island's

enormous agricultural potential, Cubans have for over 30 years

suffered the indignity of a food ration card. It is

incomprehensible that Cubans cannot find fresh fruit or even

sugar to buy. It is insulting to the Cuban people that simple

consumer goods are solely available in stores that only accept

the currency of foreign countries. We believe that once the

creative talent of the Cuban people is unleashed in a free

market setting, prosperity will soon return to their country.
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With this in mind, I was particularly struck by

Section 4g of the bill, which asks that the President

communicate to the Cuban people U.S. plans for assistance. The

Cuban people should know that the U.S. government and the

American people will be ready and willing to help them get back

on their feet once they are freed from the political and

economic ruin of more than three decades of socialized

mismanagement. We are their neighbors, and their friends, and

they can count on us.

That said, Mr. Chairman, no one knows when change will come

to Cuba, nor what condition the country will be in once it

starts to make its inevitable transition towards democracy.

It would be difficult to develop a comprehensive plan of

assistance now without knowing what Cuba will need, what sorts

of assistance a democratic government of Cuba will ask us for,

or when it will make that request. For these reasons, we would

prefer not to tie ourselves to a specific plan now, but would

rather be ready to use all of the tools available to us in what

is sure to be a rapidly evolving situation.

Mr. Chairman, as you are aware, the Administration has

submitted to Congress the Peace, Prosperity and Democracy Act,

which substantially revises and updates the Foreign Assistance

Act . This proposed legislation recognizes the need to revise

the decades-old origin of our foreign assistance legislation

and would provide the greater responsiveness and accountability
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needed to advance the core issues of US foreign policy in a

constantly changing world. We live in a much-changed,

post-cold war world. We need flexibility to promote our

economic, security and democracy interests. Particularly

relevant for our conversation today is a subchapter in the

Administration's new legislation concerning programs for

"countries in transition." This section of the legislation

reemphasizes our commitment to "promote the development of

functioning democratic institutions and political pluralism"

and "address political, economic and humanitarian needs that

arise in connection with transitions" throughout the world.

We believe the countries in transition authority provisions

in our proposed legislation would address many of the issues

covered by the bill being considered today and would provide

statutory authority to govern the provision of assistance to a

transitional Cuban regime. An important feature of the

proposed legislation is that it would enable the President to

develop and carry out effective policy responses to

unpredictable and fast changing situations — just the kind of

situation we may face in Cuba. As we prepare to work with the

Congress on these issues in connection with the Peace,

Prosperity and Democracy Act, or "PPDA," we also want to work

with this subcommittee so that when the PPDA becomes law, we

can support additional country-specific legislation that is

consistent with and makes use of the authorities of the PPDA.

In addition, we will want to work with you on legislation
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to overcome restrictions on U.S. dealings with a post-Castro

Cuba in areas other than the provision of foreign assistance.

Some issues we may wish to consider would include statutory

sanctions on countries that export Cuban-origin sugar to the

U.S., restrictions on authority to enter into trade agreements

and making a transitional Cuban government eligible for

Caribbean Basin Initiative benefits.

Change is coming to Cuba. However it happens, it will have

a profound effect on the United States. As we work towards our

common goals, we value continuing consultations between the

administration, members of Congress, and congressional

committees regarding U.S. policy towards Cuba. The

Administration wishes to continue to work with Congress as we

seek ways to build even more bridges to the Cuban people now,

through private humanitarian assistance and an increased flow

of information. This cooperation will be even more important

once the Cuban people are free.
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Mr. Chairman, it is a pleasure to be able to participate with .Assistant Secretan. of

State Watson in today's hearings on the proposed Free and Independent Cuba Assistance

Act.

The United States Agency for International Development looks forward to the

time when there is a free and independent Cuba with a democratically elected

government. We stand ready, when that time comes, to join the international community
in delivering a comprehensive program of sustainable development assistance that will

directly benefit the Cuban people.

Support for a free and independent Cuba is clearly in the interest of the United

States and its neighbors. The time is long overdue for a democratic Cuba to become an

active development partner in the Western hemisphere. The Cuban people deserve the

rights guaranteed in the international human rights covenants, the right to decide how

they are governed and by whom in full, free and fair elections, the right to speak their

minds, to publish, to organize, to choose their occupations, and to raise their children in

an atmosphere of freedom that encourages them to reach their full potential. We
anticipate the day when Cuba can join us in the Western Hemisphere's community of

democratic nations.

THE SITUATION IN CUBA TODAY

For obvious reasons, wc have not yet started to prepare any specific program ot

assistance for Cuba. However, we are trying to keep abreast of the rapidly changing

circumstances in Cuba so that, as this legislation proposes, we can be poised to respond

to humanitanan and development needs when the time comes. A little over a year ago

the Office of Research of the Department of State and the Bureau for Latin America a
the Caribbean of USAID commissioned the Cuban Research Institute of the Latin

American and Canbbean Center at Florida International University to give us a snapsh. i

of current economic and social conditions and the general political environment. Tho^c

reports have been made available to the Subcommittee.
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Florida International University drew together a group of 13 distinguished

researchers who have been toUowing developments in Cuba closely over many years
-•

among them Jorge Dominguez. Sergio Diaz-Briquets. and Carmelo Mesa Lago -- to

provide us with their best msights into current developments in Cuba and prospects for

the future.

Bv prior design, the study stopped short of making any specific recommendations

for U.S. economic assistance to Cuba. However, it did provide a number of valuable

insiehts on the current situation in Cuba. It forms the basis for what will be a valuable

data base as we prepare for the time when the U.S. government might be in a position to

be an active partner in supporting sustainable development in Cuba.

Let me summarize briefly some of those studies.

Politically. Cuba remains a closed society without access to fundamental due

process and democratic guarantees. Despite the internal restricted elections, there are

total prohibitions against pluralistic democratic institutions. A number of human rights

and dissident groups exist but they have faced repression and their leaders'

imprisonment. Basic political and civil rights
--

including freedom of expression,

association, assembly, and movement -- are. in large measure, denied by the government.

The studies also confirm that Cuba is in the midst of an unparalleled economic

cnsis precipitated by the break-up of the Soviet Union. The Soviet Bloc accounted for

85*^ of Cuba's foreign trade until 1989. The Dominguez study estimates that, between

1989 and 1993. Cuba's Global Social Product (GSP) declined between 50-60 percent,

imports declined from $8.1 billion to S1.7 billion: and from 1989 to 1992 oil impons

dropped from 13.3 million tons to 6 million tons. In 1993 Cuba had an external debt of

$7.8 billion with exports registered at $2.3 billion and is in default on most of its debt

obligations. Shrinking foreign exchange and drastic reductions in investment have

squeezed production and capital formation.

The Diaz-Briquets study indicates that shonages of fuel and other inputs have led

to a complete or partial shutdown of numerous industrial plants, that thousands of

tractors and trucks lie idle, and that public transponation has been significantly reduced.

The Mesa Lago study estimates that open unemployment, registenng at 6% in 1988.

increased in 1992 to somewhere between lO^c and 18%.

The Castro regime has taken some limited steps to attract outside investment, to

promote tounsm and high-tech medical services for foreigners, to permit dollars to

circulate within the internal economy, to permit limited self-employment, and to convert
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state-owned farms to semi-pnvate co-ops. However, there is no evidence to date to

suggest that these steps will be sufficient to reverse the deterioration in Cuba's economy.

Once there is a transition in regimes and a complete lifting of rigid state controls

on economic life, there are hopes for a reversal of the economic decline.

These studies also reaffirmed that, prior to the collapse of socialism in Eastern

Europe and the Soviet Union. Cuba had an infant mortality rate variously estimated

between 11 and 14 per 1000. that life expectancy averaged 75 years, and that adult

literacy was 96'^c. Cuba has universal primary education. SS*^ of eligible students are

enrolled in secondary school and 23'^c at the tertiary level.

These levels have been made possible by one of the most costly social safety nets

in the world, highly subsidized by the former Soviet Union. Social expenditures in

education, health, and social security were estimated at between 22% and 24% of GSP in

1992.

There are. however, indications that the safety net has eroded. Carmelo Mesa

Lago. in his contribution to the Cuba in Transition study, indicated that a number of key

drugs are in short supply. He also indicated that there is a lack of spare pans for

medical equipment, ambulances and water pumps: and fuel shortages resulting in power
blackouts. Supply limitations, according to this study, even resulted in insufficient paper
in classrooms.

Finally, there are some indications that food shonages may be leading to increased

malnutrition. The Cuban government's refusal to adopt reforms such as the free farmers'

markets has contnbuted to this situation.

A recent CARE Canada repon quotes UN statistics to the effect that there are

increasing cases of infants bom with low birth weight and iron deficiencies in pregnant
mothers. The Mesa Lago study estimated that the daily caloric intake of the average
Cuban has declined from an average of 3.100 calones in the raid-1980s to 2,800 in 1989

and 2.000 in 1992, the latter very close to minimum standards set by the World Health

Organization.

It should be noted that the epidemic of optic neuropathy, which took place

between 1992 and 1993, was responded to by medical expens from the UN, PAHO. the

Center for Disease Control, and our National Institutes of Health. Although the

incidence declined after extensive distribution of vitamins, no single definitive cause was

identified for this epidemic.
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NEXT STEPS

The Florida International L'niversiry studies are an important start in providing an

intormation hase to determine future humanitarian needs. Obviously, this information

needs to be updated continually. That data base will be essential to permit us to design

appropriately targeted assistance programs.

I am pleased to report that our Administrator. Brian Arwood. has requested that

we network with the many think tanks, universities, international organizations and other

agencies that are examining developments in Cuba. We will be reaching out to the

distinguished scholars who participated in the Florida International University studv and
others to keep informed on developments in Cuba.

We already have begun establishing contacts with the large number of U.S.

nongovernmental organizations that are already providing food, medicines and medical

supplies to nongovernmental organizations and private citizens in Cuba under the Cuban

Democracy Act (CDA).

Since the passage of the CDA. the Federal Government has licensed more than

8.5 million dollars worth of humanitarian donations to non-governmental organizations,
over 60% in the past six months. Catholic Relief Services, a nongovemmenial

organization with whom we have worked closely for many years around the world, is

providing assistance to CARITAS/Cuba under this program. Existing ties with

organizations such as CRS will facihtate. when the U.S. government is authorized to

provide direct assistance to a transitional government in Cuba and to Cuban

nongovernmental organizations, USAID's ability to rapidly initiate a substantial program
of humanitanan assistance to Cuba.

I would like to indicate our strong support and commend the subcommittee for

the policy direction provided in the proposed Free and Independent Cuba Assistance

Act. It draws our attention to the importance of coming up with a strategy and plan of

action for addressing Cuba's needs at the time at which there is a transitional and

eventually a democratically elected government in Cuba.

As you know. USAID and the U.S. government have embarked on a new venture

under the Foreign Assistance reform legislation--thc Peace, Prosperity, and Democracy
Act (PPDA). In this effort, wc are working closely with Congress to establish the

objectives of our foreign assistance programs.
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The PPDA provides specific authorities for addressing crises situations such as

those potentially posed by Cuba. Under Title IV. Humanitarian Assistance, authority
exists tor the Administration to provide humanitarian assistance in the event of natural

and manmade disasters. In a transitional situation, authority under Title II. Building

Democracy, could be used on a short-term basis to strengthen democratic groups and
institutions, such as providing election assistance and human rights promotion. Finally,

under Title I. Sustainable Development, assistance could be made available as pan of a

long-term package of sustainable development assistance to a democratic Cuba.

We look forward to consulting with the Congress on precisely how we can use the

authorities of the Peace. Prosperity, and Democracy Act as our guiding framework for

actually designing and carrying out an assistance program for Cuba.

At the time at which we prepare to initiate a program in Cuba we fully intend to

consult with Congress. We look forward at that time to consulting with Mr. Menendez
and other members of your subcommittee on the parameters of our proposed assistance

program to Cuba, and how to best meet these emergency needs.

Mr. Chairman, after 35 years we may finally be approaching the transition to

freedom in Cuba in which the people of Cuba will have the right to chan their owti

democratic future. The U.S. must be prepared to accompany them on that joumev.

Thank you.
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Otto J. Reich is a Partner and Director of the Brock Group, a Washington-

based international trade and investment consulting firm. He is Vice-

Chairman of the Americas Program of the Center for Strategic and

International Studies. From 1986 to 1989 he was United States

Ambassador to Venezuela; from 1983 to 1986, Special Assistant to the

Secretary of State; and from 1981 to 1983, Assistant Administrator of

the U.S. Agency for International Development in charge of the Bureau for

Latin America and the Caribbean.
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Mr. Chairman and distinguished mennbers of this Committee: Thank

you for extending this invitation to me to address U.S.-Cuba policy and

this legislation's role in fostering economic opportunity benefiting both

countries.

H.R. 2758 deserves support because, unlike recent proposals to

unilaterally lift the U.S. embargo against Cuba, this legislation recognizes
the need to condition U.S. assistance to Cuba on fundamental economic as

well as political reforms by a new Cuban government. Building on the

conditions set forth in the Cuban Democracy Act of 1992, this legislation

would ensure that the U.S. Government will not offer an undeserved

lifeline to the current Cuban government.

What this legislation calls for -- the establishment of specific

conditions for the resumption of U.S. trade and assistance programs to a

future Cuban government, including respect for human rights, free

elections, civil liberties and market-oriented economic reforms -- will

encourage movement toward democracy on the island and development of

mutually-beneficial economic ties. It will do so by reminding the present

government of Cuba of its obligations under international law on issues

such as property claims, labor freedom and other key concerns.

If the proper conditions are created, there is ample reason to believe

that Cuba could once again be a leading economic performer in the Western

Hemisphere, providing rising living standards for Cuban citizens and
boundless opportunities for domestic and international investors. One
need only recall that pre-Castro Cuba was always in the top three in per

capita GNP and socio-economic indicators in Latin America. The roughly

$3.27 billion in foreign direct investment in pre-Castro Cuba would

represent more than $14 billion today [in 1990 dollars]. More



93

impressively, in relation to current GDP, that pre-Castro figure would be

closer to $30 million today because of the growth in the population.

In spite of 35 years of Marxist mismanagement, Cuba still has a base

of viable industries, including tourism, sugar, citrus, mining and tobacco

which can attract foreign investment and fuel economic revival. And more

than 50 percent of Cubans on the island are in their peak productive years

between the age of 15 and 45.

Yet, as with any transition economy, no amount of bilateral or

multilateral assistance will be sufficient to improve domestic living

standards and allow Cuban citizens to share in the benefits of market-

oriented growth unless a new Cuban government provides a welcome

environment for private enterprise, trade and investment.

The stark contrasts in the economic performance of former Soviet

bloc nations reaffirm this important lesson. The Czech Republic, for

example, transferred some 30,000 businesses worth over $20 billion to

private hands and attracted some $1.25 billion in foreign investment last

year. Russia and Ukraine, on the other hand, have squandered scarce

resources on subsidies to money-losing state enterprises and avoided

legal and institutional reforms which would attract foreign investment.

For Cuba this lesson is particularly important because Cuba's

resources and infrastructure are in such bad condition as to prevent rapid

economic recovery. For example, Cuba's hard currency reserves have

dwindled to an estimated $10 million. That barely matches the signing

bonus that Cuban-born first baseman Rafael Palmeiro received from the

Baltimore Orioles last month! The island nation's GDP has shrunk by more

than 50 percent since 1989 and Cuba had less than $2 billion in foreign

exchange revenues last year to use for the purchase of imports, compared
to some $8 billion in 1989. Understandably, Euromoney's latest country

risk guide now ranks Cuba below Somalia as the world's worst investment

risk.

The reason for Cuba's relentless economic decline is simple. The

Castro government has failed to provide the most basic freedoms and

incentives necessary for domestic enterprises to grow and people to work.

Much press attention has been paid to measures implemented last

August by Cuba's Council of State which allow Cuban citizens to hold

dollars, and spend them - but effectively only in government-run stores

(Decree Law 148)
- and to decriminalize self-employment for citizens in

83-875 - 94 - 4
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several non-professional trades (Decree Law 141).

Less public attention has been devoted to Cuba's recent reversal of

these limited reforms. After listening to Fidel Castro rail against free

enterprise ("I loathe capitalism") at a December 28 meeting of the
'

National Assembly, the rubber-stamp forum trimmed the list of permitted

self-employment categories, banned the creation of private restaurants

and prohibited unofficial taxis from visits to airports or hotels.

Subsequent meetings to address reform measures have been canceled.

Cuba may be the only place left on earth where military checkpoints are

established to keep farmers who "moonlight" from taking their meager
crops into major cities.

Cuba's successful transition from communism to democratic

capitalism will require major economic, social and legal restructuring.

Entrenched bureaucracies and the lack of due process, contract sanctity

and private property rights are among the formidable challenges which

will confront a new Cuban government.

Only with the onset of fundamental economic as well as political

reforms by a new Cuban government can U.S. trade and assistance

programs to the island contribute to a solid and enduring foundation for

economic recovery. This is but one reason to support H.R. 2758.

Progress on basic economic and human rights and prospects for

economic development in Cuba are inextricably linked. The lack of basic

labor rights in Cuba clearly demonstrates this linkage. The absence of

protection for even the most basic workers' rights in Cuba ensures that

prospective investors in Cuba cannot establish stable commercial

operations on the island.

The International Labor Organization has cited Cuba for violations of

ILO conventions (to which Cuba is a signatory) including: the use of forced

labor [Convention No. 29 and 105]; denial of freedom of association and the

right to organize [Convention No. 87]; employment discrimination

[Convention No. Ill]; and arrest of independent trade union members

without a warrant, due process or grounds for conviction. The arrest of

independent trade union movement leader Rafael Gutierrez last year
marked the beginning of yet another crackdown against workers'-rights

activists on the island.

Even if one were to cast aside political risk, human rights and labor

concerns, several indispensable conditions must prevail for U.S. aid
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programs and U.S. businesses and investors to foster Cuba's economic

reconstruction. H.R. 2758 would require that a democratic government in

Cuba "is moving toward establishing" a market-oriented system and an

independent judiciary. Several benchmarks for measuring progress
toward these necessary conditions for a successful U.S. economic re-

engagement with Cuba come to mind:

Rule of Law . Contract Sanctity and Due Process. The Constitution of

the Republic of Cuba enables the state to monopolize foreign trade and

impose extensive administrative controls on joint venture partners and
workers. More fundamentally, the ability of actions by the Communist

Party apparatus to supersede commercial and legal arrangements subjects

foreign investors to arbitrary actions and denies access to dispute

resolution through an independent judicial process. In practice, the only

mechanism for resolving contract disputes available to a foreign entity

may be recourse to a Cuban forum accountable only to the party and state.

Protection of Propertv Rights . Cuban laws prohibit private Cuban

ownership and investment and provide no constitutional or statutory

protection to foreign investors against expropriation without due process
and compensation. The Cuban Constitution vests in the government

complete control over ownership of all "fundamental means of production,"

(Article 14).

Respect for property rights is a particularly important factor in the

case of Cuba because the confiscation of properties owned by U.S.

companies and individuals worth $2 billion (in 1962 dollars) was a

primary factor in the decision to implement the embargo. U.S. claims alone

now total some $5.6 billion (including 6% simple interest). By contrast,

U.S. claims of some $230 million against Vietnam amount to less than

Vietnamese assets frozen in the U.S.

Prospective investors in Cuba should also note that joint venture

deals offered by the Castro regime involve properties confiscated without

compensation or due process from U.S. and international entities. The U.S.

government has officially warned any potential investor in these

properties that they may be acquiring what amounts to stolen property.

Secure Money and Capital Repatriation . Cuba subjects foreign

investors to the prospect of severe financial exchange losses when

converting investments into the domestic currency. Unlike Vietnam, for

example, Cuba lacks equity commercial or foreign banks, and legal

provisions for a stock exchange are not established.
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Independent Operation of Enterprises. Cuban as well as foreign

enterprises on the island are denied the freedom of contracting with

employees, customers and suppliers. Pursuant to Article 18 of the

Constitution (as amended in July 1992) the Cuban government has sole

direction and control over all foreign trade activity. There are no wholly-
owned foreign enterprises in Cuba and shares of joint-venture entities are

not freely transferable. All joint ventures require prior government

approval and are subject to management control in the Cuban party.

Consistent and Uniformlv-aoolied Commercial Laws. Before Castro.

Cuban law provided equal protection to domestic and foreign investors to

possess properties and engage in any form of industry and commerce. The

current Cuban government's tendency to implement sudden policy shifts,

as well as ambiguous joint venture laws leaving foreign investors at the

mercy of arbitrary government actions, discourages foreign investment

and domestic enterprise.

Given Cuba's proximity and strong legacy of cultural and economic

ties, U.S. firms have a special interest in building commercial relations on

a solid foundation. That will require association with a prosperous
market-oriented future rather than a painful and stagnant past.

By establishing a clearly-defined set of conditions on U.S.

assistance, this proposed legislation will encourage a transitional Cuban

government to allow Cuban citizens to work and produce and to

institutionalize fundamental democratic and market-oriented reforms.

Conditions on U.S. assistance to Cuba established in H.R. 2758 offer

valuable guidelines for U.S. policymakers seeking to assist in the

development of a prosperous market-oriented and democratic Cuba.

I especially support, Mr. Chairman, the emergency assistance

provisions of this legislation. This measure calls on the President to

develop a plan to provide food, medicine and other emergency assistance

to a transition government after a determination by the President that

such government is in power [Sec. 4. (a) (1)]. Based on my previous

experience of eight years in government, I fear that we are not fully

prepared for all the contingencies possible in Cuba.

Given the potential for immediate and dramatic change on the island

which could imperil Cuba's development prospects and have a profound

impact on the Southeastern region of the U.S., I agree with you that there

is a pressing need to develop comprehensive contingency plans to deal
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with the prospect of a sudden transition on the island.

U.S. policymakers must be prepared to contend with a wide variety

of possible transition scenarios. Cuba's economic implosion could spark

spontaneous demonstrations, food riots or popular revolt. Uneven

application of "reforms' in Cuba and the disappearance of benefits for

Castro's inner circle could prompt officials in the Cuban military or other

institutions to take sudden action against the current leadership. Castro

could attempt to mitigate growing domestic frustration and resentment

toward his regime by orchestrating a massive wave of emigration.

Regardless of how change occurs on the island, the U.S. government
must be ready. It may be that such planning regarding Cuba is complete;

but if it is not, delays in implementation could be costly in terms of lives

and treasure.

As the current regime in Cuba steadfastly adheres to policies

grinding the island nation into a subsistence economy, with each passing

day the economic challenges for a new transitional government continue

to grow. Cuba's infrastructure will require costly modernization to

provide even the most basic human services. Housing, food and medical

supplies in Cuba are already alarmingly scarce.

Executive Branch agencies such as USAID and the Defense

Department could provide a timely and important contribution to U.S.

policy by immediately developing plans for emergency assistance to a

transitional government in Cuba and submitting reports to the appropriate

congressional committees as soon as possible. Such reports could provide

guidance on key issues such as: coordination of private voluntary

organizations to assist in the operation of emergency relief programs; use

of military transport and logistical support in executing emergency
programs; the role of Cuban-American community groups in mobilizing

relief and technical assistance programs; facilitating U.S. business

involvement in Cuba's reconstruction; focusing U.S. aid on crucial

industrial needs (including sugar refining equipment, farm machinery,

fertilizer, oil and spare parts); and strategies for accelerating U.S.

funding and delivery of aid programs.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, it is my opinion that when a stable,

democratic and market-oriented Cuba opens the door to competition and
commercial opportunity, U.S. companies will be second to none in

providing goods and services to this market, 90 miles from our shores, of

11 million people eager to obtain familiar U.S. -brands. In fact, Cuba could
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provide more significant trade and investment opportunities tinan any
other former Soviet bloc nation. It is likely that Cuban-Americans will

lead the revival, since the GDP of the million-and-a-half Cuban emigre

community is now about three times larger than the GDP of the 11 million

population left on the island.

This proposed legislation lays the groundwork for Cuba's economic

recovery by focusing the attention of the United States and other

international resources in the proper direction, one in which individual

initiative will replace collectivism; where private enterprise replaces

state control; and where economic and political freedom replaces central

planning and the totalitarian controls which accompany it.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, for giving me this opportunity to

express my views on this important legislation.
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Good rorninq, Mr. Chairman. I am honored to be invited to

provide testimony Defore this body on the topic of Cuba. I have
been studying th«' Cuban revolution, especially the economy, for

thirty yiaais, slice my senior year in college, I was born in

Havana, lef: the i: land in May 1961 and have returned four tines,
most re.-ent ly in lis y 1991, for research and lecturing purposes. My
scholar l> record is available for your perusal in the enclosed
short viTGi^n of t; curriculum vitae .

On tho whole, I think that H.R. 2758 constitutes an important
contrib It .ot to tlii development of U.S. policy toward Cuba, seeking
to 3383 £i: .he is] ind in a smooth and peaceful transition to a

demccraiic ind jnai.ot-oriented society. This bill breaks new ground
and is rcr-*'ird-locl.ing in several ways: provision for even-handed
treatneit cf individuals and t^ntities seeking to forin a future

governmjnt, propoE.l to return Guantanamo Base or renegotiate the

axistin'3 ag ••semen:, provision for assistance to Cuban military, and
the allDvanre of si.lficient time for the holding of free and fair
electioTs;. All of the above represent a welcoaed change in

direction in tha'-. it attempts to provide some minimum level of
incenti.'fs for the potential actors in the transition process.

Ho«itvec, I n if t express some concerns with several underlying
assumptions and s cj ne reservations about the effectiveness of the
bill In advincinq ;ts own objectives. These co^nents are made from
the peicpGctive oj a professional economist and Cuba expert and
will l:icel' difl.jr from the viewpoint of the elected public
of f icia 1 .

Fir£;t, this till provides "for assistance to the people of
Cuba on^r a transJ ;ional government is in power...". My point is:

can sonri-.hJng be cone to nudge the process along, to attempt to
tacilitat* ;hange? This bill, though forward-loo:<lng in its intent,
remains reactive l i its nature. I would argue for some degree of

pro-active U.S. jj^licy toward Cuba, even in modest ways such as

increasli'.g numan c: )ntacts (academic, cultural, scientific, sports
exchan<5 L'fi) ; exp.2;i:jion of family visits to and from the island;
provitl:;r. for advei iced study for Cuban university graduates; and
increasEd tJlephcru coranunications . I do not expect seismic changes
to result f -om thtj^e interactions, but I air convinced that the long
proceee cr" .ransi ;i onal change is greatly facilitated by them. More
on the lenc th of 1 ransition below under point number 3. [1 also
believe tha: the elimination of the food and medicine provisions of
the U.?. eirbargo v; )uld shorten the time of suffering of the Cuban

people k-iv- hastenin } the demise of the current regime.]
Strond, some j* the findings in section 2 require update and

may be expmded u jon briefly. Most analysts outside the Island
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«*timatE! thi tota]. loss of Cuba's output or Incon* at around 50
percent (>irce 19'>C, with a high figure of 60 percent recently
auggesttid ly Andr< w Zimbalist of Smith College. In 1993, the
government' I budg<?t deficit of 4.3 billion pesos represented about
on«-thi;-i of national output. The equivalent ratio for the U.S.
would mtian in annj^il budget deficit of around $1.5 trillion.
Two-thirds of st;itB enterprises operate at a loss and must be
sub8idl.;ad, inclidlng the total stock of 158 sugar mills and
surrounJing sugars; ine farms. The basic monthly per capita food
ration Lriclides en .y four pounds of rice and four eggs. I agree
that ab:;er.t substantive economic reform the Cuban economy will not
improve in my sigi iflcant way.

Th..rd, in dii'.'ering somewhat from finding number 4, I nust
emphaei.:e tie lengthy nature of the transitional process. I agree
that Ca>tro and hi i close associates have been reluctant, indeed
recalci':ran ;, to «>ngage in substantive reform, but nevertheless
economii: reform ^a5 proceeded along from conditions existing in
1990, i!' slowly and with many limitations and severe restrictions.
The pro.:5ES of ecoromic reform -n Cuba will be long and difficult,
just li<€! the on«';s that transformed the former Soviet tTnion and
Eastern iJurope a ici unleashed the great changes in the Chinese
economy Ir a massive volume ( The socialist Economy ^ Hungarian
economifJt :anos ?: >rnai has carefully analyzed the process of
deterio^-ati )n anc ;ollapse of the centrally-planned economies of
Europe, a s ow an;l tortuous road filled with false starts and dead
ends that, iltimatnly builds up enough pressure in the system to
provoke its demisa

I oelijve thai Havana started on the road of economic reform
in 1990 in repor.aa to the disappearance of the socialist bloc.
Cuban €concnic r'jlorm is on track but the gestation period is
measured in yeare : four to five years from now to the point of
transit Lcn -.o a mat ket-oriented system. Along the way, detours and
retrenc lien ;s will be common. Advancements will be difficult to
fashion ?mo ig the i,any factions competing for resources and power.
SucceEs=Ll reforjj; will have to be defended against entrenched
interes': groups.

in the island :here is now ah ongoing internal economic debate
"oetween tw( oppos ng camps: those who recognize the need for
financiil stabilii;,' only and those who argue for macroeconomic
stabili-v plus sue: equent comprehensive economic reforms.
Accordinc tj Cuban participants in the debate with whom I recently
talked, a^icng the^ topics under consideration are changes in the
forms t -. which prcc.uction is organized, changes in the system for
resourc i allocatj)n and changes in the process of income
distrib jt ioT. Thest Cuban economists understood very clearly that
the implica:ion6 c: such deep economic reforms, if enacted, would
be to sriift the ro3e of the government in the economy from central
control to lanagen* nt by indirect tools or means, and to insure an

equitabLt' income distribution.
At the meetlncs of the National Assembly of People's Power in

December 19 »3, thute was an open (almost wild) exchange of views on
economi : pel icy t-itween Castro and Finance Minister Jose Luis
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Rodrigu'jz that may se taken as a reflection of the ongoing Internal

debate >vf;r what t-.: do with the economy. Among the topics reviewed
were thi; inpositior of an income tax, the termination or reduction
of gov*'! nB«nt su ai idiea to state enterprises, and the need to

reduce :h«- r oney =ii5ply. A few years ago the explicit discussion of

3ar)cet--:ypG . indi.-«ct tools of economic management was anathema in

Cuba's public poli'ical discourse.
In £.un, my ta lic point in this extended section is to argue

that th ? process o
"

economic reform in Cuba has already started,
even ag.iins . the i.ishes and contrary to the efforts of Castro. The
reform ;>ioc;ss is ; utonomous, responds to the systemic imbalances

pressur Lrg :he is.', and' s economy, and is imbued with a dynamic force
that ca;rxi.e3 it f:iward and extends its domain. To illustrate:
Gillian Gun;i has referred to foreign investment in Cuba as "islands
of capi :c, lirm" . I lave characterized them as "volcanic islands",

ready t.) spi w forth lava and other earth-building materials so that
a solid, cs-.tinuou: extension of capitalism may arise sometime in

the future. If thi? economic reform process turns out to be lenghty
and com -'lux, as ii3 likely to be the case, the usefulness of a more

pro-act i\« U.S. policy becomes more apparent. At a minimum, our

objectives would b; more quickly realized at diminished expense and
the socic 1/ »cono.7iii: cost to the people of Cuba would be reduced.

Fojith, in t«: ns of the plan for assistance (section 4), it
must be ire^imberetl :hat Cuba ren-ains a sugar-based econoir.y and that

any ecori;:ni ; recovery plan must include a significant role for that

industr,'. I belie..; that this bill must make provision to include
a parti il rjstora::;on of the Cuban sugar quota, perhaps at 500,000
million tens annua ly. At present, the U.S. imports under special
agreements about ] 5 million tens of sugar, with the remainder of
total .-or sumption supplied by domestic producers. Cuban sugar
output nc>w hover:5 around 4.5 million tons and is likely to
stablli^£! at thai level. Restoring part of the sugar quota to a

democrat Jc Cuba wculd involve difficult political choices, both
dooesti: ana forei'in. I leave that problem to the Congress.
Down th'." lo.id, oth;r tough decisions about Cuba's role in the world
econorry cu'e likely to include the issue of NAFTA membership.

Fifth, this r ll's clear and resounding support for the self-
deteriri nfi-ion of the Cuban pecple and its assertions concerning
Cuba's sovereignty are extremely important in promoting a positive
response tc the dc> :ument among the people in the island. For many
decades, Cu:an na^;onalism has been a powerful force in shaping the
course c:" the isimd's historical development. The present is no

except! :n. Tndee<:i, the craving for national independence may be

stronger new in -A e wake of the collapse of the socialist bloc,
adh&rcr:t» ti which ;ompromised Cuba's sovereignty without resulting
in lasting eccn-idc benefits (but rather produced long-terra
econorai: buraens) .

If -.his cor' ext, the provision (section 8.3) that the
transition governient should not "include Fidel Castro or Raul
Castro, OT any pc. son appointed by either such individual in a

positicr o .' autM)-ity" may prove troublesome in terns of the
impleme r i,at ion of i he act. In most transitions from totalitarian or
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author! tEirian recinea to democratic governmanti, th« holders of

power hsve particj lated in the process: Sandinistas in Nicaragua,
Pinoche: in Chile, ARENA in El Salvador. In different forms, this

experie TC--9 has be <> i replicated in Russia, several CIS republics,
and sore Eisterr, :uropean countries. Indeed, in Poland the old
Communists *'ere re: urned to power through the ballot box.

It ..9 an ex;;r jciating decision but one which will determine
the appl -cability jf the act. A "hard" condition, such as it now

exists, villi like] generate little response from the Cuban aide,
even f r oi uhe In.ipient reformist factions. One suggestion to
soften- jp :he ri>:;airement : keep the exclusion of the Castro
brothers bu: remc* the appointnent clause. Obviously, this change
will net eidear ':re bill to the senior leaders, but will likely
generate excitemen . and increase incentives among the reformers.
If we agree that c lange in Cuba is to be undertaken by the Cubans
theirse 1 .'OS, then i.re bill's provisions must reflect that conviction
and pro 'ide the rscjssary facilitating circumstances. In this vein,
I reiterate my plsc for increased contacts and communications with
the ciitsn people j i their time of trials and tribulations.

Kr . Chiirman, thank you for allowing me to express my views on
this imricrtint bii: . i believe that it deserves the support of the

House, ird .ater tie Senate, because it will chart new and positive
direct! :riii in U.S. policy toward Cuba.
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Mr. Chairman and membern of the Subcommittee on Wesiem

HenJs jhere Affairs. I am honored to appear before you today. 10 share

with
;
ou my views jbout Cuba, U.S policy toward the island, and

Congrtssman Robcn .Mcnendez' efforts to help the Cuban people in iheir

strLjrj e toward a dcrrxxratic. pluralistic, and free market society

[ would like to corrnKnd the committee for holding this heanng and

end()i-:c the goals outlired by Cong. Menendez in his effcns to help a

trar ; 1 on toward a Free Cuba.

AS Washington RcprcscntaDvc of Freedom House, I've been fonunaie

to :.nc;t many men jnd women from around the world, who like the

Cut 31 s today, suffered under dictatorial regimes. Freedom House 11 a

bip_it Sin, independent human rights organizadon founded in 1941 to

opp3s: German fascism Since then. Freedom House has promoted human

right; and denyxracy ;it home and abroad. Our current chair is Bcite Bao

Lori

. pray that it will not be long before the Cubans will join the Czechs,

Ch.'A'. i\%, Poles, South Africans and Salvadorans, in the search for peaceful

alte.-T itives to the tragii cnsis which is Cuba today.

Freedom House strongly endorses the goals embodied in the

legisliiiOn presented by Congressman Robert Menendez 10 provide

asL.;st ince to the Cub;in people after the demise of Castroism and during

the t: pecied transition .-)cn(xl toward dinoaacy, political pluralism, and

a rr ij <et economy. A society dedicated, in the words of Cuban patriot and

pott, Jos6 Manf to the full dignity of man."

would be les> :han candid if I did not mention my personal

bacf. jound while di.scu.ssing the matter at hand. 1 v'-as born in Cuba and

* 'i.'^ll I .*jr^
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have devoted inos: of my p;>:»fessional career to the analysis of Cuban affain and U.S. Cuban

relations.

I would like to start by imswering a question often asked: why should the American people

and the U.S. Cang ess care al out the outcome of events in one of the few remaining dictatonhips

in the Wcsti:ir, Htmisphere''

To II 5.< the question is to bring into focus 200 years of history between Cuba and the

United Stat.s and the geoiyrphicai proximity of the island. It is no accident, as the Marxists

used to say. ihat ti) Fidel Cas lo's boast that "History will absolve me," many Cubans responded

tongue-in-cneek: That may oe true, but geography will condemn you."

In Ctba's case, in il e closing years of the twentieth century there is also a domestic

interest It "'Ojld be irapossi )le for one million Cuban-Americans to ignore mjyor bloodshed or

a similar crisis or the island And while the Cuban-American community has no veto over U.S.

policy anyv.here ^uban-Aii ricans hope, and do participate in the national debate on Cuba and

other issues.

Irtc this f jnnulaticin the humanitarian impulse of the American people also plays a role,

just as it iits in -es-ponse td human suffering in many parts of the world, whether from natural

disasters oi iritn-nade caiasrophes.

For rlt list 35 >efirs, the people of Cuba have suffered the battering of despotic

totalitarian. rrn thit has be:n much more pervasive and destructive, precisely because it is man-

made. Th« oris s unfolds n many dimensions: 1) economic privation of a son difficult to

comprehend gi%ea the chutcteristics of its people, its climate and fertile soil; 2) environmental

devastation ih-tt t ireatens ±: ecology of the Caribbean; 3) a repressive regime that mimics many
aspects of iHalini ;t Russia, i^i 4) a social and public health nightmare unparalleled in the history

of thecourtry.

Cu:* is a a stancst 11. A visitor to the island recently wrote to me: "Cuba is for sale.

Cuban mei arc voraen anj for sale. Cuban children, male and fenjale are for sale." This is the

terrible oui:cn< of Castro'j "political experiment" in the hear, of the Western Henusphere. The
crisis results frc.-n a sysai proven bankrupt everywhere else it has been tried, of Castro's

misnunagiinem, cruelty .ii i ineptitude.

Ha 'Jig -aid all of that, the most important consideration for Congress, has to be

America's ncitioi iJ intereji. ^Vhat can the Unit«J States do to deal with a situation in a way that

will minir ize it. negativ5 impact on the U.S.?

Thi:r(: is ro quesiC'ii that given the current crisis in Cuba inunigration pressures will

continue :? rse And the number of refugees will no doubt increase if there is widespread
bloodshed Anoiher diraen; ion that I have mentioned is the issue of public health. If there is an

epidemic : incr.g the Cubin people, weakened as they are by years of shortages of basic nutrients,

or a crop tilight, or a Ch< it obyl-type nuclear accident in the island's nuclear reactors still under

constructii);i. th( U.S. will be affected.

Sc it is r :>t only oat of humanitarian concerns, but out of self-interest, that the U.S. should

not ignon.' tl:e Cuban sit as ion.
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I tecMiily fccomparlii Alina Femander Fidel Caiito'i daughter, to attend the meeting

of the U.N. Conurission or Human Rights in Geneva. At a press conference there she said that

Havana is a ci.y v ithout dojj ;, and without cats.

"Ha\ ana is *iihout d'gs because the people have gotten rid of them. A dog is an extra

mouth that mcst (Xibans ciunot afford to feed. The price cf cat meat," she said "fluctuates on

the black n aket.
'

This i; :- country where, for nx)re than 20 yean, when a child reaches the

age of sever., he c* she is nc' onger able to receive milk. And Ms. Fernandez, like most Cubans,

know who :> iebp)nsible. "AH the ills of Cuba," she said, 'have a name: Fidel."

This is why, those v/io blame America first and v^ould like to lift U.S. trade sanctions

against the Castrc regime, £j: so mistaken. Thiy can only blame the United States by ignoring

the nature (^f he Tastro rti.ixie. Castro maintains a Stalinist paradigm. He imported from the

old Soviet IJrion not onl) ji political philosophy but Stalin's repression, including the use of

psychiatric 'iDspitils and eb; ;troshocks as punishment against sane dissidents.

His pc !iciis, not the .^cocrican embargo, are responsible for the lack of green vegetables,

for the lacl. of lonatocs, b: the rationing of ougar, chicken and meat on Cuban tables. These

shortages 1 1; a cirect res j1 of the failed, agricultural policies of Fidel. There is an intrinsic

contraJiictior oer /een libcniing the creative energies of the Cuban farmers, and political control.

Castro has ;hcsc i political tability and a baliince of terror over the feeding of the population.

And then i: tujns around and asks the international community to provide humanitarian

assistance, ua: f): the rr:»;t part does not reach the Cuban people, but is channeled to the

military anil the i omenkleti :z or is resold in hard currency stores, as a way to obviate the need

for imemaJ it for n.

One cf it unintcid^ consequences of the U.S. trad: embargo is to have saved U.S.

taxpayers niliiors of dollar i. In the absence of the trade-embargo. U.S. banks would be at the

Paris Club (kir.a iding payiient for Castro's <iefaulted loans. Canadian, French, Japanese, and

other bani.i hav; particij)ii.fid in these fruitless talks. The Castro government has had great

difficulty ill pi.)i ig intcresi, let alone the principal, on these debts for many years. And Cuba has

nothing to shcv for them :
•

for the massive influx of Soviet assistance.

In .rie v.crds of a ;'() mer close friend of Fidel Castro, the former editor of the newspaper
RrvoluUor, in « erer to Co igressman Charles Rangel, "the embargo is polidcal. not econonuc."

Why should the U.S. pro/i.te Castro the legitimacy that the Cuban people deny him, by lifting

the trade i nd ccnomic sir;tions?

Thsi Hav jia govern ncnt can buy anything it wants from Canada, Spain, Mexico, Great

Britain, arnong < t.hers. C2.< cro's problem is not lack of willing suppliers, but lack of cash. It is

precisely tii.-vaaic for 35 > ^ar$ the U.S. has stood firm as a friend of the Cuban people and

against iht cUctiior, that li
"ting the embargo at this time would only serve to keep Castro in

power for s.'.^.hilj longer.

It is lotible that x>\zy, most foreign nvestors are viewed by the Cubans as speculators
and explo-ijrs; nc foreigr owned restaurants and stores in Havana have the effect of promoting
"tourist a,).i.ii.e d'" where Cuban are not allowed. The refusal of the U.S. government to

panicipati; in ih.$ cruel s;, > cm for the paltry rewards it offers, and the insult to Cubans it entails,

is not likely to )c forgof.<M.
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Even ihe Ccmmu.ni:;i 'abel, in the Eastern European context U misleading when applied

to Castro. St; roe C )raraunis( i jgimes in Eastern Europe and Gorbachev's glasnost and peresiroika

aJlowcd rcf< rms. Dnly Cuba and North Korea cling relentlessly to a Stalinist model. The so-

called reforms ad /ocated by those who advocate "normalieation" indicate a contempt for the

Cuban peopli; because the 'jionomic "reforms" arc designed for the promotion of exports, to

obtain hard <:i:rre icy for ihc regime. There is no serious efTon on Castro's pan to increase

domestic product on for (loinestic consumption. When the "free peasant markets" became

sjccessful i coup e of yeaJS! igo, they were canceled. Their growing success and independence

were percei^'cd as an "evj
'

ly Castro. More imponandy their example to others threatened the

power of thf: regine. When rirmers began to give priority to tilling the land instead of attending

politicaJ rallii;;, 'J" at experioint came to an abmpt end. Similarly, in the case of the more recent

"paladures" ct smUl pnvat: iiome-coolring restaurants, the successful ones have been put out of

business.

The U.S. has for du ;adcs maintained a policy of denying hard currency and political

legitinnacy :3 ihe 'Castro rcjii ne. However, both the supponcrs and the opponents of the embargo

exaggerate ts imjortance. Tie embargo is an external factor, while the main determinants of the

Cuban situiircm a e intern; 1: the repressive nature of the regime, the growing internal opposition,

the econon: c criss and th<: I tlief shared by millions of Cubans that the revolutionary expenmeni
has failed.

The <rasJ ) govern Til nt has for years sought to achieve legitimacy by staging extravagant

intemationi jveits, such is world sport championships and ballyhooed visits by foreign

dignitaries. It ii in that mcch for legitimacy on the basis of outside support that Castro's

campaign i ) lift he U.S a-.ide sanctions ought to be viewed.

An;, reev tluation of U.S. policy toward Havana must be conditioned on concrete and

demonstrai.sd :nt:mal refonis. The cases of Chile and South Africa provide examples of how
iuch a pcli<;y car be put iii;( effea. Why not ask for free and fair elections, a free press, the rule

of law, and ili; ;:storatioa i if a free labor movement?

Thi; .ritcrial opposi 3 Dn to Castro, as well as most of the opposition-in-exile, have publicly

renou.nccd dn; jji of violcn «. At a minimum, Havana should be required to terminate the rapid

development jri jades. These groups of "angry people" appear at the homes of dissidents,

breaking fjritui:, smash-u:; windows, beating up human rights activists. When the police arrive

instead of uiestiig the thjg s, they arrest the dissidents "for disturbing the peace." These "angry

peopl:" tr;.>'c;l ii trucks, ir a country where gasoline is rationed, and use walkie-talkies only

availj.ble in Cubi to securi y forces.

Thi: Cas ro regin-«, were it interested in a pcacefol outcome, and the welfare of the

Cubans, w^cld I ive welco ned the initiative of the Cuban bishops who called for a package of

refonns it it v.o ild inclutii the lifting of the embargo, the release of political prisoners, the end

of go\emri(:n: violence a id a national dialogue. While the government was silent on the

bishops' pastoral letter, (Intro's official press denounced the bishops as traitors.

And tlioie who ail: for a lifting of the U.S. embargo, some of whom have been quiet for

a generjri.)i on he suffeiir g of the Cuban people, ought to ask Castro to stop the strip-searching

of the mc :hi;.-^, v.-ives, s st jrs, and daughters of the political prisoners before the allowed visit

with them jver two or Ji ee months.
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For fiC U.5. to begin nonnal relations with Havana, the Cuban government must begin

to behave in a :iDnial fashioi It no longer suffices for Castro to raise the issue of sovereignty.

These issues ;ue id longer ccnsidercd internal matters anywhere.

I wot:!: sa> to Cong?; .sman Range! and others who advocate precipitous changes in U.S.

policy that tie 3bs aclcs to no -mal relations are neither in Washington nor in Miami, and to some

extern, not t vtn u Havana, '"he obstacle is Fidel. He must stop his policy of violence against

those who si;i:k peaceful cli.i ige. Those who advocate lifting of U.S. trade sanctions ignoring

the current ciitrigi s, in fac; t ught to carry a heavy moral responsibility: They are contribudng

to the maini'.ianC'; of the ita ;us quo.

Finally, C('ngressnun Menenedcz's approaches are significant because:

1) Ir. oppo;.tion to m much reactive U.S. policy, he attempts to outline a course of action

before the :icrm hits. It lerts American government agencies to the need to give serious

consideraucn to loth policy and policy implementation toward the Cuban crisis. It is a sound

cffon beca.i.-.c it proraotoj Jie interests of the Cuban people while protecting fundamental

American ii.ienst;.

2) To D'lic in Oi3i or elsewhere who continue to give some credibility to Cascro's

"nationalist rhnojic." and ^' .0 have forgoncn his internationalist ambitions, it says in very clear

language tliat th.c .A.menci.n people have no interest in dictating Cuba's future. It is up to the

Cuban peo' Ic.

3) To the Cuban rr.iL tary Congressman Menendez's effon says once Cuba is free the U.S.

is ready to :;gotiite the L .S . naval base in Guantanamo in Eastern Cuba. And it seeks ways of

helping anr: jorae the impact of the inevitable dovmsizing of Cuba's military.

4) *.rid f nally to t'l ; Cuban people, a'.ready aware of the generosity of a neighbor who

opened it5 doers to more ti in a million fellow Cubans it says that America is willing and able

to provide help, is it had 'j)nc many times c'sewhere; but that, as I indicated before, external

factors are much less inr.fcuiint to the resolution of the Cuban crisis than the repressive nature

of the rcgiirc an 1 the coi;i£ gc of thousands o:' men and women in Cuba whose only protection

Bgain.st the ^vr3•J• of the poii :c state is their lo\ e for freedom, the sacrifice of many others on the

island whc ly t( help th< ir and the solidarit> of the outside worid.

Cori];T?s r.an Bot 1 lencndcz attempts to help Cuba, not Castro. Piis concern for the

Cuban pcfpL; h;s been a c mstant of his public life. The Congress and the President could do
much wor^f: tha'i to give > -nous consideraticn to the prudent, yet imaginative ideas contained

in his initi rive.

Tt\M\i y( u very thj :h.
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HEARING ON H.R. 2758

THE FREE AND INDEPENDENT CUBA ASSISTANCE ACT
THURSDAY, MARCH 24, 1994

10:00 AM 2200 RAYBURN

Background

As introduced on July 27, 1993, H.R. 2758--the Free and Independent Cuba

Assistance Act-outlines steps for the United States to take to provide assistance to the

Cuban people once a transitional government is in power. The bill authorizes

appropriations for "such sums as may be necessary to carry out this Act."

Section 4 of the bill would require the President to "develop a plan for providing, at

such time as the President determines that a transition government in Cuba is in power,

economic assistance to the people of Cuba, while such government, and a democratic

government in Cuba, are in power." While a transition government is in power, the bill

would limit such assistance to humanitarian assistance and assistance to prepare the Cuban

military forces to adjust to a new role in a democracy and civilian life. When a democratic

government is in power, the bill would expand such assistance to include development and

agricultural assistance and export financing (as well as other specified assistance). Section

4 would also require the plan developed by the President to include a strategy for

distributing the assistance. With regard to international efforts, it would require the

President to take steps to get other countries and international financial institutions to

provide comparable assistance to Cuba, and would require the President to take the

necessary steps to communicate to the Cuban people the plan for assistance.

With regard to U.S. trade policy toward Cuba, Section 4 of the bill would direct the

President to determine whether to designate Cuba as a beneficiary country pursuant to the

Caribbean Basin Economic Recovery Act. It would also: (1) require the President to take

steps to enter into a framework agreement with the transition government providing for

trade and investment in Cuba; and (2) allow the President to enter into negotiations with

a democratic government in Cuba to conclude a free trade agreement. Also relating to

trade with Cuba, Section 3(13) of the bill states that it is U.S. policy "to lift the economic

embargo on Cuba when the President determines that there exists a democratic government
in Cuba." Section 7 of the bill states that the President shall terminate the embargo after

he submits a determination to Congress that a democratic Cuban government is in power.

Section 8 sets forth characteristics that define a transition government in Cuba. The

government must be "demonstrably in transition from communist totalitarian dictatorship

to democracy." It must be making public commitments and demonstrable progress in:

releasing all political prisoners and allowing the investigation of Cuban prisons by

international human rights organizations; establishing an independent judiciary; respecting

internationally recognized human rights; dissolving the Department of State Security in the
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Cuban Ministry of the Interior; organizing free and fair election; granting permits to

privately owned indigenous telecommunications companies to operate in Cuba; and allowing
the establishment of an independent labor movement and of independent social, economic,
and political association. The transition government may not include Fidel or Raul Castro,

or any person appointed by either such individual in a position of authority. It must allow

the speedy and efficient distribution of assistance to the Cuban people.

Section 9 sets forth characteristics that define a democratic government in Cuba. The

government must result from free and fair elections that are conducted with internationally

recognized observers, it must permit opposition parties ample time to organize and

campaign for the elections, with full media access for all candidates. It must be showing
respect for basic civil liberties and human rights and have made demonstrable progress in

establishing an independent judiciary. The government must be moving towards establishing
a market-oriented economic system, and have made or be committed to making
constitutional changes that would ensure regular free and fair elections.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A FIRST APPROXIMATION OF THE FOREIGN ASSISTANCE REQUIREMENTS OF
DEMOCRATIC CUBA"

by

}os6 F. Alonso and Armando M. Lago

This paper examines development options for Cuba and distinguishes two main sectors: a modem foreign sector,

which relies on investments from foreign corporations and from the Cuban exile community, and a local/domestic

sector which comprises the current Cuban economy. In addition three development options are analyzed: a partial

privatization option similar to the current situation in Nicaragua, a second scenario assumes full privatization and

admission of a democratic Cuba into the Caribbean Basin Initiative (CBI) five years after the onset of

democratization, and fmally, a third privatization scenario corresponding to full privatization and admission of

Cuba into NAFTA fifteen years after the start of the transition period to democracy in Cuba. Projections were

developed for three time periods, namely: five years after the onset of democracy (t+5), ten years (l+ 10), and

fifteen years (t+ 15) after democratization.

Economic Model
The two sectors of the economy, foreign and domestic, were projected as follows using econometric methods.

The local economy, currently in government hands, was projected using a Cobb-Douglas production function with

actual Cuban data. Variables used in the projection were net capital (net of depreciation) and labor. The effects

of foreign investments on growth were also projected using capital-output ratios from the international

development experience. In addition, the economic model traced gaps in savings and investments flows, and

balance of payments gaps. Imports of food, intermediate inputs, machinery & equipment and oil products were

projected using import elasticities estimated from Cuba's international commerce publications. A final sub-sector

of the economic model estimates employment demand and labor force availabilities.

Sugar Exports

Sugar continues to be the most important product of the country. It provides the largest share of employment and

foreign exchange revenues. The sugar agricultural sector received the benefit of mechanization and improved field

practices. Meanwhile, the industrial sector lagged behind in technology although several mills were rebuilt and

others replaced. For the sugar industrial to prosper in the future, to become competitive in the world market and

to be the engine towards development, a substantial amount of investments must be made. Those required

investments will be needed as follows: a) to modernize and diversify, b) to obtain higher yields, c) to ameliorate

ecological problems and d) to convert the industry into a modem industrial base. Eventually, the number of mills

(approximate 1 59 today) must be substantially reduced to lower costs and attain economies of scale if this industry
is to become competitive again in the World market.

Today, for Cuba to compete in the sugar market, a substantial amount of white sugar is required and

Cuba is essentially a raw sugar producer. Therefore, in order to reestablish its competitiveness and viability, the

industry must be redesigned. To achieve this task a carefully crafted plan must be implemented with the following

goals in mind: convert to a white sugar industry, diversify the industry using sugarcane as raw material and

reduce its size to attain economies of scales. This would allow the industry to become a leader towards

diversification and growth.

Two transition scenarios with panial and full privatization were portrayed in this section. Under both

scenarios, the U.S.A. market was projected because it is key and pivotal for the country's economy. It was

assumed that NAFTA and CBI would become a reality and that Cuba after fifteen years would be able to receive

the benefits of lower or no trade barriers once full diplomatic relations with the United States and membership
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in NAFTA and CBI have been atuined. Based on the above premise, this work assumed that by year t+ 15, Cuba

could regain access to the U.S. sugar market with 1.5 million ions of sugar. It would become very desirable if

no less than 0.5 million tons could enter the U.S. market once the trade and other political impediments are

dismantled in order to ameliorate the political and economic impact of the transition process towards democracy.

Revenues were estimated utilizing the World Bank price projeaions and, depending on the scenario, the estimates

ranged from 1.4 billion of 1992 dollars in period t+15 during partial privatization, to as high as 1.53 billion of

1992 dollars at t+ 15 under full privatization. There does not seems to be substantial differences in revenues under

either scenario.

Diversification away from sugar has been a goal of Cuba for many years. Ethanol, is an example of an

industry which uses sugarcane as an input and its output can contribute during the transition process. It could be

the leading industry in a diversification process because the produCT has a ready market in the U.S.A. There are

several other by-products of the sugar industry for which plants are in place which also utilize sugarcane as raw

material and could compliment the effort. If the U.S. is going to meet the mandatory fuel requirements of the

Clean Air Act, Cuba could export up to 10.0 million gallons of ethanol as projeaed. The constraint facing the

production of ethanol for exports will be the state of affairs of the installed capacity due to lack of maintenance,

and the upgrading required to bring the distilleries to modern standards. However, substantial investments would

be required to meet the domestic demand and to increase to exporting capacity levels in the future. Other by-

products plants already installed will compete for investments, but they could contribute more bv producing

efficiently several domestic consumption products such as paper, yeast, etc. Using sugarcane as raw material for

these plants is essential for the country given its comparative advantage in its production. The elusive path of

diversification is essential for Cuba if it is going to regain its competitiveness as a low cost sugar producer.

Non-Sugar Exports
Cuba's international tourism receipts had a 3.2% market share of the entire Caribbean region (excluding Mexico)

in 1992, lagging behind imponant competitors, such as Puerto Rico, Bahamas, Dominican Republic, Jamaica,

Bermuda. Barbados, and even the Caiman Islands. By yeart-H5, Cuba's market share of the Caribbean region's

tourism receipts is expected to grow to 9% under the partial privatization scenario and to 11% under the full

privatization scenario. Cuba's market share could grow to 15% of the Caribbean market if gambling would be

allowed in Cuba. Deductions from tourism receipts must be made to reflect the high import content (i.e. as much

as 64 5%) of the Cuban tourism industry. By year t-t- 15, net receipts from tourism, were projected to be nearly

1.47 billion of 1992 dollars, as large (i.e. 97% ) as the value of the Cuban sugar exports.

Nickel exports have been depressed since 1991 due to the plummeting of nickel prices in the World

market. Current prices are less than half the costs of producing nickel in Cuba. In addition, a large increase in

world wide nickel capacity is projected by the World Bank for the near future. The projections assume exports

of 55,CXX) tons by year t+ 15, well below the 1(X),(XX) tons projected by the Cuban government for year 2. (XX),

but even our projections may be on the high side given the deplorable market conditions in nickel. Nickel exports

were projected at 525 billion of 1992 dollars for year t+15 under the NAFTA scenario.

With the demise of the centrally planned economies in the USSR and Eastern Europe, Cuban citrus

exports have collapsed to a shade of their 1989 peak value of $171 million. The projections assume that citrus

exports \*ill recuperate and grow moderately to 266-S292 million of 1992 dollars by year t+15. Exports of

fisheries peaked at 149 million in 1986 and have been declining ever since. Meanwhile, most of Cuba's catch -

92% of its value- comes from domestic waters, the Gulf of Mexico, the Caribbean and the North coast of Brazil.

The projections assumed abandonment of far away fisheries and concentration on nearby areas. The projections

also a.ssume a significant farm-raised fish and shrimp activity. Fishery exports were projected at healthy rates

and may he as large as 195-245 million of 1992 dollars in year t+15.
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Fruits and vegetables were projected to grow rapidly to 331 million of 1992 dollars by year t+ 15 under

CBI, and to 555 million of 1992 dollars under NAFTA. Tlie largest export volumes will be achieved in green

peppers, tomatoes, ornamental plants, melons and honey. These projections assumed that under the CBI, Cuba

would become the second largest exporter (after Mexico) for a vaiiety of products for which it has competitive

advanuge. Under NAFTA, Cuban exports of fruits and vegetables were projeaed to capture 10% to 30% of

Mexico's share depending on the product.

Industrial exports were projected for 21 industrial products. These exports would rise to 1,064 million

of 1992 dollars after 15 years into the trai«ition under the CBI trade regime and to 1,736 million of 1992 dollars

under NAFTA. The major industrial export markets included biomedical products, textiles and clothing (Section

807), rum and orange juice concentrate. Table S-1 presents the total exports projected under each scenario.

Foreign Capital Flows and Remittances.

Projections of capital accounts of the Balance of Payments include remittances, foreign direct private investments,

portfolio investments and foreign aid.

From their 1989 values of $ 173.4 million, remittances were projected to rise to S 2,110 million of 1992

dollars for year t+ 15. These projections assumed an experience comparable to those of Mexico, El Salvador and

the Dominican Republic; that is, of countries that have high rates of remittances per person residing in the United

States. Private foreign direct investments were expected to rise from their current levels of 25-$50 million

annually to 1,050 million of 1992 dollars annually by year t+ 15 under the CBI scenario and to 3,500 million of

1992 dollars annually under NAFTA, that is, comparable to the current rate for Singapore. Portfolio investments

in Cuba's securities were projected to rise from nil to 400 million of 1992 dollars annually by year t+ 15 under

CBI, and to S 600 million of 1992 dollars annually under NAFTA; but given the current boom in portfolio

investments in Mexico, and to a lesser extent in Chile, the projected portfolio investment rates may be

underestimated.

Foreign aid flows were projeaed assuming rates per person comparable to Chile, Costa Rica, Uruguay
and other countries that receive large amounts of foreign aid. US-AID funds were projected at 1,000 million of

1992 dollars annually during the first five years of the transition period. Loans and grants from the Inter-

American Development Bank were projected as 200 million of 1992 dollars annually in year t-(-5, growing to

S 300 million of 1992 dollars annually by year t+ 15. World Bank loans and grants were projected to be 350

million of 1992 dollars aiuiuaily by year t + 5 under full privatization, growing to 500 million of 1992 dollars

annually in year t+ 15. Cuba could qualify for balance of payment support loans of almost 200 million of 1992

dollars annually during a four year period from the International Monetary Fund. The total foreign assistance

requirements of a democratic Cuba were estimated as 2.5 billion of 1992 dollars aimually during the first five

years of the transition.

Foreign Debt.

The foreign debt and claims on Cuba estimated included 6,5(X) million owed to the Paris Club and other European
creditors, the 15,000 million of transferable rubles owed to Russia, the 1,800 million of United States property
confiscated without compensation in August 1960 and the 7,000 million confiscated from the Cuban exiles in

1960-61. This last figure was estimated via two different analytical research methods. Both research methods

coincided with the same estimate of losses. In August 1993, the debt with the United States amounted to 5,364

million of current dollars and the value of the Cuban exile claims was in the order of $ 20,430 millions of

current dollars. The claim figures were estimated using 6% simple interest rates in accordance with international

practices and conventions. Payments for damages for human rights violations are assumed to be paid in local

currency as was the case in Romania.
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Analysis of Projections

Output, employment, balance of payments and savings/investment projeaions were developed from the economic

model using elasticities as pivot point projeaions methodology to take into account, albeit partially, the structural

changes in the underlying economic system as it changes from Castro's command system to a free maricet

economy. Because of unresolved exchange rate valuation problems, the local domestic sector is projected in real

1992 pesos, while the dynamic foreign sector is projected in real 1992 dollars. The macroeconomic projeaions

are presented in Table S-1.

The rate of growth of output is estimated using as a proxy the rate of growth of employment at stationary

real wages. As shown in Table S-2, the annual rate of growth of output is 2.6% under panial privatization, 4.1%

under full privatization/CBI scenario and 6.2% under NAFTA. Employment grows at annual rates of 2.6% for

the partial privatization scenario, 3.1% under the CBI and 4.6% under the full privatizationyNAFTA scenario.

Paying Cuban exile claims tends to reduce the rate of growth of both output and employment by 0.5% to 0.7%

depending on the development scenario.

The slow growth rate under the partial privatization scenario results in high levels of unemployment and

its adoption as a development strategy would result in sacrificing an entire generation of Cubans before

recuperating the 1985-90 income levels. The higher growth rates under NAFTA would reduce unemployment to

negligible levels. In faa, labor force availability becomes a serious growth constraint in the latter years of

NAFTA because of the slow growth rates of the Cuban labor supply in the next decade.

A foreign exchange gap occurs during the first five years of the full privatization scenario, requiring

foreign assistance of $2.5 billion annually during the early years of the transition. By year t+lO the foreign

exchange gap is no longer a constraint factor. One way to insure that there will be no foreign exchange gap

resirainmg the economic development is by officially devaluing the Cuban peso to a level, warranted by foreign

exchange markets, where Cuba can qualify for grants and concessionaire loans payable in soft currency from the

international development lending agencies.

The study concludes on the need for a fully privatized market economy for Cuba together with a foreign
financial assistance package of $2.5 billion annually during the first years of the transition due to the country

inability to generate growth and employment. The fiscal and monetary authorities will have to operate on a very

tight, conservative budgets (no deficits). The country sugar industry must undertake a diversification and

modernization process to the benefits of economies of scale. The diversification of the sugar industry could begin

by utilizing byproduct plants in place which produce a range of products from ethanol, chemicals and electricity

(via co-generation) for domestic markets. Cuba should join the CBI and NAFTA otherwise it will not recuperate
fast economically and its primary potential agricultural export products consisting of fruits and vegetables and

other industrial products such as assembly operations, ethanol, rum, orange juice concentrate, and pharmaceutical

products needed for growth and to diversify the economy will not materialize. The reality for Cuba is that it will

need to utilize ail its natural resources wisely and to implement well though economic policies otherwise its

population will suffer through a very difficult transition period which could have serious lasting political

consequences.
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TESTIMONY BY IRVING LOUIS HOROWITZ

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES BILL 2738

(TO PROVIDE FOR ASSISTANCE TO THE

PEOPLE OF CUBA ONCE A TR.ANSACTIONAL

GOVERNMENT IS IN POWER AND FOR OTHER

PURPOSES) FOR DELIVERY ON FEBRUARY

23RD, 1994 IN WASHINGTON D.C.

It must be said, plainly and without equivocation, at the outset that the Bill

introduced by Congressman Robert Menendez deserves full support from the

American people, no less than the poUticcLl and policy segments responsible for

the conduct of foreign affairs.

H.R- 2758 - The Free and Independent Cuba Assistance Act of 1993" can best be

viewed as a discrete mini-Marshall plan in its own right, and as a powerful

continuation of the affirmative spirit which underwrites the Torricelli Bill voted

by Congress in 1992.

The Cuban people, through thirty five years of tyrannical rule, have retained an

amazing capacity to seek freedom - in the marketplace and in ideas. Not even the

most militant and diligent efforts by Castro and his clique have been able to shut

down the desire for a free market in foods, goods, trade, exchange. Add to this

the near legendary ability of Cuban people to repair, modify and innovate old

artifacts, and it will be seen that this n:\ini-Marshall plan is likely to produce the
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same astonishing results the original plan made possible in a devastated post-

World War Two Europe.

Given the current climate of hemispheric ciffairs, it is important that the United

States be seen - in action as well as words - as a compassionate nation, not a

vindictive one. Embargoing the Castro regime is a strategy to limit and curb any

propensity for further adventures on the part of Fidel and his deteriorating

regime.

Extending the communications networks between the United States and Cuba

(both are key elements) in the Torricelli BUI) is a tactic aimed at making it dear to

all concerned that the free flow of ideas and information -
private and public

alike - is in the interests of American foreign policy and the Cuban populace

alike.

The Menendez Bill builds on this new level of congressional activity. It does so

by establishing as a principle the support by the Uruted States of a free and

independent Cuba, one that both urges an end to a regime built on tyranny, and

economic supp>ort for whatever democratic and free options are chosen by the

Cuban people in unfettered electior^s.

The Bill is plain spoken in terms of provisions for emergency relief assistance to a

transitional government, urging other governments to follow suit, and negotiate

all sources of past and present irritants in the relationships between the two

nations and peoples. Thus, I should like to devote the remainder of my brief time

to certain aspects of the proposed legislation that may require fine-tuning, and in

certain instances, further clarification.
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Qause 10: I believe the paragraph should read "not to provide special treatment

or favoritism in order to influence electoral decisions or outcomes prior to agreed

upon elections. As it now reads, the legislation might be ungenerously construed

as inhibiting any United States statement on a post-Castro government - and that

is quite too restrictive.

Qause 11: Should be tightened to indicate a desire on the part of the American

government, and indeed, all nations that have been victimized by Cuban military

adventures, to reduce the size of the Cuban armed forces - and not just prepare it

for new role in a a democratic regime. Indeed, force reduction might be the most

tell-tale sign that Cuba has left the aggressive ways of the Castro epoch behind.

Clause 14: It is diffioilt to know how to operationally implement the idea of the

United States acting directly to strengthen and stabilize the Cuban national

currency. On one hand, this would be a fiscal by-product of the package

proposed in the legislation. On the other, perhaps a sub-clause can be added that

would achieve the desired fiscal goal by placing the currency on an open

exchange market, in place of the current controlled, non-market features of the

currencies.

The section on authorization of assistance, strategy for distribution are excellent.

Placing the implementation of the presidential plans under a assistant Secretary

of State for Inter-American Affairs seems appropriate; although here I would

suggest the need for a special app>ointment to offer direct supervision of such

assistance. My own idea is that a military figure, famiUar with hemispheric

affairs cSin be named who would report directly to the assistant Secretary and

also the new United States ambassador to Cuba. Given the target nature of this
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proposed legislation, the need for an overall supervisor seems apparent
- not to

create a new infrastructure of repKjrting, but to insure that the intent and content

of this legislation is carried forth.

The portion defining requirements for transition government are very much on

target, offering a minimal operational definition of such a transition. The clauses

are very much within the framework of Presidenticd sentiments on Cuba, and

serve to deepen the structure of such sentiments involved in the creation of a

democratic government in Cuba.

H.R. 2758 provides precisely that expression of political will that defines the

political aims of the United States for a new Cuba free of foreign intervention or

interference. The Menendez propjosal offers the sort of broad compassionate

approach that can united the Cuban people
- whether living in Cuba, or in exile -

that can put closure to the decades of dictatorship, but more, op>en a new era in

which the troubled past is finally displaced by that good neighbor policy that

was long ago promised by United States foreign policy and is now being

delivered throughout the hemisphere. The transition of Cuba from dictatorship

to democracy, from a command economy to a free economy, is profoundly aided

and abetted by this Act to achieve a Free and Independent Cuba. It deserves and

should received overwhelming Congressional supp>ort and no less. Presidential

approbation.



119

STATEMENT FOR THE RECORD OF DAVID II . WALLACE,
CHAIRMAN OF THE JOINT CORPORATE COMMITTEE ON CUBAil CLAIMS
SUBMITTED TO THE SOBCOMMITTEB ON WESTERM HEMISPHERE AFFAIRS

OP THE COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

ON H.R. 2758, THE "FREE AND INDEPENDENT CUBA ACT OF 1993"

MARCH 24, 1994

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, I am pleased
to have this opportunity to express the views of the Joint

Corporate Committee on Cuban Claims with respect to H.R. 2758,
the "Free and Independent Cuba Act of 1993."

By way of introduction, I serve as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Lone Star Industries, Inc., whose cement

plant at Mariel was confiscated by the Cuban government in 1960,
but am submitting this statement in my capacity as Chairman of

the Joint Corporate Committee on Cuban Claims. The Joint

Corporate Committee on Cuban Claims serves as the representative
of more than fifty U.S. corporations and individuals with
certified claims against the Government of Cuba stemming from the
Castro regime's unlawful confiscation of U.S. property without

just compensation. Since its formation in 1975, the' Committee
has vigorously supported the principle of law which requires that

compensation be made by the Government of Cuba for U.S.

properties it seized before normal trade and diplomatic relations
are resumed between the United States and the Government of Cuba.

On behalf of our Committee, I want to commend you for your
effective leadership and persistent efforts, of which this

hearing is but one example, in ensuring that our nation's policy
towards Cuba remains firm and resolute -- yet forward-looking.
Recognizing the important role that trade and investment by U.S.

businesses will have in Cuba's economic reconstruction and its

eventual return to the international community, we strongly
support the fundamental approach, common to both the Cuban

Democracy Act and H.R. 2758, which conditions the resumption of

economic and diplomatic ties between our nations on Cuba's

implementation of meaningful democratic and market-oriented
economic reforms.

In considering the circumstances and conditions that would

support the termination of our trade embargo against Cuba and the

resumption of U.S. economic assistance, we should not lose sight
of the essential reason for which the U.S. government first

imposed a partial trade embargo against Cuba in 1960, followed by
the suspension of diplomatic relations in 1961 and the imposition
of a total trade embargo in 1962. These actions were taken in

direct response to the Castro regime's expropriation of

properties held by American citizens and companies without

payment of prompt, adequate and effective compensation as

required under U.S. and international law. This illegal
confiscation of private assets was the largest uncompensated
taking of American property in the history of our country,
affecting scores of individual companies and investors in Cuban

enterpr ises .

These citizens and companies whose property was confiscated
have a legal right to receive adequate compensation or the return
of their property in accordance with international law and

established precedent. Indeed, Cuba's Constitution of 1940 and

even the decrees issued by the Castro regime since it came to

power in 1959 recognized the principle of compensation for

confiscated properties. Pursuant to Title V of the International
Claims Settlement Act, the claims of U.S. citizens and

corporations against the Cuban government have been adjudicated
and certified by the Foreign Claims Settlement Commission of the

United States. Yet to this day, the claims of U.S. claimants
remain unsatisfied.
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It is our position that lifting the embargo prior to
resolution of the claims issue would be unwise as a matter of
policy and damaging to our settlement negotiations posture.
First, it would set a bad precedent by signaling a willingness on
the part of our nation to tolerate Cuba's failure to abide by
precepts of international law. Second, lifting the embargo would
remove the best leverage we have in compelling the Cuban
government to address the claims of U.S. nationals and would
place our negotiators at a terrible disadvantage in seeking just
compensation and restitution. We depend on our government to
protect the rights of its citizens when they are harmed by the
unlawful actions of a foreign agent. The Joint Corporate
Committee greatly appreciates the unwavering support our State
Department has provided over the years on the claims issue.

However, we recognize that crucial to its ability ultimately to
effect a just resolution of this issue will be the powerful tool
of sanctions against Cuba.

Apart from the need to redress the legitimate grievances of
U.S. claimants, we also should not overlook the contribution
these citizens and companies made to the economy of pre-
revolutionary Cuba, helping to make it one of the top ranking
Latin American countries in terms of living standards and
economic growth. Many of these companies and individuals look
forward to returning to Cuba to work with its people to help
rebuild the nation and invest in its future. As was the case in

pre-revolutionary Cuba, the ability of the Cuban government to
attract foreign investment once again will be key to the success
of any national policy of economic revitalization.

However, unless and until potential investors can be assured
of their right to own property free from the threat of
confiscation without compensation, many companies simply will not
be willing to take the risk of doing business with Cuba. It is

only by fairly and reasonably addressing the claims issue that
the Cuban government can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the
business community its recognition of and respect for property
rights.

By conditioning the resumption of U.S. trade and assistance
programs on the initiation by the Cuban government of basic
political and market-oriented economic reforms, H.R. 2758 makes
respect for property rights -- best demonstrated by resolution of
the claims issue -- an important touchstone of the Cuban

government's transition towards a free market system.
Notwithstanding this implicit incorporation of the claims issue
in H.R. 2758, we hope the Subcommittee will consider expl icit ly

conditioning resumption of economic ties with Cuba on the

satisfactory resolution of the claims issue. We believe that
such explicit recognition of the claims issue is necessary given
the importance of its resolution to the creation of a fertile
environment for investment in Cuba, and also in order to comport
with other laws.

In conclusion, the best way we can help improve the living
standards of the Cuban people and promote lasting economic
reforms -- goals that are at the heart of H.R. 2758 -- is to use
all the leverage available to us to prod the Cuban qo/ernment tn

adeguately resolve the claims issue. Only by resolving these
claims will the Cuban government be able to win the confidence of

the business community and thus attract the levels of foreign
investment that will be essential to its economic recovery.
Accordingly, it is our position that the cornerstone of our

policy towards Cuba must be the resolution of the outstanding
claims before trade and diplomatic relations are renewed. Ttiank

you for your consideration of our views.
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